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CORPORATE INFORMATION
RAEH
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
RAEH
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04 KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

FY2020
. i —TNEF
BBEFE HREE
HK$'millionE&EBT  HKS'milionE &% 7T
Revenue EER 17,301.2 18,384.0 -6%
EBITDA* KRBRFIE ~ BiE ~
?ﬁﬁ&ﬁ%g‘f;ﬁﬂ* 4,307.3 4,142.8 +4%
Profit before tax* R AT R 3,635.8 3,408.2 +7%
Net profit attributable to P NETESZ S DNy ]
owners of the Company
— Underlying net profit* — EARGH 2,776.0 2,493.3 +11%
— Reported net profit —BRmEARF 2,802.9 2,402.2 +17%
Earnings per share BREF
- Based on underlying net profit* — AR RGO R 5T &> HK89.8 centsi# HK80.9 centsj#ll] +11%
— Based on reported net profit — ABRmA At E HK90.6 cents &1l HK78.0 cents/& (Il +16%
Full-year dividend per share EREERE HK250.0 centsj&1|l HK80.0 centsi Il +213%
— Interim dividend per share — FRRP AR A HK10.0 centsi# 1l HK10.0 cents;& Al -
— Special interim dividend per share  — &% Rl HINLE HK190.0 centsi#fl - NATEHA
- Proposed final dividend per share  — &SRR ENR 2 HK35.0 cents& 1l HK30.0 cents;& 1l +17%
- Proposed special final dividend — B ERS IR R HK15.0 centsi& 1l HK40.0 cents/ & -63%
per share
Net asset value per share BREERE HK$4.597% Jt HK$6.07%& 7T -24%
Net cash 3,756.1 Net gearing 0%
FIR£3,756.1 FRELE%
*Excluding: AEIE
FY2020: Loss on fair value changes of investment properties of HK$0.7 million and gain on —TEoRF REYENTEZFzEBECTESTLE
disposal of a subsidiary with amount of HK$27.6 million FHREE: S HMBRARNKSEA=-TLtEATES
T o
FY2019: Gain on fair value changes of investment properties of HK$5.6 million and share- —E-NE RAMEQAFEEHWEAEANTEET
based payments of HK$96.6 million. FREE : RUBROEANZFATAESTEST -
Non-GAAP financial measures adopted for illustrating the changes and effect resulting from REGE— R ARG HER S BIEIZE NS REE BB AME
operation of business activities only ERE MR E
ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Revenue
R
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06 KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHE

Turnover breakdown by products fE [ & £ 585 4

FY2020 FY2019
—E-EFEMBEE ZE-NFHHFE

. Glass Epoxy Laminates . Paper Laminates Upstream Materials . Properties . Investments . Others
REAKBEEBRER HEREIR st i E ®E Hith

BUSINESS REVIEW ¥ 3 (5]

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | am pleased to report to AANEREREE=S([EEL])  MARSAEK

our shareholders the results of Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited and its B BEEEBRIERERATLRENEBA

subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2020. ([ ARER B E-_ZE-_FF+-_A=+—H
IEIBFER 2 2 EEE -

2020 was a challenge-ridden year with the spread of the coronavirus —E_TEFERHANEN—F  ERSEE
pandemic, putting downward pressure on the global economy. In spite of NEL 2K EEE TR - BERE
the unfavourable macro-environment, the electronics industry performed REATH  BRETFTERRDAZY - B
well. Aided by increased remote work and time spent staying at home, the KHAREBEELSENRERN  BREME
demands for computers and new home electronic appliances flourished. BRERZE  EXEDA L - BENRMER

Popular products in the past like cars and phones also saw their demands WEERFHE > ERIFN TEEREFS -
back on the growth track in the second half of the year. The electronics BEFEEFURS TR BEE S ME R K [E
industry is rebounding at a pace ahead of the world economy. Ffo

I ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®RE

BUSI N ESS REVI EW (continued)

During the first half of the year under review, the Laminates Division stayed
focused on resumption of work and manufacturing activities, in a bid to
minimise the impacts of the pandemic on production. The second half
witnessed the Group capturing the opportunities of the recovering domestic
economy and resurgent consumption. Based on its advantage of a vertically
integrated supply chain, the Group, on the one hand, rapidly enhanced the
utilisation of its production capacity, and, on the other, steadily adjusted
product prices upward. These simultaneous actions brought remarkable
outcomes. Laminates monthly shipments marked a new all-time high, while
this business segment’s profitability was also on track for strong growth.
However, as the Group’s Property Division was mainly engaged in the
sales of remaining units, its turnover was lower compared to that of 2019,
resulting in a 6% decrease in the Group’s full-year turnover to HK$17,301.2
million. Increases in product prices starting from the second half, coupled
with cost control efforts, helped drive a surge in profit margins. Growth in
the Laminates Division’s profit contribution more than offset the drop in the
property business. Therefore, the Group’s underlying net profit soared 11%
to HK$2,776.0 million. In view of the Group’s sturdy and healthy financial
situation, the Board has proposed a final dividend of HK35 cents per share
with a special final dividend of HK15 cents per share, subject to Shareholders’
approval.

PERFORMANCE

During the period under review, the Laminates Division held tight to
the pulse of market demand, in order to strengthen its penetration into
existing customers and to expand into new market areas. It also sought to
expand market share for advanced and high-value-adding products such
as thin laminates and their high-frequency, high-speed and halogen-free
counterparts. The Group accomplished a desirable increase in output volume,
which stood at an average of 11.5 million square meters per month over
the entire year. Owing to a surge in demand in the second half for upstream
materials like copper foil, epoxy resin, glass yarn and glass fabric, shortages
of supply were witnessed to varying degrees. Increases in material prices
drove up those of laminates. In command of a vertically integrated supply
chain, the Group was self-sufficient in all upstream materials, thereby fully
enjoying the benefits of price rises in upstream materials and laminates. Price
increases, along with cost control, helped bring a surge in the Group’s profit
margins. Revenue of the Laminates Division was up by 1% to HK$16,367.8
million, with earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation
(“EBITDA") also increasing 43% to HK$3,869.6 million.

The Property Division recorded partial recognition of sales of the Huagiao
Kingboard Yu Garden Phases 4 and 5 in Eastern China. Segment revenue
amounted to HK$796.2 million, a decline of 53%. EBITDA went down by
60% to HK$371.8 million.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®mE

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group’s integrated financial and liquidity conditions remained robust.
As at 31 December 2020, net current assets and current ratio were
approximately HK$6,278.5 million (31 December 2019: HK$9,386.0 million)
and 1.54 (31 December 2019: 2.76) respectively.

The net working capital cycle increased to 107 days as at 31 December 2020
from 88 days as at 31 December 2019, on the following key metrics:

- Inventories, in terms of stock turnover days, was 50 days (31
December 2019: 48 days).

- Trade receivables, including amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, in
terms of debtors turnover days, was 97 days (31 December 2019: 80
days).

- Trade and bills payable (excluding bills payable to property, plant and
equipment), including amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, in terms of
creditors turnover days, was 40 days (31 December 2019: 40 days).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group possessed net cash (bank balances
and cash net of bank borrowings) of HK$3,756.1 million (31 December 2019:
Net gearing ratio (bank borrowing net of bank balances and cash divided by
total equity): 0%). In 2020, the Group invested HK$1,126 million in acquiring
new production facilities and HK$132 million in its property business. Backed
by a highly experienced professional management team, a sound business
foundation and financial strength, the management is confident that these
investments will deliver stable and satisfactory returns to Shareholders over
the long term. The ratio of borrowings between short term and long term
stood at 80%:20% (31 December 2019: 44%:56%). The Group possesses
sufficient financial resources to meet its requirements for future market
developments.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®RE

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

(continued)

The Group continued to adopt a prudent financial management policy. The
Group did not enter into any material types of derivative financial instrument,
nor did it have any material foreign exchange exposure during the year. The
Group’s revenue, mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars, RMB and US
dollars, was fairly matched with the currency requirements of its operating
expenses.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group maintained a workforce of approximately
9,500 (31 December 2019: 10,200). In addition to offering competitive
salary packages, the Group grants eligible employees share options and
discretionary bonuses based on the Group’s overall financial achievements
and individual employee performance.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@) The Group provided guarantees with maximum exposure amounting
to approximately HK$153,374,000 (2019: HK$127,150,000) as at
31 December 2020 in respect of bank mortgage loans granted to
purchasers of the Group’s properties. In the opinion of the Directors,
the fair values of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group are
insignificant at initial recognition and the Directors consider that the
possibility of default of the parties involved is remote, accordingly, no
value has been recognised at the inception of the guarantee contracts
and at the end of the reporting period as at 31 December 2020 and
2019.

Guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured by
the purchasers of the Group’s properties. Such guarantees will be
released by banks upon delivery of the properties to the purchasers
and completion of the registration of the relevant mortgaged
properties.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®mE

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continueq)

(b)

On 3 August 2011, Annuity & Re Life Ltd (the “Petitioner”), the non-
controlling shareholder of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited
(“KBCF”), presented a petition in the Supreme Court of Bermuda
(the “Petition”) in respect of KBCF against its controlling shareholders
based on a complaint that the affairs of KBCF had been and/or
were being conducted in a manner which was oppressive or unfairly
prejudicial to the Petitioner.

The controlling shareholders of KBCF were eventually successful in
defending the case following a favourable judgement by the Bermuda
Court of Appeal dated 24 March 2017. Subsequently, the Petitioner
filed an appeal with the Privy Council. Such appeal was withdrawn
by the Petitioner following a settlement agreement reached by the
Petitioner and the respondents in the Petition.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the controlling
shareholders of KBCF had purchased all of the remaining issued and
outstanding ordinary shares in the capital of KBCF and KBCF has
become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

On 1 November 2018, the Petitioner commenced an action in the
Supreme Court of Bermuda under Civil Jurisdiction 2018: No.359
against the respondents in the Petition based on purported breach of
the settlement agreement (the “Settlement Action”).

On 22 October 2020, the Group filed in an application for striking out
part of the Petitioner’s claim under the Settlement Action (the “Strike-
Out Application”). The Strike Out Application is currently listed to be
heard on 28 April 2021.

Based on the advice of the Company’s Bermuda Counsel to date,
the board is of the opinion that the Settlement Action appears to be
intrinsically defective and that the Company should have a more than
reasonable chance to succeed. Accordingly, no provision for liability
has been made in connection with this claim.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®RE

PROSPECTS

We teem with confidence in the Group’s development in 2021. In the first
quarter of 2021, the Group continued its strong performance at the end of
last year. According to preliminary unaudited operating data, the Group’s
turnover in the first two months increased significantly compared with the
same period last year, and its profit was several times that of the same period
last year. The management expects that the business growth momentum will
remain strong throughout the year. Moving into 2021, the electronics industry
will continue to prosper, with pent-up demand in overseas markets beginning
to be unleashed. Supply will grow increasingly tense within the laminates
sector, rendering the competitive edge of the Group’s vertically integrated
supply chain more pronounced. Laminates orders currently carry powerful
momentum from the second half of 2020. The Group’s facilities have been
operating at full capacity to meet the market demand. As the Group continues
to maintain reliable quality and delivery, it will be able to win more customers
while enjoying pricing power for its laminates products.

As 5G is introduced into the commercial arena, along with upgrades in
the smart operation of cars, and the return of renewal demand for home
appliances, the laminates industry will enter a new growth cycle. Against the
background of a demand upswing, the Group also plans to go into a new
development stage where both production capacity and functionality are
emphasized. With regard to the former, 800,000 sheets of monthly laminates
capacity will be added to facilities in Shaoguan City, Guangdong Province.
New facilities will be established in Lianzhou City and Fogang County,
Guangdong Province, to add a monthly capacity of 350 tonnes of copper
foil to the current output. The Group will also expedite the construction of
new plants for glass yarn and glass fabric, with the objective of launching
trial production within this year. In terms of product quality, the marketing,
production and research and development teams will work closely to
accelerate upgrades of products like thin laminates and high-frequency, high-
speed and halogen-free offerings. The Group also joins hands with customers
to broaden the accreditations of high-end products. The demonstration of
technology-driven momentum will help realise cost reduction and efficiency
enhancement, paving the way for long-term sustainable growth.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | wish to take this opportunity to extend my sincere
gratitude for the unreserved support from all Shareholders, customers, banks,
the management and staff members over the previous year.

Cheung Kwok Wa
Chairman
Hong kong, 22 March 2021
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

EERGREEAEBZERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Wa, aged 57, is an executive Director and the Chairman
of the Company. He is a brother of Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping, both being executive Directors and an uncle of Mr. Cheung Ka
Ho, an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined Kingboard Holdings Limited
(“KHL”) in 1988 and has over 32 years experience in the marketing of a
wide range of industrial products. He is responsible for the overall strategic
planning of the Group and sets the general direction and goals for the Group.
Mr. Cheung was appointed as an executive Director in July 20086.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Keung, aged 68, is an executive Director and the
Managing Director of the Company. He is a brother of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa
and Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, both being executive Directors, and an uncle of
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho, an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined KHL in 1991
and has over 29 years experience in the laminate industry. He is responsible
for the overall implementation of the strategic plans and goals of the Group.
Mr. Cheung was appointed as an executive Director in July 2006.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ping, aged 60, is an executive Director. He is a brother
of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa and Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, and an uncle of Mr.
Cheung Ka Ho, each being an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined KHL in
1988 and has over 32 years experience in marketing. He is mainly responsible
for the Group’s marketing operations and is also the general manager of the
paper laminate factories in Fogang and Shaoguan, the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”). Mr. Cheung is also an executive director of Kingboard
Copper Foil Holdings Limited (“KBCF”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, whose shares were listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (“SGX”) and had been delisted from SGX on 10 June 2019.
Mr. Cheung was appointed as an executive Director in May 2006.

Mr. LAM Ka Po, aged 64, is an executive Director. Mr. Lam is a co-founder
of KHL and has over 32 years experience in the sales and distribution of
laminates. Mr. Lam is also the chairman and executive director of KBCF. He
was appointed as an executive Director in November 2006.

Mr. CHEUNG Ka Ho, aged 37, is an executive Director. Mr. Cheung is the
nephew of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping, all being executive Directors. Mr. Cheung joined KHL in 2004
and is involved in the laminate marketing operations for the southern region
of China and also the general manager of glass epoxy laminate factory in
Thailand. He was appointed as an executive Director in July 2006.

Mr. ZHOU Pei Feng, aged 52, is an executive Director. He joined KHL in
1999 and is the general manager of four glass epoxy laminate facilities in
Shenzhen, Fogang, Jiangmen and Jiangyin, the PRC. Mr. Zhou holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Mechanical Engineering from the Chongaging University
and a Master’s Degree in Material Processing Engineering from Jilin Industrial
University (now known as Jilin University). He was appointed as an executive
Director in November 2006.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LO Ka Leong, aged 47, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Lo is also a
member of the audit committee of the Company. He holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Professional Accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong and is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Lo joined KHL in May 1999 and is in charge of KHL’s
company secretarial work. Prior to joining KHL, he was an accountant at
an international accounting firm. Mr. Lo was appointed as a non-executive
Director in July 2006.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. LEUNG Tai Chiu, aged 74, joined as an independent non-executive
Director in November 2006. Mr. Leung is also the chairman of the audit
committee of the Company, and a member of the remuneration committee
and nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Leung graduated from The
University of Hong Kong in 1969. He is a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. He has broad experience in accounting
and auditing matters, having worked in the auditing profession for over 30
years, 20 years of which he served as a partner. Mr. Leung retired from
PricewaterhouseCoopers in 2005. Mr. Leung was the President of Lions
Club of Victoria in 1986 and 1998 and a director of Yan Oi Tong from 1995
to 1997. He is a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. He is also
an independent non-executive director of G-Vision International (Holdings)
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). He also served as an independent non-
executive Director of the companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, namely Eva Precision Industrial Holdings Limited up to 1 July 2020
and KHL up to 31 October 2020.

Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP, aged 69, joined as an independent
non-executive Director in May 2011. Mr. Ip is also the chairman of the
remuneration committee of the Company, and a member of the audit
committee and nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Ip is responsible
for providing independent opinion and judgment to our Board.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DI RECTO RS (continued)

Mr. Ip is currently serving as independent non-executive director of six other
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, namely China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited (stock code: 1313) since August 2008,
Lai Sun Development Company Limited (stock code: 488) since December
2009, Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited (stock code: 590) since
October 2011, Nameson Holdings Limited (stock code: 1982) since April
2018, Million Cities Holdings Limited (stock code: 2892) since June 2018
and C-MER Eye Care Holdings Limited (stock code: 3309) since November
2020. Mr. Ip also served as independent non-executive director of Synergis
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2340) from September 2008 to December
2017. From November 1973 to July 2007, Mr. Ip held various positions in
The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, such
as Commissioner of Insurance, Commissioner for Labour, Secretary for
Economic Services and Secretary for Financial Services and Secretary for
Economic Development and Labour.

Mr. Ip graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree
in social sciences in September 1973, and he subsequently completed
the program for management development at Harvard University Graduate
School of Business Administration in November 1986.

Mr. Ip received the Gold Bauhinia Star award from The Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2001 and he was appointed as
an unofficial Justice of the Peace in July 2007.

Mr. ZHANG Lu Fu, aged 64, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in January 2015. Mr. Zhang is also a member of the nomination
committee, audit committee and remuneration committee of the Company.
He has had the experience of working for the Chinese government since
1987 including the Xin Hua News Agency branch in Hong Kong (Liaison
Office of the Central People’s Government in Hong Kong). Since 2000,
Mr. Zhang has worked for a number of Hong Kong listed companies and
charitable organisations on either full-time or part-time basis in the capacity
such as chief representative of Chinese affairs, Chinese affairs consultant,
chief secretary for Chinese affairs and chief executive.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DI RECTO RS (continued)

Mr. Zhang has been the director-general of the Friends of Hong Kong
Association and a member of the 4th Shenzhen Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference since 2008; he has been serving
as the council member of the China Overseas Friendship Association
since 2013 and the executive director of Guangdong Overseas Friendship
Association since 2015 as well as the council member of the Shenzhen
Overseas Friendship Association since 2017. Mr. Zhang holds a Master
degree in Philosophy from the Beijing Normal University and is a research
associate thereat. In 2011, Mr. Zhang was employed by the Hong Kong
Academy of Management and the Hong Kong Financial Services Institute as
a professor on a part-time basis. He has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Sino Biopharmaceutical Limited since April 2015, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He also served as
an independent non-executive director of CT Environmental Group Limited up
to August 2020, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. LAU Ping Cheung, Kaizer, aged 69, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in August 2015. Mr. Lau is also the chairman of
the nomination committee of the Company, and a member of the audit
committee and remuneration committee of the Company. He is a chartered
surveyor and has substantial experience and involvements in construction,
real estate and infrastructure projects both in Hong Kong and the Mainland of
China. Currently, Mr. Lau is the Managing director of Biel Asset Management
Co., Ltd., an independent non-executive director of SEM Holdings Limited
and China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Ltd.. He is one of the Founders
of Hong Kong Coalition of Professional Services and has been the Chairman
since June 2012. Mr. Lau is also a member of the Basic Law Promotion
Steering Committee, and the Vice-Chairman of the Vetting Committee of the
Professional Services Advancement Support Scheme. He is also a member
of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, and a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors. Mr. Lau
is a former president of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors, a former
chairman of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (HK Branch), and
a former member of the HKSAR Legislative Council. He is also a former
non-executive director of the Urban Renewal Authority, a former member
of the Council of the City University of Hong Kong and of the Council of
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University, a former member of the defunct
Economic Development Commission, a former member of the Lantau
Development Advisory Committee, and the Long Term Housing Strategy
Steering Committee and a former member of the Chinese People’s Palitical
Consultative Conference of Shanghai. Mr. Lau holds a higher Diploma in
Quantity Surveying from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University) and a Master degree in Construction
Project Management from The University of Hong Kong.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHANG Guo Qiang, aged 53, joined KHL in 2002 and is the general
manager of the glass fabric factories in Qingyuan and Lianzhou, the PRC. Mr.
Chang graduated from Hunan Chang Sha University with a Bachelor’s Degree
in Textiles. Prior to joining KHL, he had over 14 years’ experience in the glass
fabric industry.

Mr. LAM Ting Hin, aged 33, the Company Secretary, joined the Group in
October 2015. Mr. Lam is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He holds a Bachelor of Business Administration in
Accountancy from City University of Hong Kong. He is responsible for the
company secretarial work and financial management of the Group. He has
over 10 years of work experience primarily on accounting, auditing, finance
and financial reporting, including working at professional advisory firms.
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The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are pleased to present their report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 can
be found in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report,
which forms part of this Directors’ Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group is exposed to various risks and uncertainties which are specific to
the Group and/or the industries in which the Group operates. These risks may
materially affect the Group’s business operations, financial condition, results
of operations and business prospects. The Group has identified the key risks
and uncertainties as follows:

Operating at close to full capacity

The Group is operating at close to full capacity in its existing glass epoxy
laminates production plants. Accordingly, the Group’s ability to grow its
business is dependent upon it acquiring additional production capacity
through either the expansion of its existing plants or the building or acquisition
of additional plants. There can be no assurance that the Group will be able
to achieve its planned increases in production capacity in the near future or
at all. Failure to achieve this expansion in production capacity would limit the
Group’s ability to remain competitive and to maximise business opportunities
which may in turn have a material adverse effect on the financial condition,
results of operations and business prospects of the Group.
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BUSI N ESS REVI EW (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Future expansion plans require additional funding and management
resources

The Group’s ability to obtain financing for its expansion plan will depend on
its financial condition, as well as on other factors that may be outside the
control of the Group, such as general market conditions and the political and
economic conditions. No assurance can be given that adequate funds will
be obtainable on acceptable terms, or at all. If capital cannot be obtained,
the Group may be forced to curtail its expansion plans, which could result in
an inability to successfully implement its business strategy and may have a
material adverse effect on the financial condition, results of operations and
business prospects of the Group.

Furthermore, the management may face challenges resulting from the
expansion plan of the Group, including but not limited to, upgrading or
expanding existing facilities and training personnel to manage and operate
those facilities. Such challenges could hinder the Group’s expansion plans
which may in turn have a material adverse effect on the financial condition,
results of operations and business prospects of the Group.

Intense competition in the industry

The business segments in which the Group operates are highly competitive.
No assurance can be given that the Group will be able to compete
successfully against its current competitors or emerging companies in
the future. If the Group fails to compete effectively, the Group’s results of
operations, financial condition and business prospects may be materially and
adversely affected.

Recent global market fluctuations and economic conditions

The recent global market fluctuations and economic conditions have
adversely affected economies and businesses around the world. A slowdown
in the global economy, in particular, the PRC economy, and the impact of
COVID-19 could lead to a reduction in demand for the Group’s products and
may materially and adversely affect its business operations, financial condition
and results of operations.

The risks and uncertainties stated above are not meant to be exhaustive.
There may be other risks or uncertainties that are not known to the Group or
which may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.
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BUSI N ESS REVI EW (continued)

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to achieving environmental sustainability. The Group
endeavours to comply with the relevant laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use
of resources, waste reduction and energy saving. For instance, the in-house
manufacturing facilities of the Group operate in compliance with the relevant
environmental rules and regulations. The Group reviews its environmental
policies on a regular basis.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 and the ESG Reporting Guide contained in
Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules, the Company’s Environmental, Social and
Governance Report will be available on our website within three months from
the publication of this annual report.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group and its business operations are subject to various laws, rules and
regulations. The Company seeks to ensure adherence to such laws, rules
and regulations through various measures such as internal controls, approval
procedures, staff trainings and oversight of business operations at different
levels of the Group. The Board of Directors (“Board”) also monitors the
Group’s policies and practices on compliance with relevant laws, rules and
regulations on a regular basis.

So far as the Directors and senior management are aware, for the year
ended 31 December 2020, the Group has obtained the approvals, permits,
consents, licences and registrations required for its business and operations,
and there was no material breach of the relevant laws and regulations by our
Group that has a significant impact on the Group.

Key Relationships with Stakeholders

The Company understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship
with its employees, customers and suppliers in order to operate in a
sustainable manner and to meet its immediate and long-term goals.

The Company strongly believes that employees are its most important
and valuable assets. In order to recognise the performance of and provide
incentives for its employees, the Group reviews its policies on remuneration
and benefits for its employees regularly to ensure that they are in line with
the market standard. To maintain a close relationship with its employees, the
Group organises various activities for its staff to participate.

The Company maintains sound relationships with its customers and suppliers
which enable the Group to foster long-term business benefits. The Directors
and senior management of the Company endeavours to exchange business
ideas and updates of the Group with its customers and suppliers from time to
time. To maintain its competitiveness, the Group aims to deliver high quality
products and services to its customers.

During the year, there was no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its employees, customers or suppliers.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 66.

An interim dividend of HK10.0 cents and special interim dividend of HK190.0
cents per share was declared to the Shareholders during the year. The
Directors now recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK35.0 cents
per share and a special final dividend of HK15.0 cents per share to the
Shareholders on the register of members of the Company on 1 June 2021
and the retention of the remaining profit in the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has a dividend policy, the objective of which is to allow
the Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst retaining
adequate reserves to sustain the Group’s future growth. The declaration,
form, frequency and amount of dividend paid by the Company must be in
accordance with relevant laws and regulations and subject to the articles of
association of the Company. In deciding whether to declare any dividend,
the Board will take into account a number of factors, including the financial
results, the distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements,
and the current and future development plans of the Company. The Board
will review the dividend policy of the Company as appropriate from time to
time.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the year in the issued share capital of the
Company are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

During the year, there was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries of their listed securities on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

I ANNUAL REPORT 2020

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

EERDIK

AEBHE-_Z-_TF+_A=+—RHIFE
CEBEHNFCH ZGRAIBERA -

FA - ARFDEIRFT RS EZR10.0/E K
FrBllrh BARR S A 190.08 (L TR - EFIREE
HAR—FE-_—FANA—BBIARRBRERS
2 B SR IR A R EIBR B 8 A 35.08 (1L K K Bl R
HIRR B B 15.08 L - LR FEREEFRNA

AR

R BB

ARRIMEEBRZ BIERERRDZEF -
R RE EHNHEEEFASERRER - K
REWBERER  ER - AR NESREVANE
BEERER - RETARAREBEEMEA -
EXERAEARAERBERREE  EEZERA
= BRMBESE  JHOIKER - 2ERR
PESFTFRARAEEEN L BENER
g - AEFER  EF2THRIARRNHRK
BBUER °

SN

RABBEBITRARFEANZ ZEFBHNGE
BT ER T T 5E209 o

BE - HEIEERAD

FRN - ARRRENE R R ENET B
BRZMERABBE - HELBERE ETE



21

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEWRE

RESERVES

Details of the movements during the year in the reserves of the Group are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 70 to 72.

In addition to the retained profits of the Company, the share premium
and special reserve of the Company are also available for distribution to
Shareholders provided that the Company will be able to pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business immediately following the date on
which any such distribution is proposed to be paid.

As at 31 December 2020, the sum of the retained profits, the share premium
and the special reserve of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$8,253,334,000 (2019: HK$7,627,080,000).

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
Shareholders by reason of their holding of Company’s shares.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties were revalued as at 31 December 2020,
resulting in a decrease in fair value of HK$742,000 (2019: increase in fair
value of HK$5,600,000) which has been debited (2019: credited) directly to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

INVESTMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has in aggregate
approximately HK$1,625.5 million (2019: HK$4,739.3 million) investments in
securities instruments, representing approximately 6% (2019: approximately
18%) of the total asset of the Group as at 31 December 2020, which consist
of mostly securities listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and bonds issued by companies also
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Company acquired
its investments through market purchase. The Group will from time to
time monitor the price movement of prices in securities and may adjust its
investment portfolio as and when appropriate.
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I NVESTM ENTS (continued)

The following table sets out the important investments held by the Group
as at 31 December 2020. None of the value of the following or any other
securities investments of the Company was on standalone or aggregate basis
5% or more of the total assets of the Company as of the end of the reporting
period.

% of
bonds held

Number of

Name of investments bonds held

2
E58E
‘000
T

P
F5EAM

Bonds fsted on Singapore Exchange Securties Tradng 2R EARARAT (HBRH 7

Investment 31 December

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

BE =)

TREEARER_T_TF+_A=1—~8
REZEERE - %ziiﬁiﬁ;ﬁﬂi RRBAT
HEMEBEFRENBEIREFLATA
KRR EEERSBIIAL ©

Fair value
asat % to the
Group's

total assets

Bond
interest for
the year

Unrealised
gain/
(loss)

Gain/(loss)
2020 on disposal
N=B22F
1R
=t-A
A¥E
HK§000
TAL

cost

s L
HEEADN

AEE
S
HK$000

Fin

tEhE/ FERRE/

REAA
HK$ 000
ThL

(58) (58)

Limited (*SGX') by Gountry Garden Holdings Limited

RINRE - 007N F R0

(HK stock code: 2007) RRAA(HRA)) L2 B5
() fixed coupon interest 7.125% per annum and (| BEEEVIBEZEFEZS:

maturty date in January 2022 HERE-5-—%-7 20,500 4.8% 159,431 168,951 0.6% 18,458 46,659 9,520

Bonds lsted on SGX by Guangzhou R&F Properties B A ERIV AR AFI B
Co., Lid. [HK stock code: 2777 L RORE - 2777 )i
Ligfs:

() fixed coupon interest 5.875% per annum and (| BEEESSTEZERES:

maturity date in February 2023 HHHA-E-=5C7 32,000 6.4% 244,340 220,032 0.8% 14372 (30,520) (24,308)
(il fxed coupon interest 8.875% per annum and ) BEFE88TELERRS

maturtty date in September 2021 HERE-E AR 18,500 93% 1422 148740 0.6% 11,482 16,583 4,508

Save as the investments as set out in the table above, the Group did not hold bR ERMEMIZEN  BEZ 5@¢+ H

any significant investments in the securities of other companies during the
year ended 31 December 2020.

Country Garden Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 2007) (“CGH”)
and Guangzhou R&F Properties Co., Ltd. (stock code: 2777) (“GRFP”) are
principally engaged in the properties sector.

Based on the announcements of CGH dated 20 September 2018, the senior
notes (“CGH January 2022 Senior Notes”) were issued by CGH in September
2018, and due in January 2022. The CGH January 2022 Senior Notes are
listed on the SGX and carries an interest of 7.125% per annum and interests
are payable semi-annually. The proceeds from the CGH January 2022 Senior
Notes were intended to be used for refinancing CGH'’s existing offshore
indebtedness.
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| NVESTM ENTS (continued)

According to the announcement of annual results for the year ended 31
December 2020 of CGH, as at 31 December 2020, its group’s net gearing
ratio increased from 46.3% that as at 31 December 2019 to 55.6%.

Based on the announcements of Guangzhou R&F Properties Co., Ltd. (stock
code: 2777) (“GRFP”) dated 13 November 2017 and 19 September 2018:
(i) the senior notes (“GRFP February 2023 Senior Notes”) were issued by
GRFP in November 2017, and due in February 2023. The GRFP February
2023 Senior Notes are listed on SGX and carries an interest of 5.875% per
annum and interests are payable semi-annually. The proceeds from the
GRFP February 2023 Senior Notes was intended to be used to refinance
debt and for general corporate purposes of GRFP; and (ii) the senior notes
due September 2021 (“GRFP September 2021 Senior Notes”) were issued
by GRFP in September 2018, and due in September 2021. The GRFP
September 2021 Senior Notes is listed on the SGX and carries an interest
of 8.875% per annum and interests are payable semi-annually. The net
proceeds from GRFP September 2021 Senior Notes was mainly for offshore
refinancing.

According to the announcement of annual result for the year ended 31
December 2020 of GRFP, the net debt to total equity ratio of GRFP
decreased to 130% at 31 December 2020 from 199% at 31 December 2019.

For further information of the business and financial performance of the
above companies, please refer to the report and announcements referred
in the above paragraphs. Please also refer to the respective publications of
the above companies from time to time for updates on their prospects and
performances. The report and announcements referred above do not form
part of this annual report and do not constitute any publication issued by, or
any opinion, advice or view of, the Company or any of the Directors.

The Group’s Investment Strategy for These Investments
By leveraging our experience in sales and rental properties, our major
investments in securities instruments have focused mainly on the securities
instruments of issuers engaging in the properties sector. Our investment
objective is to generate stable additional interest income for the Group.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Expenditure of HK$1,126,329,000 was incurred during the year primarily to
expand the production capacity of the Group. Details of all the changes in
property, plant and equipment during the year are set out in Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020 are
set out in Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping

Mr. Lam Ka Po

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho

Mr. Zhou Pei Feng

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Lo Ka Leong

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Leung Tai Chiu

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen

Mr. Zhang Lu Fu

Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer

In accordance with Article 130 of the Company’s articles of association, Mr.
Cheung Kwok Keung, Mr. Zhou Pei Feng, being executive Directors, and
Mr. Lo Ka Leong, being non-executive director and Mr. Zhang Lu Fu, being
independent non-executive Directors, will retire from directorship by rotation
and will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

Biographical details of the above Directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies”.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company has a service contract which is not terminable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES EEZROES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests of the Directors (including the RIZE-_EF+-_A=+—H 22 (8FEELRQ
Managing Director of the Company) and their associates in the shares, AINE RSB ) MBEEZ2HEAREKARI A
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and their associated LB (EERBEALBEEMNN([EA KRS
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures &40 1) EEXVER) Z %D ~ MR D EEHET - %
Ordinance (“SFO”)), as recorded in the register maintained by the Company BEARRDNBIRIBEZESRAEEIEIIGEEFEE &
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company AT s 2 A - HIRIE ET BT AER#

and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities IBEZTHNEETFUE N RN T REEZ AT

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows: IR

Long position RE

(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company (“Shares”) (a) AATEREEOIOGE T ZEER (KR
% 1)

Approximate
percentage of

Number of the issued
issued shares share capital
Name of Director Capacity held of the Company
HARATE BT
EEpE Rty e RITROHE REZBHBED
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa' Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 9,517,000 0.3050%
SREIEE SR A EnA A TEER
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho Beneficial owner 2,002,000 0.0642%
RRFRE Xt/ =N
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner 3,052,000 0.0978%
SRENGR e Xt/ =N
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.0962%
SRET S Xt/ Z=PN
Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner 3,303,000 0.1059%
MERERLE Xt/ =N
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu Beneficial owner 310,000 0.0099%
REBREE Xt/ Z=PUN
Mr. Lo Ka Leong Beneficial owner 70,000 0.0022%
BER=EE EmEAA
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen Beneficial owner 550,000 0.0176%
9 pep el Xt/ =N
Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer ~ Beneficial owner 550,000 0.0176%
ZIMERE Xt/ Z=PUN
Note: B e -

1

75,000 shares were held by his spouse.

1 75,0008 f& {5 B BB 5 o
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continued)

Long position (continued)
(b) Non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each of Kingboard
Laminates Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

Name of Director Capacity

Rt E

ESHR

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner

SREIEE BEmEEA
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner
SR 58 55 A4 EniBA
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner
SREIT S BEREAA
Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner
MERERLE BEmEAA

Note:  None of the non-voting deferred shares of Kingboard Laminates Limited is
held by the Group. Such deferred shares carry no rights to receive notice
of or to attend or vote at any general meeting of Kingboard Laminates
Limited and have practically no rights to dividends or to participate in any
distribution on winding up.

(c) Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of Kingboard Holdings
Limited (“KHL”), the ultimate holding company of the Company

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

EECRDER

REW®)

(b) FRFREHEFZHELFRBERER
FRARBREAEIETZERERE
R

Number of non-voting
deferred shares held
FEEREREERAEHE
(Note)

(Bft=E)

1,058,000

529,000

952,200

581,900

Rt

AEEMESFEERERARARZ
BREEELERD - ZFRERMN I E
B A U BGER B R AR A PR A RIE I A
RREBEXHERRAG NG L
RZHEM - TRA WER B B R
EREMD IR EERET -

() ARABRKERQAAZFEEREERLA
((ZEEH ) SREE010B T ZEE

&
Number Approximate
of issued percentage of the
ordinary issued share
Name of Director Capacity shares held capital of KHL
FriEE 847 HEEEEE BT
EEnE HEatE ZERROHE RAE 2N B
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa' Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 22,716,320 2.0543%
SR B EE S A EnEA AN TR
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping? Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 5,736,383 0.5188%
o B - e A2 EnlEAA Bk
Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner 2,500,000 0.2261%
MRE % Emfia A
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner 4,723,422 0.4272%
SREUR EmBEAA
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho Beneficial owner 384,000 0.0347%
RRETE E=maA
Notes: FfET -
1 74,400 KHL's shares were held by his spouse. 1 74,4000 EE R B ERBIEE ©
2 36,000 KHL’s shares were held by his spouse. 2 36,0000 HE () R A BBIEE ©
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continueq)

Long position (continued)

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors (including the Managing
Director of the Company) nor their respective associate, had any interests or
short position in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) as at 31 December 2020.

TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions” in this
report and in Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements, (a) there is no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisting during or at
the end of 31 December 2020 in which a Director or an entity connected with
a Director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly; (b) there
is no contract of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
and the controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries;
(c) there is no contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2020, the register of substantial shareholders maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, other than
the interests disclosed above in respect of certain Directors (including the
Managing Director of the Company), the following Shareholders had notified
the Company of their relevant interests in the issued share capital of the
Company.
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FERR @
RrE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continueq)

Long position

Approximate
percentage of the
issued share

Number of capital of
Name of shareholder Nature of interest share capital held the Company
FrFER&1T HAQTE BT
RERERE fERnE RBEE BRAEZBANBE DT
Hallgain Management Limited (@), (o) Interest of controlled 2,282,924,000 (L) 73.17%
(“Hallgain”) corporations
RmthEEER
KHL (c) Beneficial owner 97,000,000 (L) 3.11%
BEEE EmEB A
Interest of controlled 2,185,924,000 (L) 70.06%
corporations
R thEEER
Jamplan (BVI) Limited (“Jamplan”) (d) Beneficial owner 1,785,000,000 (L) 57.21%
EmEB A
Interest of controlled 400,924,000 (L) 12.85%
corporation
R thEEER
Capital Research and Management Investment manager 177,205,851 (L) 5.68%
Company HEEIE
L The letter “L” denotes a long position. (L) [LIFRERAE -
Notes: B EE -
(a) At 31 December 2020, (i) no shareholder of Hallgain was entitled to exercise, or @) RZZZTF+ZA=+—H  ()#EHallgain

control the exercise of, directly or indirectly, one-third or more of the voting power R AR Hallgain R A STk B R EE

at general meetings of Hallgain, and Hallgain and its directors are not accustomed
to acting in accordance with any shareholder’s direction; and (i) Messrs. Cheung
Kwok Wa, Cheung Kwok Ping and Lam Ka Po, all of whom are Directors, are also
Directors of Hallgain.

The interests are held by KHL directly and indirectly. KHL is owned as to
approximately 39.69% by Hallgain as at 31 December 2020.

The interests are held by Jamplan directly and indirectly. Jamplan is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of KHL. Mr. Lam Ka Po, being a Director, is also a director of Jamplan.

The interests are indirectly held by Jamplan through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Kingboard Investments Limited (“KIL”). Messrs. Cheung Kwok Wa and Cheung
Kwok Ping, being Directors, are also directors of KIL.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has adopted the principals of
good corporate governance and complied with the code provisions in the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the
“Code”) throughout the year ended 31 December 2020, save for the deviation
that the non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors are
not appointed for specific terms pursuant to paragraph A.4.1 of the Code. For
further information on the Group’s corporate governance practices during the
year, please refer to the Corporate Governance Report in this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the Group’s largest customer was KHL Group, being
subsidiaries of KHL other than the Company or its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “KHL Group”), and the percentage of sales attributable to
the KHL Group was approximately 16%. The Group’s third largest customer
was Hallgain and its subsidiaries (the “Hallgain Group”), and the percentage
of sales attributable to the Hallgain Group was 2%. The percentage of
sales attributable to the Group’s five largest customers combined was less
than 30% of the Group’s total revenue. During the year, the percentage of
purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier and the five largest
suppliers combined were 5% and 15%, respectively. The percentage of
purchases attributable to KHL, one of the Group’s five largest supplier was
5%.

As at 31 December 2020, KHL, a Shareholder holding more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital and Hallgain, a controlling Shareholder of KHL, had
beneficial interests in one of the Group’s five largest customers and one of the
Group’s five largest suppliers. Save as disclosed in this annual report, none
of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge
of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an
interest in the major customers or suppliers noted above.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In 2020, the Group had the following non-exempt continuing connected
transactions (which are also related party transactions) within the meaning of
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

(@

KLHL/Hallgain SFA

On 26 October 2016, the Company and Hallgain entered into a
supply framework agreement (the “KLHL/Hallgain SFA”) pursuant
to which the Group agreed to supply copper and laminates to the
Hallgain Group from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019. Under
the KLHL/Hallgain SFA, the amount of copper and laminates to be
supplied is not fixed but is to be determined and agreed between the
parties from time to time. The actual quantity, specification and price
(with reference to the prevailing market price) of the products under
the KLHL/Hallgain SFA will be subject to the individual orders placed
by the Hallgain Group with the Group.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain SFA
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that
Hallgain, through its interests in KHL, is a substantial shareholder of
the Company, and hence a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules.

On 25 October 2019, the Company and Hallgain entered into
a supply framework agreement (the “New KLHL/Hallgain SFA”)
pursuant to which the Group agreed to supply copper and laminates
to the Hallgain Group for a term of three years from 1 January 2020
to 31 December 2022. Under the New KLHL/Hallgain SFA, the
amount of copper and laminates to be supplied is not fixed but is to
be determined and agreed between the parties from time to time.
The actual quantity, specification and price (with reference to the
prevailing market price) of the products under the New KLHL/Hallgain
SFA will be subject to the individual orders placed by the Hallgain
Group with the Group. The proposed annual cap for the three years
ending 31 December 2022 are HK$568,000,000, HK$625,000,000
and HK$687,000,000, respectively. Please refer to the Company’s
joint announcement dated 25 October 2019 for further information.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

KLHL/Hallgain PFA

On 26 October 2016, the Company and Hallgain entered into a
purchase framework agreement (the “KLHL/Hallgain PFA”) pursuant
to which the Group agreed to purchase materials for production of
laminates such as drill bits and machineries from the Hallgain Group
from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019. Under the KLHL/
Hallgain PFA, the amount to be purchased is not fixed but is to be
determined and agreed between the parties from time to time. The
actual quantity, specification and price (with reference to the prevailing
market price) of the products under the KLHL/Hallgain PFA will be
subject to the individual orders placed by the Group with the Hallgain
Group.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain PFA
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that
Hallgain, through its interests in KHL, is a substantial Shareholder,
and hence a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

On 25 October 2019, the Company and Hallgain entered into a
purchase framework agreement (the “New KLHL/Hallgain PFA”)
pursuant to which the Group agreed to purchase materials for
production of laminates such as drill bits and machineries from
the Hallgain Group for a term of three years from 1 January 2020
to 31 December 2022. Under the New KLHL/Hallgain PFA, the
amount to be purchased is not fixed but is to be determined and
agreed between the parties from time to time. The actual quantity,
specification and price (with reference to the prevailing market price)
of the products under the New KLHL/Hallgain PFA will be subject to
the individual orders placed by the Group with the Hallgain Group.
The proposed annual cap for the three years ending 31 December
2022 are HK$345,000,000, HK$362,000,000 and HK$380,000,000,
respectively. Please refer to the Company’s joint announcement
dated 25 October 2019 for further information.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

KLHL/KHL MPA

On 26 October 2016, the Company and KHL entered into a materials
purchase framework agreement (the “KLHL/KHL MPA”) pursuant to
which the Group agreed to purchase chemicals including methanol,
formalin, phenol, acetone, phenol resin and caustic soda “Chemicals”
from the KHL Group from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019.
Under the KLHL/KHL MPA, the amount of Chemicals to be purchased
by the Group is not fixed but is to be determined and agreed between
the parties from time to time. The actual quantity, specification and
the price (with reference to prevailing market price) of the Chemicals
under the KLHL/KHL MPA will be subject to the individual orders
placed by Group with the KHL Group.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/KHL MPA constituted
continuing connected transactions for the Company pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that KHL is the ultimate
holding company of the Company and that KHL and members of
the KHL Group are accordingly connected persons of the Company
under the Listing Rules.

On 25 October 2019, the Company and KHL entered into a materials
purchase framework agreement (the “New KLHL/KHL MPA”)
pursuant to which the Group agreed to purchase Chemicals from
the KHL Group for a term of three years from 1 January 2020 to 31
December 2022. Under the New KLHL/KHL MPA, the amount of
Chemicals to be purchased by the Group are not fixed but are to be
determined and agreed between the parties from time to time. The
actual quantity, specification and the price (with reference to prevailing
market price) of the Chemicals under the New KLHL/KHL MPA will be
subject to the individual orders placed by Group with the KHL Group.
The proposed annual cap for the three years ending 31 December
2022 are HK$800,000,000, HK$880,000,000 and HK$968,000,000,
respectively. Please refer to the Company’s joint announcement
dated 25 October 2019 for further information.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued) BERXS

(d KLHL/KHL SSFA (d BEEER EEEEEERR

On 26 October 2016, the Company and KHL entered into a supply
and service framework agreement (the “KLHL/KHL SSFA”) pursuant
to which the Group agreed to supply laminates and related upstream
materials and to provide drilling services to the KHL Group from 1
January 2017 to 31 December 2019. Under the KLHL/KHL SSFA, the
amount of laminates and related upstream materials to be sold and
the drilling services to be provided by the Group are not fixed but are
to be determined and agreed between the parties from time to time.
The actual quantity, specification and price (with reference to the
prevailing market price) of laminates and related upstream materials
and the drilling services to be provided under the KLHL/KHL SSFA
will be subject to the individual orders placed by the KHL Group with
the Group.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/KHL SSFA
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that KHL
is the ultimate holding company of the Company and that KHL and
members of the KHL Group are accordingly connected persons of
the Company under the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(d) KLHL/KHL SSFA (continued)

On 25 October 2019, the Company and KHL entered into a supply
and service framework agreement (the “New KLHL/KHL SSFA”)
pursuant to which the Group agreed to supply laminates and related
upstream component materials and to provide drilling services to
the KHL Group for a term of three years from 1 January 2020 to
31 December 2022. Under the New KLHL/KHL SSFA, the amount
of laminates and related upstream component materials to be sold
and the drilling services to be provided by the Group are not fixed
but are to be determined and agreed between the parties from time
to time. The actual quantity, specification and price (with reference
to the prevailing market price) of laminates and related upstream
component materials and the drilling services to be provided under
the New KLHL/KHL SSFA will be subject to the individual orders
placed by the KHL Group with the Group. The proposed annual cap
for the three years ending 31 December 2022 are HK$2,753,000,000
HK$2,945,000,000 and HK$3,151,000,000, respectively. Please
refer to the Company’s joint announcement dated 25 October 2019
and the circular of the Company dated 21 November 2019 for further
information.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions were entered
into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, on normal
commercial terms and in accordance with the terms of the agreements
governing such transactions that were fair and reasonable and in the interest
of the Company and Shareholders as a whole.

The Company considers that Hallgain and KHL, owners of approximately
37% of issued shares of KHL as of the date of the abovementioned 2019
agreements and controlling shareholders of the Company, respectively, are
reliable business co-operation partners and such co-operations are beneficial
to the business of the Company and the Group as a whole. The Company
considers that the above continuing connected transactions facilitate its
business plan and will improve the competitiveness and the quality of the
laminates manufactured by the Company.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The annual caps and actual transaction amounts of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed above for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set

out in the table below.

The Group sold laminates and related upstream
materials and provided drilling services to the
KHL Group under the New KLHL/KHL SSFA

The Group purchased chemicals from
the KHL Group under the New KLHL/KHL MPA

The Group sold laminates and copper to
the Hallgain Group under
the New KLHL/Hallgain SFA

The Group purchased drill bits and machineries
from the Hallgain Group under
the New KLHL/Hallgain PFA

The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect
of transactions during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing
the auditor’s findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions for the year ended 31 December 2020 disclosed by the Group
on pages 30 to 35 of the annual report in accordance with Listing Rule
14A.38. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to
the Stock Exchange. The auditor has confirmed that nothing has come to its
attention that causes it to believe that the continuing connected transactions
entered into by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020:

(@) have not been approved by the Board;

(b) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group;

() were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing the transactions; and

(d) have exceeded the cap.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group does not have any plans for material investments and capital assets
as at the date of this report.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other material
acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries, associated companies or joint
ventures for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merits, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the Remuneration
Committee after consultation with the Chairman having regard to the relevant
Director’s experience, responsibility and the time devoted to the business of
the Group.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees. Details of the share option scheme are set
out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

The remunerations paid to the senior management (excluding the Directors)
during the year ended 31 December 2020 were within the following bands:
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Total: A=t

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The new share option scheme of the Company (the “2017 KLHL Scheme”)
was approved by the Shareholders and the shareholders of KHL on 29 May
2017 and the 2017 KLHL Scheme took effect upon obtaining approval from
the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange on 2 November 2017. The
2007 Share Option Scheme expired at its end of the term of the scheme
on 5 July 2017 prior to the 2017 KLHL Scheme becoming effective. The
purpose of the 2017 KLHL Scheme was to provide incentive or reward to the
eligible participants of the 2017 KLHL Scheme for their contribution to, and
continuing efforts to promote the interests of the Group.
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SHARE OPT'ON SCHEME (continued)

All share options have been exercised under the Company’s share option
schemes during the year under review. The following table discloses
movements in the Share Options under the Scheme during the year:

Outstanding as

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

B E
REEFEER - FaRRES D REAA RN
BRI BT o TR BT R B TR
B ER > 2T

Outstanding as

at 1 January Exercised at 31 December
2020 during the year 2020
R=ZB=2F R=B=%E
=Fl=E +=A=+-8
1 RATHE RERITE e RATE

Category 1: Directors F1f:EF
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman) REELE(FE) 6,000,000 (6,000,000 -
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director) — 3REI3& % A (& Z 4048 7E) 6,000,000 (6,000,000) -
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping KBS 5,000,000 (5,000,000) -
Mr. Lam Ka Po MREFKE 5,000,000 (5,000,000) -
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho RRKREE 2,000,000 (2,000,000) -
Mr. Leung Tai Chiu REREE 550,000 (550,000 -
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen EHBLL 550,000 (5650,000) -
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu RERALE 550,000 (550,000 -
Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer 2IMERE 550,000 (550,000 -
26,200,000 (26,200,000) -
Category 2: Employees ¥248 : BB 12,800,000 (12,800,000) -
Total for all categories FTEEERIART 39,000,000 (39,000,000) -

Other than the above, no share option was exercised during the year under Br LA s - REEFERBEEREET

review. There was no share option granted, cancelled or had lapsed under
the Company’s share option schemes during the year under review. For
further details of Share Options, please refer to Note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements of this report.

Under the Scheme of KLHL, on 11 September 2020, 18 September 2020,
14 October 2020, 10 November 2020 and 23 November 2020, an aggregate
of 39,000,000 KLHL share options were exercised at the exercise price of
HK$8.39 per share with closing market prices of HK$10.30, HK$10.84,
HK$12.32, HK$11.62 and HK$12.60 on the immediately preceding business
days respectively and weighted average closing prices of HK$10.72,
HK$10.52, HK$11.11, HK$12.39 and HK$12.39 on the immediately
preceding five business day respectively when the KLHL options were
exercised.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company,
its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association although there are no restrictions against such rights under
company laws in the Cayman Islands.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company had maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year
ended 31 December 2020.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

According to the articles of association of the Company, every Director,
auditor or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained by him as a Director, auditor or other officer of the Company in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is
given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

Appropriate insurance covering for the Directors’ and senior management’s

liabilities arising out of activities of the Group has been arranged by the
Company.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Group, or existed during
the year ended 31 December 2020.
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EEERE

AUDITOR % 2UED

A resolution to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the EEEE) 0 Bl m R 5 @ ETRITT AN FAZ BLED
Company will be proposed for approval by Shareholders at the forthcoming ZREERENANREERRBFEAE HESE
annual general meeting of the Company. LAGERAR R HEAE ©

On behalf of the Board AEEGMm

Cheung Kwok Wa FE

CHAIRMAN RENEE

22 March 2021 - —®=A—-+—H
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EXRERRE

The board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company recognises the
importance of corporate governance practice of a listed company. It is in
the interest of the stakeholders and shareholders for a listed company to
operate in a transparent manner with the adoptions of various self-regulatory
policies, procedures and monitoring mechanisms and a clear definition of
accountability of directors and management.

The Company has complied with the code provisions as set out in the Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2020, save for the deviation from
paragraph A.4.1 of the Code since the non-executive Director and the
independent non-executive Directors are not appointed for a specific term.
Notwithstanding the aforesaid deviation, all the Directors (including the non-
executive Director and independent non-executive Directors) are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company’s annual general
meeting in accordance with the Company’s articles of association. As such,
the Company considers that steps have been taken with a view to ensuring
that the Company’s corporate governance practices are in line with the
principles of the Code.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).
Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, each Director has confirmed
that he has complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
and the code of conduct regarding Director’s securities transactions adopted
by the Company throughout the year ended 31 December 2020.

A. DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group
and is entrusted with the responsibility to supervise the management
of the business and the affairs of the Group. The Group has adopted
internal guidelines which set forth matters that require the Board’s
approval. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board approves
the Group’s strategic plan, annual budget, key operational initiatives,
major investments and funding decisions. It also reviews the Group’s
financial performance, identifies principal risks of the Group’s business
and ensures implementation of appropriate systems to manage these
risks. Daily business operations and administrative functions of the
Group are delegated to the management.
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DI RECTO RS (continued)

The Board (continued)

The Board meets regularly and as warranted by particular
circumstances. Notices and agendas are prepared by the Company
Secretary as delegated by the Chairman of the Board and distributed
to the Board members within reasonable time before the meetings.
Relevant meeting papers are also sent to Directors well before the
meetings, informing them of the background and giving explanations
on matters to be brought before the Board. All Directors are given the
opportunity to include matters in the agendas for Board meetings. To
ensure the Directors make decisions objectively and in the interests of
the Company, the Company’s articles of association provide that any
Director shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in which he/she
or his/her associates is/are materially interested nor be counted in
the quorum of the meeting. Drafts and final versions of the minutes
of Board meetings are sent to all Directors for their comment and
records respectively within a reasonable time after the board meeting
and are kept by the Company Secretary.

During the year under review, the Board had held 4 meetings and
the Company held two general meetings. The Directors’ attendance
at the Board meetings, Board committees’ meetings and general
meetings was as follows:

Board
Meeting
Ezg
&3
Number of Meeting 8EYE 4
Executive Directors HITEE
Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman) REE(ZE) 4
Cheung Kwok Keung RE 4
(Managing Director) (EFH4E)
Cheung Kwok Ping RELT 4
Lam Ka Po MXE 4
Cheung Ka Ho REF 4
Zhou Pei Feng EEE 4
Non-executive Director HHITEE
Lo Ka Leong &Fw 4
Independent non-executive Directors BV itEiTEF
Leung Tai Chiu RietR 4
Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen E g 4
Zhang Lu Fu REX 4
Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer mE 4

Note:

! “General Meeting” refers to the Company’s annual general meeting held on
25 May 2020
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DIR ECTO RS (continued)

The Board (continued)

The Directors have observed the importance of directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs at a more regular interval. After
consulting all Directors, Board meetings have been preliminarily
scheduled to be held at quarterly interval and not less than 4 times in
the coming year.

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in D.3.1
of the Code.

During the year under review, the Board met once to review the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model
Code and the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure
in this Corporate Governance Report.

Division and responsibilities

The Board is headed by the Chairman whose role differs from that of
the Managing Director of the Company. The roles of the Chairman
and Managing Director are segregated and are not exercised by the
same individual.

The duties of the Chairman include (but not limited to) the following:

o scheduling meetings that enable the Board to perform
its duties and responsibilities and to ensure all key and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner without interfering the Company’s operations;

o preparing meeting agendas after consultations with the
Managing Director;

o exercising control over quality, quantity and timeliness of the
flow of information between management and the Board and
to ensure decisions are made on a fully informed basis by the
Directors; and

o assisting in ensuring compliance with the Listing Rules and
the Company’s guidelines on corporate governance.

The Managing Director is mainly responsible for the overall strategic
planning and day-to-day management of the Group.
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DIR ECTO RS (continued)

Division and responsibilities (continued)

The Board currently comprises 11 members, four of whom are
independent non-executive Directors who are expressly identified in
all corporate communications that disclose the names of Directors.
At least one of the independent non-executive Directors possesses
appropriate professional qualifications (or accounting or related
financial management expertise) as required by the Listing Rules. The
composition of the Board as of the report date is as follows:

Executive Directors

Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)
Cheung Kwok Ping

Lam Ka Po

Cheung Ka Ho

Zhou Pei Feng

Non-executive Director
Lo Ka Leong

Independent non-executive Directors
Leung Tai Chiu

Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen

Zhang Lu Fu

Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping are brothers and are uncles of Mr. Cheung Ka Ho.

Currently, the non-executive Director and the independent non-
executive Directors were not appointed for specific terms but are
subject to retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election. The
Board considers that although such arrangement deviates from
paragraph A.4.1 of the Code, sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no
less exacting than those in the Code.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board also
considers that the independent non-executive Directors remain
independent.
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DIR ECTO RS (continued)

Division and responsibilities (continued)

The Board comprises Directors who collectively provide core
competencies, sales and marketing experience and technical
knowledge in laminates and its upstream materials, administration
and management experience in the PRC factories, financial
and accounting skill, as well as in-house advice to comply with
international laws and regulations. The current Board size of eleven
Directors with a balance of skills and experience is appropriate for
effective decision making, taking into account the nature and scope
of the operations of the Company.

Appointment, re-election and removal

The Company’s articles of association set out a formal, considered
and transparent procedure for the appointment of new Directors to
the Board. Any Director appointed by the Board either to fill a casual
vacancy or as addition to the Board shall retire and be eligible for re-
appointment at the next following general meeting after appointment.
At every annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors, including
the Chairman, shall be subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election by Shareholders. The Directors appointed by the Board who
are subject to retirement and re-election as mentioned above shall
be taken into account in calculating the total number of Directors for
the time being but shall not be taken into account in calculating the
number of Directors who are to retire by rotation. All Directors eligible
for re-election shall have their biographical details made available
to the Shareholders to enable them to make an informed decision
on their re-election. Any appointment, resignation, removal or re-
designation of Director shall be timely disclosed to the Shareholders
by announcement and the reasons given by the Director for this
resignation shall be included in the announcement.
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DIR ECTO RS (continued)

Responsibilities of Directors

The Company and the Board require each Director to keep abreast of
his responsibilities as a Director of the Company and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company. Every Director
is required to devote sufficient time and involvement in the affairs of
the Board and the material matters of the Company and to serve
the Board with care and due diligence in accordance with his own
expertise, qualification and professionalism.

Every newly appointed Director shall receive a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment. All
Directors shall be updated and briefed on continuing professional
development as is necessary to ensure that they have a proper
understanding of the operations and the business of the Company
and that they are fully aware of their responsibilities under the
applicable laws and regulations. The Board has a procedure for
Directors, either individually or as a group, in the furtherance of their
duties, to take independent professional advice, if necessary, at
the Company’s expenses to enable and facilitate the Directors to
make well-considered decisions. Appropriate insurance coverage
for Directors’ and officers’ liability has been arranged against for any
possibility of legal action to be taken against the Directors and the
management.

Pursuant to A.6.5 of the Code, Directors should participate in
appropriate continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant.

A briefing session was organised for the Directors for the year
under review to update the Directors on the latest Listing Rules and
statutory disclosure obligation for listed companies to disclose inside
information under Part XIVA of the SFO.
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A. DIRECTORS (continued)

Responsibilities of Directors (continued)

During the year under review, the Directors also participated in the

following trainings:

Name of Directors

Executive Directors:
Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)

Cheung Kwok Ping
Lam Ka Po
Cheung Ka Ho
Zhou Pei Feng

Non-executive Director:
Lo Ka Leong

Independent non-executive Directors:

Leung Tai Chiu

Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen
Zhang Lu Fu

Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer

BTES:
SREIZE(EF)
SREIR(EHRKIE)
SREIF

MKRE

RERE

[EsE

FUITES !
B

BYFPTES:
E i
REXR
A=

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with A.6.5 of the

Code on Directors’ training.

Supply of and access to information

The management of the Company has an obligation to furnish the
Board with complete, adequate and appropriate information in
such form and such quality in a timely manner so as to enable them
to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities as Directors. All the Directors are given separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management.
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DIR ECTO RS (continued)

Supply of and access to information (continued)

All the Directors are given separate and independent access to
the Company Secretary, whose role includes ensuring that Board
procedures are observed and followed, and that applicable rules and
regulations are complied with. The Company Secretary attends all the
meetings of the Board and Board committees and is responsible for
drafting minutes and keeping minutes records which can be accessed
by any Director for inspection.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

The Board has set up a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) which comprises four independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen (Chairman), Mr. Leung
Tai Chiu, Mr. Zhang Lu Fu and Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer, to
formulate policies and procedures for determining the remuneration
of Directors and senior management and other remuneration related
matters. The Remuneration Committee is set up with written terms of
reference which set out clearly its duties and authorities delegated by
the Board, including the following duties:

° formulate the framework or Board policy for determining
the remuneration of the Company’s Board and senior
management. The objective of such policy should ensure
that members of the senior management of the Company are
provided with appropriate incentives to encourage enhanced
performance and are, in a fair and reasonable manner,
rewarded for their individual contributions to the success of
the Company;

o recommend to the Board specific remuneration packages
including, where appropriate, allowances, bonuses, benefits
in kind, incentive payments, and share options, if any, for
each executive Director and the Managing Director and such
other members of senior management as it is designated to
consider;

o recommend targets for any performance-linked pay schemes
operated by the Company, taking into account remuneration
and employment conditions within the industry and in
comparable companies; and

° recommend to the Board the remuneration of non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
taking into account factors such as effort, time spent and
responsibilities.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continueq)

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

(continued)

When recommending the remuneration package for each individual
Director, the Remuneration Committee will consider his qualification
and experience, specific duties and responsibilities assigned to him
by the Board and the prevailing market packages available for similar
position. The emoluments of the Directors on a named basis for the
year under review are set out on pages 147 to 150 in Note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements. Review and comparison in terms
of Directors’” emoluments package and net profits of the Group are
made from time to time with comparable listed industrial companies
with similar capitalisation to the Group. Considering all such factors,
the Remuneration Committee would make recommendation on the
remuneration package for each Director after consultation with the
Chairman.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee had
convened two meetings to consider the performance, and the
remuneration policy and packages for all Directors and senior
management.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
Company’s account which gives a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Company. The Company deploys appropriate and
sufficient resources to prepare unaudited half-yearly account and
audited yearly account. Senior management is required to present
and explain the financial reporting and matters that materially affect or
may have material impact on the financial performance and operations
of the Company to the Audit Committee and the Board and respond
to the queries and concerns raised by the Audit Committee and
the Board to their satisfaction. The statement of the auditor of the
Company about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 59 to 65 of this annual report.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Risk Management, Internal Control and Responsibility

of the Board

The Board acknowledges its accountability to the risk management
and internal control systems and its responsibility to review the
effectiveness of the systems. The Board also clarifies that the system
are purported to manage, but not eliminate, the risk of failure to
fulfil business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Management is responsible for setting an appropriate tone from
the top, performing risk assessments, and owning the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control. Essential to such
risk management and internal control systems are well defined policies
and procedures that are properly documented and communicated to
employees.

The Group has in place a system of internal controls, the key elements
of which are as follows:

° formal policies and procedures are in place, including the
documentation of key processes, procedures and rules
relating to the delegation of authorities. These allow the
monitoring of controls and restrict the unauthorised use of the
Group’s assets;

o experienced and suitably qualified staff take responsibility for
important business functions. Annual appraisal procedures
have been established to maintain standards of performance;

° monthly business and financial reports are prepared, providing
relevant, timely, reliable and up-to-date financial and other
information; budget variances are investigated as appropriate;
and

o an internal audit function, which reports directly to the Audit
Committee, is in place to determine whether the above
procedures are properly carried out.

The Group has established an internal audit department to review
the financial condition, operational condition, risk management,
compliance control and internal control of the Group. For 2020, the
Board has conducted a review on the effectiveness of the above
internal control system of the Group including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management and will conduct
such review at least once a year, so as to ensure the Shareholders’
investment and the Company’s assets are properly safeguarded.
The Board is satisfied that, based on the information supplied,
coupled with its own observations and with the assistance of the
Audit Committee, the present internal controls and risk management
processes are satisfactory, effective and adequate for the nature and
size of the Group’s operations and business.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Risk Management, Internal Control and Responsibility

of the Board (continued)

In addition to the internal control system, the Board has established
an internal audit team that reports directly to the Audit Committee.
The internal audit team will independently audit various functions,
operations and systems that exist in the Company according to
their weight of significance to the Company as well as the priority
list recommended by the Audit Committee. The internal audit team
will prepare an internal audit report highlighting the deficiencies and
weaknesses in existing audit functions, operations and systems for
discussion by the Audit Committee and the Board, and based on
these findings the Board will instruct senior management to take
appropriate corrective and improvement actions.

Audit Committee

The Board has established the Audit Committee with specific written
terms of reference setting out duties, responsibilities and authorities
delegated to them by the Board. The major duties and responsibilities
of the Audit Committee include the followings:

° review with the external auditor, the audit plan;

° review with the external auditor, their evaluation of the system
of internal accounting controls;

° review the scope and results of the internal audit procedures;

° review the statement of financial position and statement of
profit or loss of the Company and the consolidated statement
of financial position and statement of profit or loss of the
Group and submit them to the Board;

° nominate persons as auditor;

° review with the internal and external auditors their findings on
their evaluation of the Company’s system of internal controls
for the purpose of assisting the Board in developing policies
that would enhance the controls and operating systems of the
Company; and

° review connected transactions and examine the adequacy
of internal controls of the Group as part of the standard
procedures.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee assists the Board to fulfil its oversight role
over the Group’s risk management and internal control functions
by reviewing and evaluating the effectiveness of our overall risk
management and internal control systems at least annually.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
embedded within our business processes so that its functions as
an integral part of the overall operation of the Group. The systems
comprises a comprehensive organisation structure with assignment
of definite accountabilities and delegation of corresponding authorities
to each post. Based on our organisation structure, a reporting system
has been developed including reporting channels from division heads
of business units to the Board.

The risk management and internal control systems and accounting
system of the Group are aimed at identifying and evaluating
the Group’s risk and formulate risk mitigation strategies, and to
provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against
unauthorised use or disposition, transactions are executed in
accordance with management’s authorisation, and the accounting
records are reliable for preparing financial information used within the
business for publication, maintaining accountability for assets and
liabilities and ensuring the business operations are in accordance with
relevant legislation, regulations and internal guidelines.

The Group has a defined organisational structure with clear clearly
lines of responsibility and authority. Each department is accountable
for its daily operations and is required to report to executive Directors
on a regular basis. Policies and procedures are set for each
department, which include establishing and maintaining effective
policies to enhance risks identifications to which the Group is exposed
and taking appropriate actions to manage such risks, establishing a
structure with defined authorities and proper segregation of duties;
monitoring the strategic plan and performance; designing an effective
accounting and information system; controlling price sensitive
information; and ensuring swift actions and timely communication
with our stakeholders.

Procedures and Controls over Handling and Dissemination of
Inside Information

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Group has internal policy
and procedures which strictly prohibit unauthorised use of inside
information and has communicated to all staff; the Board is aware
of its obligations to announce any inside information in accordance
with the Listing Rules and conducts the affairs with reference to
the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012. In addition, only
Directors and delegated officers can act as the Group’s spokesperson
and respond to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the scope and
results of the audit and its cost effectiveness and the independence
and objectivity of the Company’s auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.
The Audit Committee will review the independence of the Company’s
auditor, the resources and adequacy of the internal audit function, at
least once a year. Where the auditor also supplies non-audit services
to the Company, the Audit Committee will keep the nature and extent
of such services under review, seeking to balance between the
maintenance of objectivity and value for money. During the year under
review, the fees paid/payable to the Company’s auditor in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor to
the Group were as follows:
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Audit services ZER

Non-audit services L ERTS

() Tax services 0] B ARTS

(i) Other services comprising compliance (i) Hitfh B BiEa R8s -

review, internal control review and ESG
report

The Audit Committee has undertaken a review of all the non-
audit services provided by the Company’s auditor and concluded
that in its opinion such services did not affect the independence
of the auditor. The Board has appointed an accountant to be
responsible for the accounting and financial matters of the Group
and the Audit Committee has free access to the accountant and
senior management of the Group and to any financial and relevant
information which enables them to discharge their audit committee
function effectively and efficiently. Besides internal assistance being
available, the Audit Committee may request for assistance and
advice from external auditors as and when it considers necessary
at the expenses of the Company. The Audit Committee shall meet
with external auditor without the presence of executive Directors to
discuss the Group’s financial reporting and any major and financial
matters arising during the year under review at least once a year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)
In addition, the Audit Committee is authorised:

. to investigate any matter within its written terms of reference;
. to have full access to and co-operation by the management;
° to have full discretion to invite any Director or executive officer

to attend its meetings; and

. to have reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its
functions properly.

The Board will ensure that the members of the Audit Committee
are appropriately qualified to discharge their responsibilities and at
least one member has accounting and related financial management
expertise or experience. The Audit Committee comprises four
independent non-executive Directors and one non-executive Director,
namely Mr. Leung Tai Chiu (Chairman), Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen,
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu, Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer and Mr. Lo Ka Leong.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had performed the
following works:

o review of the scope of audit work;

° review and discussion of the annual financial results and
report in respect of the year ended 31 December 2019 and
interim financial results and report for the six months ended
30 June 2020 and discussion with the management of the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group;

. discussion and recommendation of the re-appointment of the
external auditors; and

. review of the internal control, financial reporting and risk
management systems of the Group.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had convened
three meetings.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Management function

The Company’s articles of association set out matters which are
specifically reserved to the Board for its decision. Executive Directors
normally meet on an informal basis every two weeks and participate
in senior management meetings on a regular basis to keep abreast of
the latest operations and performance of the Group and to monitor
and ensure the management carry out the directions and strategies
set by the Board correctly and appropriately. Clear instructions are
given to the management as to the matters which should bring to the
attention and be determined by the Board on behalf of the Company.

Board committees

The Board has set up three Board committees, namely Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee,
each chaired by a different independent non-executive Director, to
assist the Board in discharging functions specific to each committee.
Each Board committee has its own written terms of reference
setting out the principles, procedures and arrangements which are
substantially the same as those for the Board.

The Nomination Committee comprises four members who are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau Ping Cheung,
Kaizer (Chairman), Mr. Leung Tai Chiu, Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen and
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu. According to the written terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee, the major responsibilities of the Nomination
Committee include:

° regularly review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and make recommendations to the Board with regard
to any adjustments that are deemed necessary;

° review whether or not an independent non-executive Director
is independent for the purpose of the Listing Rules on an
annual basis;

o identify and nominate for the approval of the Board,

candidates to fill board vacancies as and when they arise; and

° re-nominate a Director as an independent non-executive
Director, if applicable, having regard to his contribution and
performance.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (continued)

Board committees (continued)

During the year under review and up to the date of the report, the
Nomination Committee had convened two meetings during which,
among other things, considered which Directors should retire by
rotation pursuant to the Company’s articles of association and the
Code. The Nomination Committee had resolved that Mr. Cheung
Kwok Keung and Mr. Zhou Pei Feng, being executive Directors, Mr.
Lo Ka Leong, being non-executive Directors, Mr. Zhang Lu Fu, being
independent non-executive Directors, shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
All the above-named Directors were nominated by the Nomination
Committee to stand for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. During the meeting of the Nomination
Committee, it had considered the policy for the nomination of
Directors, and the process and criteria adopted by the Nomination
Committee to select and recommend candidates for directorship. It
had also reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board
to ensure that the Board has a balance of expertise, skills and
experience appropriate to the requirements of the business of the
Company.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy in accordance with
the Code. The policy aims to achieve diversity on the members of the
Board. In designing the Board’s composition, a number of aspects
would be considered, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders. All Directors are encouraged to attend the general
meetings to have personal communication with Shareholders. In
annual general meeting, Chairman of the Board and the chairman of
each committee are required to attend and answer questions from
Shareholders in respect of the matters that they are responsible
and accountable for. The external auditor is also required to be
present to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries
by Shareholders. The Company has also set up a public relations
website which enables the Shareholders and public to post their
questions, comments and opinions in relation to the Group to the
Board.

The Company’s annual general meeting (“AGM”) and extraordinary
general meeting (“‘EGM”) provide good opportunities for Shareholders
to air their views and ask Directors and management questions
regarding the Company. All Shareholders receive the annual
report, circulars and notices of AGM and EGM and other corporate
communications in a form chosen by each Shareholder. The notices
are also published on the Company’s website at www.kblaminates.com.
Separate resolutions are required at general meetings on each distinct
issue. A Shareholder is permitted to appoint any number of proxies to
attend and vote in his stead.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at Shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue,
including the election of individual Directors, for Shareholders’
consideration and voting. Besides, pursuant to the Company’s
articles of association, Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth
of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings may request the Company to convene an EGM by
sending a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary.
The objects of the meeting must be stated in the written requisition.

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for putting
forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. Contact details are as
follows:

Address: 23/F, Delta House
3 On Yiu Street
Shek Mun, Shatin, N.T.

Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 26910445/26915245
Email: enquiry@Kingboard.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its articles of association.

An up-to-date version of the articles of association is available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website. Shareholders
may refer to the Company’s articles of association for further details
of their rights.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll voting results will be
posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and
the Company (www.kblaminates.com) immediately after the relevant
general meetings.
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Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 66 to 213, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Assessment of net realisable values of properties held for development (“PHD”)

THEFRBYE ([ FRBEY X)) 19 T # 5 FE

We identified the assessment of net realisable values of PHD as
a key audit matter due to the significance of the amount and
significant judgements involved in estimating their net realisable
values and the future costs to completion of the PHD.

The carrying value of the Group’s PHD amounted to HK$1.4
billion as at 31 December 2020. The Group’s PHD are all
situated in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

As disclosed in Notes 4 and 23 to the consolidated financial
statements, the net realisable values of the PHD are
determined by reference to the estimated future selling prices.
The future selling prices are estimated by reference to the
recent selling prices of similar properties in the same project or
relevant locations. In addition, the management estimated the
future costs to complete the PHD by reference to the actual
development costs incurred and the completion status.
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Our procedures in relation to the assessment of net realisable
values of PHD included:

° Evaluating the reasonableness of the costs recognised
in PHD, on a sample basis, by obtaining the direct
confirmations from independent qualified surveyors in
respect of the cost incurred and the completion status;

° Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated future
selling prices of the PHD, on a sample basis, by
comparing them to recent transaction prices of similar
properties in the same project or relevant locations,
based on our knowledge of the property markets of
the relevant locations; and

° Evaluating the reasonableness of the estimated future
costs to completion of the PHD, on a sample basis,
based on the actual development costs incurred and
the completion status of the properties of the Group
with the adjustments, taking into account the current
market data and the past history of the similar projects.
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B A BE RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continueq)

Key audit matter

EEHEERERBRLAA

BARFTSHw

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BARESE

Valuation of investment properties

REWFEHILE

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key
audit matter due to the inherent level of subjective judgements
and complex estimates required in determining the fair values.

The Group’s investment property portfolio comprises
commercial, residential and industrial properties located
in Hong Kong, the PRC and the United Kingdom, which
was stated at fair value of HK$1.4 billion, accounting
for approximately 5% of the Group’s total assets as at
31 December 2020 with a loss on fair value change of
HK$742,000 recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss for the year then ended.

As further disclosed in Notes 4 and 14 to the consolidated
financial statements, in estimating the fair value of these
investment properties, the Group engaged a professional
independent valuer (the “Valuer”), to carry out the valuation.
The management of the Group provided information to
the Valuer and the Valuer established and determined the
appropriate technique and inputs to the valuation model. The
significant unobservable input of the approach is the price
per square metre of comparable properties. Changes in the
comparable properties adopted may result in a significant
increase or decrease in fair value.
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Our procedures in relation to the management’s valuation of
investment properties included:

° Evaluating the competence, capability, and objectivity
of the Valuer;

° Understanding the key assumptions applied to
the valuation based on available market data and
evaluating their reasonableness; and

° Assessing the reasonableness of the price per square
metre of comparable properties and information used
by the Valuer and the management in the valuation
model, including adjustment factors for location
and other individual factors such as road frontage,
size of property and facilities, on a sample basis, in
order to assess the appropriateness, completeness
and accuracy of these inputs and comparing the
comparable properties adopted with fair market unit
price.
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BAZBEMRE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

I ANNUAL REPORT 2020

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

BB B RS MERE
FECHE Y B 1E (o)

. HEERABECESTERMNKREN
TR o RIBMERNBERE @ i
ERAFAERZEKBERNEENEAT
HE  KMmA g BRENE
BRRERNEEERRE - MREFIA
REEERTHEEL - BELEEZR
B iRBERE L BRE VB ®RER
FRRRKE - REFHENEETR
APEEERFBRREER - RN
AR RN AN R E B T ES e
FHERE o A REFRABRAEEE
B EEETRERELE -

. AHEREMBHRRNERIIEON - &
BMAR  BREEE  AREAMBHR
REATBERRZHMEE

. B EREAERIEBIFINVTE
AERFR  EENETRE - AR

EMBHRRERER - RMAE EE
BEEOTR  EEMAIT - HPIRE
AAERAERRMEE -

BREMERS - RAEREEER T HENE
EE - KRTH  EXEFERE - BRER
PIFERT B! AR B O (E R EABREA

BRERREERREHR  SARMEFTE
B MR ERERER - WRMIER
BRI EMERREFERMELENME
FAEMEMEER  UREERNBERT - 86
GolaE TR



65

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A BE RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s
report is Tsang Chi Wai.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

22 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mEBEER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -TF+_-_A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—_ 7 —= qE —_= _j-LE'E
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Revenue = & 5 17,301,186 18,383,952
Cost of sales SHE AR (12,594,178) (13,970,306)
Gross profit EF 4,707,008 4,413,646
Other income, gains and losses Hiblg A~ Wzs K g 7 119,488 32,435
Distribution costs D SER A (414,692) (391,448)
Administrative costs TR A (691,349) (718,174)
(Loss) gain on fair value changes of BRAFEFABR = LAY
equity instruments at fair value N EZE (BB WE
through profit or loss (95,723) 7,643
Gain on disposal of debt instruments ~ HEZAFEF AHMEEKEZ
at fair value through other B TAEZWE
comprehensive income 87,667 99,465
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMB AR 2 WE 33 27,642 -
(Loss) gain on fair value changes of WEYENFEES 2 (FE)
investment properties s (742) 5,600
Finance costs EhE KA 8 (76,634) (131,947)
Profit before taxation MR R Vi A 3,662,665 3,317,220
Income tax expense FRS TR 9 (854,685) (908,490)
Profit for the year REEHF 10 2,807,980 2,408,730
Profit for the year attributable to: NS F B 15 58
Owners of the Company FIN/NCIES YN 2,802,885 2,402,247
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR A A 5,095 6,483
2,807,980 2,408,730
Earnings per share FRER 13
— Basic and diluted —EARREE HK$0.906 HK$0.780
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SmEBREREMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T -TF+-A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—BoBE —TNF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FHT
Profit for the year REERA 2,807,980 2,408,730
Other comprehensive income (expense) AEEHME2EWKE(ZH)
for the year
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: T E#HEF HEREm 2 HEH -
Translation reserve: P W RE 4
Exchange differences arising from translation RAITEEZ2REBMELEZ
to presentation currency b 5 = RE 1,057,834 (342,623)
Investment revaluation reserve: WEBMEHE
Fair value loss on equity instruments at fair value 32 A FEFAEM R EZEZ
through other comprehensive income EmTAZ A FEERE (6,918) (1,208)
1,050,916 (343,829)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to HERAEWE D IEE B
profit or loss: HE -
Investment revaluation reserve: WEEMEEE
Fair value (loss) gain on debt instruments HERAFET AEAM
at fair value through other ARG EFETAY
comprehensive income AEE(BEE) WS (61,625) 530,478
Reclassify to profit or loss upon disposal of HEZRAF AR AEAM
debt instruments at fair value through 2EREZEFTAM
other comprehensive income EoEEER (87,667) (99,465)
(149,292) 431,013
Other comprehensive income for the year AEEHMEER 901,624 87,184
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEEEW BT 3,709,604 2,495,914
Total comprehensive income AEEE2EW LR
for the year attributable to: FE(E17EE -
Owners of the Company VIN/NEIEE YN 3,701,133 2,491,732
Non-controlling interests FEE RS 8,471 4,182
3,709,604 2,495,914
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BEIR &

At 31 December 2020 R —ZE—ZF+-A=+—H

2020
—E-EF
HK$’°000
FHET
Non-current assets IERBEE
Investment properties LB 14 1,438,063 1,402,295
Property, plant and equipment L ES S 15 5,613,910 4,779,863
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 567,754 573,011
Equity instruments at fair value BAFERFAEBE BT A 17
through profit or loss 88,583 376,092
Equity instruments at fair value through 2 A (EF AE M2 EW 2
other comprehensive income ERTHE - 6,918
Debt instruments at fair value through  IZAFEFT AEMMEEKE 2 18
other comprehensive income B TA 611,231 3,559,196
Deposits paid for acquisition of BEME  BEL&REZ
property, plant and equipment =N 97,201 398,195
Deferred tax assets BRI IR E B 19 3,190 3,076
Goodwill EES 20 238 238
8,420,170 11,098,884
Current assets MENEE
Inventories ey 21 1,739,106 1,818,691
Trade and other receivables and 5 REMEWRR X 22
prepayments FEfHRIE 4,743,914 4,236,656
Bills receivables R 22 3,507,802 2,844,205
Properties held for development FERYE 23 1,427,224 1,666,994
Equity instruments at fair value through 3£ A Bz AB=H 2 17
profit or loss HmTA 776,904 5,442
Debt instrument at fair value through 2 AP E AEMEEWEE 2 18
other comprehensive income BT A 148,740 791,630
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries — FEUL[F XM /EB A 7318 24 693,081 424,684
Taxation recoverable GG 9,009 7,868
Bank balances and cash RITHEB RS 25 4,909,965 2,908,117
17,955,745 14,704,287
Current liabilities nBEE
Trade and other payables 5 R EMEMAIRR 26 2,777,696 2,920,282
Bills payables e 26 347,631 272,604
Contract liabilities SHEE 26 617,304 189,050
Dividend payable RS 6,240,000 -
Lease liabilities HEAR 27 553 549
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries N IE NG e 24 47,582 47,203
Taxation payable FEHFIIE 723,426 597,150
Bank borrowings HRITIEE - 28
— amount due within one year —ERRE 7 KB 923,077 1,291,418
11,677,269 5,318,256
Net current assets mEEEFE 6,278,476 9,386,031
Total assets less current liabilities BEALEBRREBAE 14,698,646 20,484,915
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mE M BIRR R

EEHEERERBRLAA

2020
—ECEH
HK$’000
FHET
Non-current liabilities ERHEE
Lease liabilities HEAR 27 1,771 901
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEEE 19 78,095 81,089
Bank borrowings RITEE— 28
—amount due after one year —F 1B F|H 2 TIE 230,769 1,653,846
310,635 1,735,836
14,388,011 18,749,079
Capital and reserves BEARN R (A
Share capital &N 29 312,000 308,100
Reserves & 14,021,065 18,393,322
Equity attributable to RAEIFEB AELERE
owners of the Company 14,333,065 18,701,422
Non-controlling interests IR A 54,946 47,657
Total equity BRHBEE 14,388,011 18,749,079

The consolidated financial statements on pages 66 to 213 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2021 and are
signed on its behalf by:

Cheung Kwok Wa
REIE
DIRECTOR
E

BEFEeR T HF=-A -+ -_HDHERR
T ECE213B 2R WS HE - WA T

IEERERE

Cheung Kwok Keung
REDR
DIRECTOR
FE

— = —

—=
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERBRBER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZ — T T F+ —_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

Share-
Property  Investment hased Non-
Share Shere  Tranglation  revaluation revaluaton  payments  Specll  Statutory  Goodwil  Retained controling Total
captal ~ premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve resene resene profts interests equity

it BORE EiuE EheE i WIRE  tEEE BEGE  REMW It O
HK$000  HKS'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000  HKS'000
Tir  Thn Tér  TEn . T AT TAT
(Note 30) ~ (Noteg)
(K0)  (Hfska)

Balanceat 1Januay 2019 H=E-NE
—f-H78% 308,100 1711849 239,369 7208 (292,62) - T5TE89 473921 251425 14042578 17499572 343430 17,843,002

Proft for the year FERER - - - - - - - -
Exchange diferences RREESHEER

aisngfomransaonto B4 EREE

presentation curency - - (4032 - - - - - -
Fair value loss on equity ROTEHARMRE

Instruments t far value W EsTAY

through other comprehensive - A TEEE

income - - - - (12 - - - -
Far vaue gain on debt BRATE AL fRE

instruments at fair valug haEHIEL

through other comprehensive AT {ENE

oo _ - - - 530478 - - - - - 530478 - 530478
Reclassifyto profit orloss upon B ERATFEHAE

disposal of debtinstruments  t2ENEZ BRT

atfarvalethroughother — AMEFNHEZER

2400241 2402247 6483 2,408,730

(340322 Q301 (342628

(1208

(1208

comprehensive income - - - - (99465) - - - - - (99465) - (99465)
Total comprehensive (expense) FEERTE(EE)

icome for the year W8 - - B0 -8 - - - C AT 2M0TR 418 2495914
Recognion of equity-setted ~ EEAMEAEENRA

share-based payments FAfR - - - - - 9609 - - - - 060 - %600
Dividends paid to BREERER

non-controling interests RE - - - - - - - - - - - (1849 (1,843
Final diidend paid for he year EREE-F-N\F

ended 31 December TZA=1-H

2018 Note 12) FEEZRERE

(s12) - - - - - - - - - (1078350 (1,078,350) - (1,078350)

Interim ividend paid BREE-2-hE

forthe year ended t-A=1-4

31 December 2019 FERZRERE

Mote 12 (&) - - - - - - - - - ERI00 B08100) - e
Transfer to reserve ERTGR - - - - - - - 41 - 1) - - -
Acquisttion of additonl WEHBARE

inerests in subsidaries ()

Note ] - . . . . . . T S ey sy

- - - - - 96609

24132 W) (62058 (1289862 (29995 (1589831

Balance at 31 December 2019 R=Z-HET-A
“t-Hr 308100 1,711,849 (100,953) 7268 137,180 9,609 757,680 708053 251384 14824243 18,701,422 47,667 18,749,079
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

Attributable to owners of the Company
BARREAEL
Share-
Property  Investment hased Non-
Share  Translation ~revaluation revaluation  payments Special  Statutory  Goodwil  Retained controlling
premium  reserve  reseve  reseve  reseve  reseve  reserve resemve profits interests

% BE YRGS
ROEE EXRE ERE  EMBR  NEEE  GEER  tERE  BEEE  REW it FRER
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000 HKS'000
TAn TR TEn  TEn  TEn  TEr T TR TAn Thn
(Note 31) ~ (Note30))  (Notea)  (Noteh)
(Was1)  (Ws0) (W) (i)

Belnceat 1 Janvay 200 R-E-FE-F-f

a3 308100 1,711,849 (100,953 7,68 137,180 96,600 757,680 708,053 251364 14824243 18,701,422 47,657 18,749,079
Proft forthe year RERET = o - - - - - - - M8 280088 5095 2807580
Bichangedferences aisng~~ RFEZ2HELT
from translaion to EEEREE
presentation currency - - 1064488 = - - - - - - 1044 3376 1,0578%4

Fair vale loss on equiy RATEHAEM2E

instuments at farvalue though A7 X TEZ

other comprefensieincome. AT &S A - - - - by = - - -
Fair value loss on debt nstruments BATEAZH2E

atfar value through other WEERIAL

comprehensive ncome LTEER - - = - (61629 - - - - - ey -
Redssfy toproftorloss upon - BHERAT B\

dsposelof debtistuments  Efr2ElE 2 B

atfar value through other IEMENAEE

comprehensive ncome B - - - - (eeen = = 5 s - (ereen) - (g

(6918) (6.918)

Totdcomprehersiie noome.~ AEEAEUH(ER)
{expense) for e ear e - - 1054458 - (15620) ° ® o - 200285 ST BTt 709604

Issue ofnew shares from R

exercise of share options Bl 3900 419919 - - - (96,609) - - - - A - WA
Dhidends peid o BfiERiEs
non-controling inerests ke - - - - - - - - - - - (1,182 (1,182

Finel diidend paid fortheyear ~ EREZ-5-1E
ended 31 December 2019 +ZAZT-RLEE

ots 1 ZxRe(E) - - - - - - - - S 2 - U
Speca nlchidend paid BREEZE-NE
forthe year ended 31 December  +=F=+-BIHEE
2019 Note 12 LEIRERE
(H12) - - - - ° ° ° s - (1282400 (1282400 - (1282400
Interim dhicend payable EREZC52%E
for the year ended 31 December  +==1-BIHEE
200 ot 1 Zh8Re () - - - - - . - - - [0 (R0 - R
Specil inteim dhidend payeble  EFEIZ-3-%E
forthe yearended 81 December  += A=+ EIHFE
2000 Note 12 LERRERE
(K1) - - - - - - - - - GOBNY (800 15928000
Tranger toreserve BREGE = o - - - - - L - - -
3900 419819 - - -6 - 5N - B2 BB (1) @on0eT)
Balanceat 31 December 2020 R-F-FE 127
St-RziH 312000 2,131,768 953,50 7,268 19,030) - ToT689 1060592 251384 8868889 14333065 54046 14,388,011
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

Notes:

Statutory reserve comprises statutory fund, which is non-distributable, and
represents capitalisation of retained profits of certain subsidiaries established in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) for capital re-investment in these subsidiaries
and funds shall be used to (i) make up prior year losses or (i) expand production
operations.

Goodwill reserve represents the effect of changes in ownership in certain subsidiaries
when there is no change in control.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group acquired additional interests
in non-wholly owned subsidiaries from non-controlling shareholders. As a result
of the acquisition, the difference of HK$41,000 between the consideration
paid HK$298,153,000 and the amount of non-controlling interests acquired of
HK$298,112,000 was directly recognised as equity in the goodwill reserve.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE =T -TF+-A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
ft g 23 —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES P 3
Profit before taxation MR FL A A 3,662,665 3,317,220
Adjustments for: A
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BMEREREZITE
equipment 580,950 590,886
Loss (gain) on fair value changes of BAVEFABR =LA
equity instruments at fair value through 2 A HEZEEE(RE)
profit or loss 95,723 (7,643)
Interest expenses MeERY 76,634 131,947
(Reversal of allowance) write-down of FFEMOR (B R )
inventories (75,221) 96,279
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 13,888 11,786
Loss (gain) on fair value changes of WEWME L N HEEZHEE
investment properties (Yezs) 742 (5,600)
Gain on disposal of debt instruments HERATESAREMER
at fair value through other Wz BT Az W
comprehensive income (87,667) (99,465)
Net impairment loss (reversed) recognised — F4E 5 FE U BR 3k (30 ) fER 2
on trade receivables PERIEY Si=bes- (58,831) 152,138
Interest income on bank balances and IRITHE B RIES 7 F BIA
deposits (34,420) (84,044)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RWBA Rz W 33 (27,642) -
(Gain) loss on disposal and written off of HERMBEDE « BE L& E
property, plant and equipment 2 (W) EiE (2,439) 10,498
Share-based payments AR AT R = 96,609
Operating cash flows before movements in KeteBEBE e H a2 8&
working capital Reng 4,144,382 4,260,611
Decrease in inventories FERA 253,270 421,470
Increase in trade and other receivables and B 5 M EMERIRR RIB R
prepayments IEE N (230,882) (227,730)
(Increase) decrease in bills receivables FEUENE (18 H0) s (509,612) 42,633
Decrease in properties held for development 1535 E ¥ 2R 139,027 428,447
(Increase) decrease in equity instruments BAFEFABR = TR
at fair value through profit or loss (1ghn) i (784,576) 34,122
Decrease (increase) in debt instruments at fair A (EzF AR M2 E K 2
value through other comprehensive income &7 T A& 2> (3g0) 59,775 (72,224)
Increase in amounts due from fellow subsidiaries &4 [ 28 A 7 Z B N (291,389) (365,387)
Decrease in trade and other payables 5 R EAMEMRIUN D (209,951) (68,434)
Increase in bills payables FET SR N 43,497 78,887
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities AHaEEMCHD) 527,442 (880,562)
Decrease in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries &<t [F R Hi B A 73018 (2,177) (228)
Cash generated from operations KEERSRS® 3,138,806 3,661,605
Other income tax paid EAHEHAMATSH (619,564) (515,023)
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (‘LAT”) paid B85 B IR E R
(Mg ER ) (233,168) 477,310
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EHBEBNEH (7,907) (933)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES E& £ MEBREFE 2,278,167 2,668,339
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERETRER

2020 2019
ft g 23 —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREEK
Proceeds from disposal or on maturity of HERAFEFT AR B
debt instruments at fair value through other w2 EETE(RE) G
comprehensive income oIE 3,885,673 2,386,535
Proceeds from disposal of equity instruments  H&ER A A A Bz 2
at fair value through profit or loss T AFRS5RIA 1,530,767 -
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary H & —REB A RS RIE 33 223,870 -
Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use assets & {F A EFT1EHIE 59,607 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BEMEREER
plant and equipment T8 37,685 61,122
Interest received BUFIE 34,420 34,044
Purchase of equity instruments at fair value BERATEFABR  ER
through profit or loss TA (1,325,867) (123,237)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE  BEREE (597,496) (653,362)
Purchase of debt instruments at fair value BERATEFAREMEEI
through other comprehensive income = EBITEAE (416,218) -
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, BEYE BELEKEZDNA
plant and equipment Hia (97,201) (398,195)
Payments for right-of-use assets FREEENK (36,359) (78,897)
Purchase of investment property WEREYE = (11,899)
NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXKFEBREFE 3,298,881 1,216,111
FINANCING ACTIVITIES METE
New bank borrowings raised HLIRITIEE 509,088 835,841
Proceeds from exercise of share options ﬁ@i%ﬁ%’éﬁﬁﬁ%’( 327,210
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITEE (2,300,506) (3,733 077)
Dividends paid on ordinary shares BT BRARE (2,156,700) (1,386,450)
Interest paid A FLE (87,512) (145,581)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests BT IEIE AR i 2 AR B (1,182) (1,843)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHESE (551) (525)
Consideration paid for acquisitions of Uk BE BT BB A B SBIME s P S A+
additional interests in subsidiaries ZRE - (298,153)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING REEBMARSFHE
ACTIVITIES (3,710,153) (4,729,788)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH HEeERRSEEYIEM
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (RA)E5E 1,866,895 (845,338)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE H¥{zHE&RREZEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 2,908,117 3,803,125
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE ERSHTE
RATE CHANGES 134,953 (49,670)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE HAXZHERREZEY -
END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTING ERITHBEERS
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 4,909,965 2,908,117

I ANNUAL REPORT 2020



75

EEHEERERBRLF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a B RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE =T -TF+-A=+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL

Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated and registered as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman lIslands and its shares are listed on the main
board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its immediate parent company is Jamplan (BVI) Ltd., a
limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and
in the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”), its
ultimate holding company is Kingboard Holdings Limited (“KHL”), an
exempted limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with its shares also listed on the Mainboard of the Stock Exchange.
The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 41.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which the Directors considered is more relevant for
the users of the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the “Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRs Standards” and
the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or
after 1 January 2020 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:
Amendments to HKAS Definition of Material
1 and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Except as described below, the application of the “Amendments
to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRs Standards”
and the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

“Definition of Material”

The Group has applied the Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS
8 for the first time in the current year. The amendments provide
a new definition of material that states “information is material if
omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which
provide financial information about a specific reporting entity.” The
amendments also clarify that materiality depends on the nature or
magnitude of information, either individually or in combination with
other information, in the context of the financial statements taken as a

whole.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no impact

on the consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3 “Definition

of a Business”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments clarify that while businesses usually
have outputs, outputs are not required for an integrated set of
activities and assets to qualify as a business. To be considered a
business, an acquired set of activities and assets must include,
at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that together

significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3 “Definition
of a Business” (continued)

The amendments remove the assessment of whether market
participants are capable of replacing any missing inputs or processes
and continuing to produce outputs. The amendments also introduce
additional guidance that helps to determine whether a substantive
process has been acquired.

In addition, the amendments introduce an optional concentration
test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business. Under the optional
concentration test, the acquired set of activities and assets is not
a business if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of
similar assets. The gross assets under assessment exclude cash and
cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the
effects of deferred tax liabilities. The election on whether to apply the
optional concentration test is available on transaction-by-transaction
basis.

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group but may impact future periods should the
Group make any acquisition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I IRARMIEE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments!

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 25

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Ventures®

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions*

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use?
Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling

a Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-20202
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
Directors anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16 “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2”

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16 “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2” relate to the
modification of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities,
specific hedge accounting requirements and disclosure requirements
applying HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” to accompany
the amendments regarding modifications and hedge accounting.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

)q.

B —
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO 2.
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)
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New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16 “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2”
(continued)

Modification of financial assets, financial liabilities
and lease liabilities. A practical expedient is introduced for
modifications required by the reform (modifications required
as a direct consequence of the interest rate benchmark
reform and made on an economically equivalent basis). These
modifications are accounted for by updating the effective
interest rate. All other modifications are accounted for
using the current HKFRSs requirements. A similar practical
expedient is proposed for lessee accounting applying HKFRS
16;

Hedge accounting requirements. Under the amendments,
hedge accounting is not discontinued solely because of the
interest rate benchmark reform. Hedging relationships (and
related documentation) are required to be amended to reflect
modifications to the hedged item, hedging instrument and
hedged risk. Amended hedging relationships should meet
all qualifying criteria to apply hedge accounting, including
effectiveness requirements; and

Disclosures. The amendments require disclosures in order
to allow users to understand the nature and extent of risks
arising from the interest rate benchmark reform to which the
Group is exposed to and how the entity manages those risks
as well as the entity’s progress in transitioning from interbank
offered rates to alternative benchmark rates, and how the
entity is managing this transition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16 “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2”
(continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has several Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) bank loans which may be subject
to interest rate benchmark reform. The Group expects no significant
gains or losses should the interest rate benchmark for these loans
change resulting from the reform on application of the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current” and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the
assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-
current, which:

° specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the
end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met at
the end of the reporting period, even if the lender does
not test compliance until a later date; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current” and related amendments to Hong Kong

Interpretation 5 (2020) (continued)

° clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of
the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the
entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only if the entity
recognises the option separately as an equity instrument

applying HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a consequence
of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the corresponding wordings

with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2020,
the application of the amendments will not result in reclassification of

the Group’s liabilities.

Amendments to HKAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment -

Proceeds before Intended Use”

The amendments specify that the costs of any item that were
produced while bringing an item of property, plant and equipment to
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management (such as samples produced
when testing whether the relevant property, plant and equipment is
functioning properly) and the proceeds from selling such items should
be recognised and measured in the profit or loss in accordance
with applicable standards. The cost of the items are measured in

accordance with HKAS 2 “Inventories” (‘HKAS 2”).

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant

impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 37 “Onerous Contracts - Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract”

The amendments specify that, when an entity assesses whether
a contract is onerous in accordance with HKAS 37 “Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”, the unavoidable costs
under the contract should reflect the least net cost of exiting from
the contract, which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling it and any
compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfil it. Costs of
fulfilling the contract include incremental costs and an allocation of
other costs that relate directly to fulfiling contracts (for example, an
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and
equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

The amendments are applicable to contracts for which the Group has
not yet fulfilled all its obligations as at the date of initial application.
The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant
impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKFRSs “Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020”

The annual improvements make amendments to the following
standards.

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”)

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing whether
modification of terms of original financial liability constitutes substantial
modification under the “10 per cent” test, a borrower includes only
fees paid or received between the borrower and the lender, including
fees paid or received by either the borrower or the lender on the
other’s behalf.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs “Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2018-2020” (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” ("HKFRS 16”)

The amendment to lllustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16
removes from the example the illustration of reimbursement relating to
leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to remove any potential
confusion.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant
impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for investment properties
and certain financial instruments, that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”
("HKFRS 27), leasing transactions that are accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets” (“HKAS 36”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (continued)
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair values in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so
that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equal the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the

Company:
o has power over the investee;
o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between the members
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s equity and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries.

Any difference between the amounts by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)
Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries
(continued)
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests
(if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i)
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest and (i) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities
of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKFRS 9 or, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint
venture.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
(see accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash generating units (“CGUs”")
(or groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest level
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purpose and not larger than an operating segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Goodwill (continued)

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to other assets of
the unit on a pro-rata basis on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within
the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss
on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation within
the CGU (or a CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of
goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative
values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed of and the
portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUS) retained.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset

with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of glass epoxy
laminates, paper laminates, upstream materials and specialty
resin is recognised at a point in time. Under the transfer-of-
control approach in HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts
with customers” (“HKFRS 15”), revenue from these sales is
recognised when customer acceptance has been obtained,
which is the point of time when the customer has the ability to
direct the use of these products and obtain substantially all of
the remaining benefits of these products.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of properties
in the ordinary course of business is recognised at a point
in time when the customer obtains control of the respective
properties.

Revenue from hotel accommodation and service income
from drilling services is recognised over time, as the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group’s performance as the Group performs.

For revenue from service income from drilling services is
recognised over time, as the entity’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced.

Rental income from property investment and licence fee
income will be accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
16, whereas dividend income and interest income from
investments will be accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
9.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
Output method
The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of
the value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the
time value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract
contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the
promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or
implied by the payment terms agreed to by the parties to the
contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer
of the associated goods, properties or services is less than
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the transaction price for any significant finance
component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Existence of significant financing component (continued)

For advance payments received from customers before
the transfer of the associated goods, properties or services
in which the Group adjusts for the promised amount of
consideration for a significant financing component, the Group
applies a discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the Group and the customer at
contract inception. The relevant interest expenses during the
period between the advance payments were received and the
transfer of the associated goods and services are accounted
for on the same basis as other borrowing costs.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

Properties held for development

Properties held for development which are intended to
be sold upon completion of development are classified
as current assets. Except for the leasehold land element
which is measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of right-of-use assets, properties held for
development are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on a specific identification basis
including allocation of the related development expenditure
incurred and where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
the properties less estimated cost to completion and costs
necessary to make the sales.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purpose (other than property, plant and
equipment under construction as described below). Property,
plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses,
if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Property, plant and equipment in the course of construction
for production, supply or administrative purposes are carried
at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include
any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Artwork are stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. No
depreciation is provided as the artwork are held primarily for
office aesthetics with no intention to sell and are high value
paintings, with indefinite useful lives and estimated residual
values of not less than their costs.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
(other than property, plant and equipment under construction)
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Licenced property, plant and equipment

Licenced property, plant and equipment (included in property,
plant and equipment) held to earn licence fee income are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised as to write off the cost of items
of licenced property, plant and equipment less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost of inventories are determined on a weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets other than goodwill (continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which
the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The recoverable amount is determined for the CGU or
group of CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant CGU or
group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets other than goodwill (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group
of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro-rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or
a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition
of ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless
such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of office properties that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group

in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties
and measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position. Right-
of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property
or inventory are presented within “investment properties” and
“properties held for development” respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

3. HMEMEBHRERAE
REESFHBER @

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by

interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)

whenever:
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° the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate

lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an

amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based
on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases
Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is
classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases and licence fee income
are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant lease and licence agreement. Other than
investment properties measured under fair value model, such
costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Rental income and licence fee income which are derived from
the Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for
as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided
through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease
as a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating
to the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the
Group’s net assets in RMB to the Group’s presentation
currency (i.e. HK$) are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in translation
reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the
translation reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss
subsequently.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sales, are added to the cost
of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included
in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation
rate on general borrowings. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income, gains and losses”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments

Share options granted to the Directors and employees of the
Group

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair value
of the equity instruments at the grant date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)
Equity-settled share-based payments (continued)
Share options granted to the Directors and employees of the
Group (continued)
The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share-based payments
reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss,
such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to share-based payments
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in the share-based payments reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

I ANNUAL REPORT 2020

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

3. &R

7

SHBRREREE

REEEHE

FEEHEE®

B F AR (E)

Ui B R TER I3 (&)
BT GEEESEREE 2B E
(&)

REH BT KA M SE
JBB {1 T B8 RE HO PARR (D T USSR
MRFERNEBHAREANEE
HEKEERBIETR 24
it BRESEXH - BERER
(KB AN KR S ) 1E
TRRESE N -

R|EMERE - AEESRE
FRAMERAIETIS I B HO SR8 AT
B - ERTTR S RE 2B
REMEFTERE - WHHERT SR EHN
RIEMFOFE(E)RNEBER
MR - RIS RREERT
&t AR U SR S TR AR
B2 A% - BINR I B BB 5
BRBERENS - CERBRE
MR (E RIS B8 S8 o

BIERITER - BER ARG
AN R R S S
BERMDGE - EREENEB
B BOR KR i B D ARTETT
- RBERBREFEETER
ZERESEREREEN

—



111

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwiill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 “Income Taxes” requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial
recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising from
subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of
lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject
to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
the group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest income from debt instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) and dividend income
from equity instruments which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue. Interest
income from bank balances and deposits are included in
other income, gains and losses.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income (“OCI”) if that equity investment is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
“Business Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)
In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt instruments
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired. For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)
(i) Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt
instruments classified as at FVTOCI as a result of
interest income calculated using the effective interest
method, and foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss. All other changes
in the carrying amount of these debt instruments
are recognised in OCI and accumulated under the
heading of investment revaluation reserve. Impairment
allowances are recognised in profit or loss with
corresponding adjustment to OCI without reducing
the carrying amounts of these debt instruments.
The amounts that are recognised in profit or loss
are the same as the amounts that would have been
recognised in profit or loss if these debt instruments
had been measured at amortised cost. When these
debt instruments are derecognised, the cumulative
gains or losses previously recognised in OCl are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)
(iii) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI, are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised
in OCI and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the
Group’s right to receive the dividends is established,
unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of
part of the cost of the investment.

(iv) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in “Gain (loss) on fair value changes of equity
instrument at FVTPL”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets
The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
and other receivables, debt instruments at FVTOCI, amounts
due from fellow subsidiaries, bills receivables and bank
balances and financial guarantee contracts) which are subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”)
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on those assets are assessed
individually and/or collectively with appropriate groupings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R IR MIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

I ANNUAL REPORT 2020

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external

credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally

understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv) Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

(V) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the
ECL is the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less
any amounts that the Group expects to receive from
the holder, the debtor or any other party.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.
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127 EEHEERERBRLAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HMEVBHRRERNELE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REEESTTHER e

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 FESHHEW®)
Financial instruments (continued) S@MIAE)
Financial assets (continued) THEEE)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) SRIEEREE)
v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued) ) BEEEEIENTER
HR(E)
Interest income is calculated based on the gross FMEWAZEREED
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the REAEFE  RIED
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest BEELBEERE
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the EEEBRT @ FEIK
financial asset. AR EENEHEKX
KEtHE o
Except for investments in debt instruments that MRIBRAFEGTAEME
are measured at FVTOCI, the Group recognises an BUWENEKEIAEKRSE
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial SN REETAE SR
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, TE@mBAEEMER
with the exception of trade receivables, where the iR 8 &= R RE R
corresponding adjustment is recognised through B EE S EWIERD
a loss allowance account. For investments in debt A FE A LA B IR RE B
instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, the loss RSN - IR A FE
allowance is recognised in OC| and accumulated in FFAEMEEKENE
the investment revaluation reserve without reducing BIEKEMS @ B8
the carrying amount of these debt instruments. Such BERE M2
amount represents the changes in the investment RITAEREEHHFEER
revaluation reserve in relation to accumulated loss st PRAVZEERL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in
profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument
classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at
FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit
or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.
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e I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNT'NG POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, bills
payables, amounts due to fellow subsidiaries and bank
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at
their fair values and are subsequently measured at the higher
of:

(i) the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

(ii) the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised over
the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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R R IR MIEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.

Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if revision

affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in consolidated financial

statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties (Notes 14 and 19)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets arising from investment properties that are measured using the
fair value model, the Directors have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios as at 31 December 2020, and concluded that
the Group’s investment properties located in the PRC with carrying
amounts of approximately HK$317,819,000 (2019: HK$302,803,000)
are held under a business model which objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, the Directors
have determined the presumption that the carrying amounts of such
investment properties are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted.
As a result, the Group has not recognised deferred taxes on LAT in
respect of changes in fair value of such investment properties but
has recognised deferred tax on Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) on
the assumption that these investment properties will be recovered

through use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

U NCERTAI NTY continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

(continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties (Notes 14 and 19)

(continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the investment properties located in
Hong Kong and the United Kingdom with carrying amounts of
HK$418,790,000 (2019: HK$418,790,000) and HK$701,454,000
(2019: HK$680,702,000) respectively are not held under a business
model with the objective of which is to recover the economic benefits
of the investment properties entirely through use. No deferred tax
is recognised in respect of the fair value change in such investment
properties as the Group is not subject to any income taxes on
disposal of investment properties in Hong Kong. The Group is subject
to Capital Gains Tax on disposal of investment properties in the
United Kingdom. No deferred tax is recognised in respect of the fair
value change in such investment properties located in the United

Kingdom as the amount is insignificant.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the

next financial year.

Depreciation and estimated impairment of property, plant and

equipment (Note 15)

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges for its property, plant
and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar
nature and functions. Management will increase the depreciation
charge where useful lives are expected to be shorter than previously
estimated, or it will write-off obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold. Changes in these estimations may have a

material impact on the results of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Depreciation and estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment (Note 15) (continued)

The management reviews its property, plant and equipment to
determine if there is any indication that the assets may have been
impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts
of property, plant and equipment will be determined based on
discounted cash flow method of each asset or CGU. The Directors
consider that there was no indication of impairment that require
the estimation of the recoverable amount of the property, plant and
equipment and therefore, no impairment loss was recognised for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment was approximately HK$5,613,910,000 (2019:
HK$4,779,863,000).

Allowance for inventories (Note 21)

In determining the net realisable value of the Group’s inventories,
management estimated the net realisable value of inventories based
on the most reliable information available at the time the estimates
are made. These estimates take into consideration the fluctuations
in price, the balance on hand relative to sales prospect and the
condition of the inventories. Reversal of allowance of HK$75,221,000
(2019: written down of HK$96,279,000) on inventories has been
recognised in the profit or loss during the year ended 31 December
2020. As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of inventories
was HK$1,739,106,000 (2019: HK$1,818,691,000).

Provision of ECL for trade receivables (Notes 22 and 34)

Trade receivables that are credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually, the remaining trade receivables are assessed collectively
based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference to the
Group’s internal credit ratings.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are
disclosed in notes 34 and 22 respectively.

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of trade receivables
was approximately HK$3,911,704,000 (2019: HK$3,619,001,000),
net of allowance for credit losses of HK$579,750,000 (2019:
HK$603,257,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimated net realisable value on properties held for
development (Note 23)

In determining whether write down should be made to the Group’s
properties held for development, the Group takes into consideration
the current market environment and the estimated market value (i.e.
the estimated selling price less estimated costs of selling expenses)
less estimated costs to completion of the properties. Write down
is made if the estimated market value less estimated cost to
completion of the properties is less than the carrying amount. If the
actual net realisable value on properties held for development is
less than expected as a result of change in market conditions and/
or significant variations in the budgeted development cost, material
write down may result. As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount
of properties held for development was HK$1,427,224,000 (2019:
HK$1,666,994,000).

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for financial
reporting purposes. The Directors have a designated team to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair
value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment properties,
the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party
qualified valuers to perform the valuation of the Group’s investment
properties. At the end of each reporting period, the Directors work
closely with the qualified external valuers to establish and determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for Level 2 and Level
3 fair value measurements. The Group will first consider and adopt
Level 2 inputs where inputs can be observable, other than quoted
prices in the active market. When Level 2 inputs are not available,
the Group will adopt valuation techniques that include Level 3 inputs.
Where there is a material change in the fair value of the assets, the
causes of the fluctuations will be reported to the Directors. Any
changes in the price per square meter in reference with recent
transactions will affect the fair value of the investment properties of
the Group. Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used
in determining the fair value of the Group’s investment properties are
disclosed in Note 14.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes (continued)

In relying on the valuation report, the Directors have exercised their
judgement and are satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective
of the current market conditions. Whilst the Group considers
valuations of the Group’s investment properties are the best estimates,
the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in greater market
volatility depending on how the Covid-19 pandemic may progress and
evolve, which have led to higher degree of uncertainties in respect
of the valuations in the current year. Changes to these assumptions,
including the potential risk of any market violation, policy, geopoalitical
and social changes or other unexpected incidents as a result
of change in macroeconomic environment, travel restrictions
implemented by many countries, increased complexity in international
trade tensions geopolitics, changes in policy direction and/or
mortgage requirements, or other unexpected incidents would result
in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment properties and
the corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s equity instruments at FVTPL
and debt instruments at FVTOCI, the Group uses market-observable
data to the extent it is available. For listed equity securities classified as
equity instruments at FVTPL, the fair values of the listed securities are
determined by reference to the quoted market bid prices available.
For bond securities classified as debt instruments at FVTOCI, where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Directors assess the fair value of
the Group’s bond securities listed on the Stock Exchange and the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX”) based on
quoted market bid prices at the end of each reporting period. Where
there is a material change in the fair value of the equity instruments at
FVTPL and debt instruments at FVTOCI, the causes of the fluctuations
will be reported to the Directors. The fair value of the equity
instruments at FVTOCI is insignificant as at 31 December 2020 (2019:
HK$6,918,000). Notes 17, 18 and 34(c) provides detailed information
about the valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in
the determination of the fair value of the Group’s equity instruments at
FVTPL and debt instruments of FVTOCI.
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5. REVENUE 5. EEER
Analysis of revenue for the year is as follows: FERNEEANDITT ¢
2020 2019
—E-% ZE-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&T T
Revenue recognised at a point in time R — B TER A & R
Sales of glass epoxy laminates HEIRE B B INmIR 11,166,932 10,598,388
Sales of paper laminates HERERER 1,855,539 2,035,661
Sales of upstream materials (note a) S R (MisEa) 2,453,947 2,283,051
Sales of properties MIEEE 683,986 1,581,184
Others (note b) Han(MisEb) 889,537 1,185,567
Revenue recognised overtime (note c) BERF R R Ay 2 58 (M sEe) 48,289 138,480
Revenue from contracts with customers BEAE W= 17,098,230 17,822,331
Interest income from debt instruments BT AN BMA 125,888 417,848
Rental and licence fee income (Note 36) e MEFE R EWA (KIFE36) 65,789 125,845
Dividend income (LIS ON 11,279 17,928
17,301,186 18,383,952
Notes: BiE -
(@) Sales of upstream materials include sales of copper foil, epoxy resin, glass (a) YRS RIEHERYE  REN
fabric and bleached kraft paper. The payment terms are ranged from O day Bg - WA AZEARER - HFE
to 120 days. fRAOE120K °
(b) Others mainly includes sales of specialty resin of HK$517,300,000 (2019: (b) EMmExZpEHEREHREA
HK$624,077,000). 517,300,000 3% 7T ( = & — h, 4 :
624,077,000/ L)
(© Revenue recognised overtime represents income from drilling services () BERHEERNEXEEREEILR
of HK$1,830,000 (2019: HK$74,230,000) and income from hotel 1,830,000 L (=T — JLF
accommodation of HK$46,459,000 (2019: HK$64,250,000). 74,230,000 3% 7T ) ~ RO IE F B K

A 46,459,000 L (= F — N F
64,250,000/87T)

—EoTasy I
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R EVE N U E (continued)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining

performance obligation for contracts with customers
Apart for sales of properties, all contracts have an original expected
duration of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations for sales of properties (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied)
as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 and the expected timing of
recognising revenue are as follows:

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

EEE .

RETBERTEFENBRE
R ZER

BRIHEMEIN - FTAEHERNREHF
HR—FRIAT - HNE BB RR
ERFISHKAAT  DEEZF AT
BN SERTTHE -

RZEZTFR_FT-NF+=A
—t+—B HEVESEEZHRTEHNE
ECRER DD RER )N SHEE K
TEHARER S SEER T

2020 2019

—E_TF —T-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET F&T

Within one year —FR 895,847 155,744
More than one year but not more —F L HETBARE

than two years 440,048 164,976

1,335,895 320,720

SEGMENT INFORMATION

HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” (“HKFRS 8”) requires operating
segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about
components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by Chief
Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) in order to allocate resources to
segments and to assess their performance. Specifically, the Group’s
reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are organised into three
main operating divisions — (i) manufacturing and sale of laminates;
(i) properties; and (iii) investments. The management aggregated
the sales of properties, rental and hotel income business into one
reportable segment because the financial performance of these
businesses are affected by changes in the property market.

The accounting policies the Group used for segment reporting under
HKFRS 8 are the same as those used in its HKFRS consolidated
financial statements. Segment profit or loss represents the profit
earned by each segment with certain items not included (unallocated
corporate income and expenses, share-based payments and finance
costs). This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purpose of
resource allocation and performance assessment.
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(@

Segment revenue and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by operating and reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BEHEERERERAA

DEPEE @

() DHEEBERHESE
BB R s S B2 AEE
BEBREEDITOT

BE-_Z-_Z+-A=+—H

IEFE

Laminates Properties  Investments Consolidated
BEHER /S RE Te
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’'000
TER TEx TER TERT

(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)

(GED)) (FzEb) (HzEe)
Segment revenue DEEERE 16,367,785 796,234 137,167 17,301,186
Segment results DEELE 3,310,550 356,339 126,438 3,793,327
Unallocated corporate income PN /NI ON 37,581
Unallocated corporate expenses & HEEZ AFIEH (91,609)
Finance costs BB A (76,634)
Profit before taxation BEBE T 3,662,665

—EoTasy I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. ﬁggﬁ*ﬂ(%)

(@) Segment revenue and results (continued) () oHEEBREESE
For the year ended 31 December 2019 gz2-E—-hhE+=-BA=+—8
WHFE
Laminates Properties Investments  Consolidated
BHER LS RE ey
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAR AR TAR T
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)
(Ft7Ea) (FfisEo) (FfizEe)
Segment revenue DEPE R 16,236,897 1,711,279 435,776 18,383,952
Segment results DaEbEE 2,160,346 862,386 538,923 3,561,655
Unallocated corporate income PN /NI ON 63,322
Unallocated corporate expenses KA EZARXHE (79,201)
Share-based payments VAR A 3R (96,609)
Finance costs MERAK (131,947)
Profit before taxation BRTE A& A 3,317,220

Notes: et -

(@) The management aggregated the revenue derived from the (a) EREEHHERARBHE
sales of glass epoxy laminates, paper laminates and upstream EiER  ABRER - £
materials, income from drilling services, licence fee income, the MR BHRG L E
sales of specialty resin and others into “Laminates” segment. BHORECABREA - BE

g A R A A B R
R 1556 -

(b) The management aggregated the revenue derived from the sales (o) BHERHEMELET
of properties, rental income and hotel income into “Properties” AL BARBEERASEHFA
segment. RZESPaR: 1

©) The management aggregated the revenue derived from the () EEESEEIAFSKA
interest income from debt instruments and dividend income from REmTARBWA S XS
equity instruments into “Investments” segment. AEHAIREIDE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.
(b) Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by operating and reportable segments:

At 31 December 2020

Assets
Segment assets
Unallocated assets
- Deferred tax assets
- Taxation recoverable
- Bank balances and cash

Consolidated total assets

Liabilities
Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities
- Bank borrowings
- Deferred tax liabilities
- Taxation payable
- Dividend payable

Consolidated total liabilities

Laminates
BRAR
HK$'000
THT
BE
HHEE 16,212,797
APBEZEE
—RERIBEE
— A E IR
—BITEBERS
ABERE
aE
HEa’E (3,189,891)
APBzBE
—RITIEE
—EEHEEE
—FEHHIA
—ERRE
RABERE

Properties

3,615,496

EEHEERERBRLAA

DEPEE @
b)) PHEEREE

RBEERARED B2 A EKE
BENBEINOT

R-E-EF+-A=+—H

Investments Consolidated

IES RE &8

HK$'000
TET

HK$’000
THET

HK$'000
THET

1,625,458 21,453,751
3,190

9,009
4,909,965

26,375,915

(602,646) - (3,792537)
(1,153,846)
(78,095)
(723,426)
(6,240,000)

(11,987,904)
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e MBERRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. ﬁ%lgﬁ*sl'(%)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (continued) b) ABEEREE®)

At 31 December 2019

R-B-AF+=A=t+—H

Laminates Properties Investments  Consolidated
EiER ES ®E FoRe)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET FAL BT
Assets BE
Segment assets PEEE 14255576 3889256 4739278 22,884,110
Unallocated assets ANl EE
- Deferred tax assets —REHBEE 3,076
— Taxation recoverable — AR E R 7,868
- Bank balances and cash —RITEHBEA S 2,908,117
Consolidated total assets HAEELE 25,803,171
Liabilities =t
Segment liabilities HEa’E (3,174,863) (255,726) - (3,430,589)
Unallocated liabilities Aoz EfE
— Bank borrowings —RITEE (2,945,264)
— Deferred tax liabilities —EEREAE (81,089)
— Taxation payable —JEGFRTE (597,150)
Consolidated total liabilities rEBBEeE (7,054,092)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and REER DRI LN 7 EBE S BL
allocating resources between segments: EIR
. all assets are allocated to operating segments other . BRELEHBEE - ATk
than deferred tax assets, taxation recoverable and B F I RIRITHE B &
bank balances and cash; and Wei  MEEESD
BLEEEnE &
. all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other . BRIRITEE - BLERE

BfE  BEMBAREN
BB FTBERESD

BEEEE DR

than bank borrowings, deferred tax liabilities, taxation
payable and dividend payable.

I ANNUAL REPORT 2020



141

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.
(c) Other information

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or
segment assets.

EEHEERERBRLAA

DEPEE @

(c) HtoHEH
BE-T-BF+=-A=+-H

Laminates
EREAR
HK$’000
TET
Capital additions BARIER 1,163,589
Depreciation of property, plant and %1% - iR kR E2ITE
equipment (567,245)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  {f FiEBEITE (10,760)
Loss on fair value changes of BRATEABENER
equity instruments at FVTPL TENTEESEE =
Loss on fair value changes of KEMELTELZE 2
investment properties &8 =
Gain on disposal of debt HERRNTFESAZ L
instruments at FVTOCI FENENERIAZ
Wiz =
Gain on disposal and written off of ~ H&E RMi#EME - BER
property, plant and equipment R W 2,439
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary  HE—FMHBEA R 2 Uz -
Reversal of allowance of inventories 77 & &% Bl 75,221
Net impairment loss reversed TE S EWEE AR 2
on trade receivables REEEFE 58,831
Interest income on bank FITEBRRIZE ZFE
balances and deposits WA 31,845

WLFE
DEBERH DA EENTEER
i
Properties  Investments Consolidated
LS RE RE
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THRT THRT THET
132,517 - 1,296,106
(13,454) (251) (580,950)
(3,128) - (13,888)
- (95,723) (95,723)
(742) - (742)
- 87,667 87,667
- - 2,439
27,642 - 27,642
- - 75,221
- - 58,831
811 1,764 34,420
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. ﬁ%ﬁﬁ*ﬂ(@)
(c)  Other information (continued) (c) HtEHRE
For the year ended 31 December 2019 gz2-E—-hhE+=-BA=+—8
WHFE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or DEfETmE D BEENTER
segment assets. ¥E
Laminates Properties Investments  Consolidated
BHER LS RE Foae)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET TET TET
Capital additions BARIER 780,278 280,658 - 1,060,936
Depreciation of property, W BEMEREZ
plant and equipment e (571,352) (19,283) (251) (590,886)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {FFEEETE (8,354) (3,432) - (11,786)
Gain on fair value changes of BAFEFTABER
equity instruments at FVTPL HRTANTEZH
Z W - - 7,643 7,643
Gain on fair value changes of REMENTEZE)
investment properties pal - 5,600 - 5,600
Gain on disposal of debt HEZRAFAERAEM
instruments at FVTOCI THNENEE IR
ZWE - - 99,465 99,465
Loss on disposal and written off of & RS - &
property, plant and equipment &2 B8 (10,498) - - (10,498)
Write-down of inventories WoRFE (96,279) - - (96,279)
Impairment loss on trade B SRR Z BB
receivables, net of reversal 1B (R EEE) (152,138) - - (152,138)
Interest income on bank RITERRIES 2
balances and deposits FLEWA 29,400 1,996 2,648 34,044

The Group operates principally in the PRC (country of
domicile).

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from
external customers by geographical location of the customers
or tenants or in the case of dividend income and interest
income, the principal place of business of the investee or
debtor.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

()

Other information (continued)

6.

BEHEERERERAA

DEE R )
(c) EHBERG

2020 2019

—ECEF —T-NF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FHT

The PRC (country of domicile) A (FTEEISR) 16,034,691 17,387,696
Other foreign countries: HExR

Other Asian countries N ETES 1,141,895 922 823

Europe BV 88,899 45,883

America =M 35,701 27,550

17,301,186 18,383,952

Revenue from one of the Group’s customers in laminates
segment amounted to HK$2,703,185,000 (2019:
HK$2,223,204,000), which individually accounted for over
10% of the Group’s revenue for the year.

The geographical analysis of the Group’s non-current assets,
other than deferred tax assets, equity instruments at FVTPL,
equity instruments at FVTOCI and debt instruments at FVTOCI
by location of assets is presented as follows:

REAEBEBEWREIR D S
Hp — RPN EEXEEAR
2,703,185,000 B L (ZF — N
F 1 2,223,204,000/%7T) * fHA
EERFENEEEBBI0% °

BRIERBIREE - BAVERA
BmiEaTH  mAFEFA
Hit2E RS TARIER
FEFT A M2 R ER T
Ao NEBIERBEEREE
HWEDIT2FAT

2020 2019

—B-%F —FNF

HK$°000 HK$’'000

FET FA&T

PRC (country of domicile) R (FTERIS) 6,332,370 5,738,517
Hong Kong B 427,757 448,238
United Kingdom HE 701,454 680,702
Thailand BB 255,585 286,145
7,717,166 7,153,602
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R R IR MIEE

7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 7.

HlA ~ s Rk EE

2020 2019
—=—?q5 :;—j‘LﬂE

HK$’000 HK$'000
TR THET

Other income, gains and losses includes:

HAWA - W MEREE

Government grants (Note) T BG (PR EE) 55,531 36,748
Interest income on bank balances and deposits #8748 RiE 4~ Fl BULA 34,420 34,044
Gain (loss) on disposal and written off of HERMEYE - BEREEZ

property, plant and equipment ez (B518) 2,439 (10,498)
Others Hit 27,098 (27,859)
Total #Et 119,488 32,435

Note:  During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognised
government grants of HK$1,117,000 (2019: nil) in respect of Covid-19-
related subsidies, of which HK$1,045,000 (2019: nil) relates to Employment
Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong government. The remaining
government grants are related to unemployment insurance premium
refunds, import of high technology products, development support and
support for stabilising employment received by the Group from relevant
government departments. There are no unfulfilled conditions attached to
these grants.

8. FINANCE COSTS

R

REEZT-_ZF+-_A=+—Hit
FE ZK%IEE%EECOWD 196K
FEEE1,117,000/8 T ( —E—h4E -
) HPEFEBBTRMESSEE
) IR S 7 B 1,045,00078 0 ( =& —

Fom) R THBAMAAREER
EABN I PIES MR ERBRERE
BFRNEREODIE  EFRXERE
ERETIR - KRETMRZSHUM NG
EHARERR -

B A A

2020 2019

—E-EF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAT

Interest on bank borrowings RITEEFE 80,860 145,901

Imputed interest on contract liabilities AHEEZIHERE 3,951 2,264

Interest on lease liabilities HEAEMNES 55 62
Less: Amounts capitalised in the construction ¥ : BT AR LIZHER L £ 58

in progress (4,281) (14,016)

Amounts capitalised in the properties FASEERMENERNM &5
held for development (3,951) (2,264)
76,634 131,947

Bank and other borrowing costs capitalised during the year include
imputed interest on contract liabilities of HK$3,951,000 (2019:
HK$2,264,000) as well as, bank borrowing costs arising from the
general borrowing pool which were calculated by applying a weighted
average capitalisation rate of 1.90% (2019: 2.92%) per annum to
expenditure on qualifying assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

9.

PR AR MY

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

EEHEERERBRLAA

FrEBiRAY

2020 2019
—EC-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FBT

The amount comprises: HIEBE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax B EASH 680,114 613,340
PRC LAT AR £ it I (E 89,946 207,568
Hong Kong Profits Tax FAEMER 5,040 3,842
Taxation arising in other jurisdiction Efth RLARE IR 2 118 4,541 2,139
Withholding tax in the PRC R EITEIRHE 78,152 85,567
857,793 912,456

Deferred taxation EEIE

Credit for the year (Note 19) AREFERRE(HIFE19) (3,108) (3,966)
854,685 908,490

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on EIT (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of
the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax of 5% to 10% is
imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by
subsidiaries in Mainland China from 1 January 2008 onwards.

The provision of LAT is estimated according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has
been levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, represented by the excess of sales
proceeds of properties over prescribed direct costs. Prescribed
direct costs are defined to include costs of land, development and
construction costs, as well as certain costs relating to the property
development. According to the State Administration of Taxation’s
official circulars, LAT shall be payable provisionally upon sales of
the properties, followed by final ascertainment of the gain at the
completion of the properties development.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

BRI EARKMBEEEMSBE]
(TRRAEFOAD REMRIGH - MEF
ERPEMBARZEEMEREEL
25% °

RIBEEMBIE B-ETN\F—A
—Hi2 - B B AP B X B P ERER
B BT S IR B9 BB 5% E 10% Y
LR ©

FHE L IRERBERIZEATETA
NRRANERMEE - REWRESEGR
BEYEEERATNEIEEEREKRA) A
REBIE30% 2 60%FEEH A + HIRE
B o FEEEBRMANTE BLUAA - 8
BEZBERA  REMBAREERRDN
KA - RRBEFZREBRZBETAE -
HEMERELHTINEER  JFE
BRSTRIES RS -

RZZE-—N\F=ZA=-+—H BB L
CEBTIZE—EFHBE(EE]) (F7
FOEPERJ(MEHEZR]) - ZEHE
HE|ATHEBHMERL - EERN-E
—NFZAZ+N\BEEXAEE
WX BEZTHRTZE - REFESHMAE
fl AEREBERNE 885
Hi81%8.25% T - MBB-E&EBT
BIFEBIBIZ16.5% - - N A NS
HRASINEERET RN BEBESR
16.5% 1 & 78 Bt R EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (ontinueq) 9.

The directors of the Company considered the amount involved
upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong
Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit
for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdiction is calculated at the rate prevailing
in the relevant jurisdiction.

Taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation
per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

B e

AABEERR  BHNGH ARSI
W RERRELR S M RAR L EE KR
1% - MEFENEENSHIRG R
s F#)16.6%5H -

Hitb BUEE &R E SN HIRIRAR DA
BRAINITHEE -

REZZRIAEGABRRRHADER
ZHERIAT

2020 2019
bt 553 —TNF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET BT
Profit before taxation R 5 B ) 3,662,665 3,317,220
Tax charge at the domestic income tax rate of A B A2 FTSH R 25%
25% (2019: 25%) (Note a) (ZZ—NF : 25%)([izta) 915,666 829,305
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax ~ NEJ I E B 2 B IS 2
purpose 18,914 79,064
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose 7B R Hizs 2 T iE s 28 (95,784) (77,597)
PRC LAT FR B+ IR (E R 89,946 207,568
Tax effect of PRC LAT PR 4 IR (E R 2 B TS s (22,487) (51,892)
Tax effect of Tax Concession (Note b) MISERZ TR E(Hizb) (50,057) (30,047)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AFHERTRIEEREZBGTE 18,771 21,071
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised &) A LAF R iR 2 Fi 1B 18 (54,900) (90,796)
Effect of withholding tax on dividend income R BRI BB A AR AR B A
from PRC subsidiaries BRANTRT 2 MG E 78,152 85,567
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMNEEER/ R EERN
operating in other jurisdiction/areas MEBARZ TRBERTE
other than the domestic income tax rate (BREAMBHEIN (3,731) (41,502)
Effect of tax exempted profit (Note c) BiEE% 2 28 (M) (39,805) (22,251)
Tax expense for the year REF 2 BRI 854,685 908,490

Notes: Bt eE

(@) The domestic income tax rate of 25% (2019: 25%) represents the (a) BRMEMSHRE2L%(ZT—AN
PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of which the Group’s operations are F 1 25%) BANEEKE D EEFER
substantially based. PR ESRHE -

(b) Pursuant to the EIT Law, a High-New Technology Enterprise shall be (b) RIBCEAERE - Bt E
entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15% for three years since it was officially HETARIBERRIA=FMN15%H
endorsed. Certain subsidiaries in the PRC obtained official endorsement as KIGH - ATHBENERAEE TR
a High-New Technology Enterprise (“Tax Concession”) and with the expiry REIEmeE(HEESR]) - 2/#8E
dates on or after 2021. RZT——Fhzig -

(© Profits arising from certain subsidiaries of the Company in Macau are (0) AABNIFSRPY 2 BT AR ATEL

exempted from profits tax.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 10.

F A=A

2020 2019
—E-FF —TNF

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TATT

F R A TR (FEA)
TOIBIRIRER

Profit for the year has been arrived at after
charging (crediting):

Auditor’s remuneration I EREMEN & 3,750 3,750
Cost of inventories sold BEEFE KA 12,398,265 13,177,071
Cost of properties sold EEME KA 271,134 696,956

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥  RE & B faiTE 580,950 590,886
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETNE 13,888 11,786
Direct operating expenses in relation to WEME T BEFLERT
investment properties 25,574 30,353
Net exchange loss [E 5 B8 558 95 57,011
Net impairment loss (reversed) recognised SREULE 5 S IERZ Y (#E)
on trade receivables RIEEE 5 (58,831) 162,138
Total staff costs, including directors’ BIRALRE  RIEESE
emoluments (Note 11) Bl (P5E11) 853,155 860,221
(Reversal of allowance) write-down of (BEREDMRTE -
inventories, included in cost of sales T ASHE KA (75,221) 96,279
11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11 T E =
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS A2 TREIRRA
(@) Directors’ and thef Executive’s emoluments (@) BERFHARNE
The emoluments paid or payable were as follows: D EA T e

2020 2019

—E-EfF —ZT—hF

HK$’000 HK$’000

F&x T

Fees we 1,188 1,188
Other emoluments: EAb S -

e REAER 15,940 16,612
RIEFIF B

Salaries and other benefits
Contributions to retirement benefits

scheme 829 828

Performance related incentive T VERIFAER 2B 8 (B
payment (Note i) &+ 73,400 70,874
Share-based payments VARR 1 FE 3R - 64,901
91,357 154,403
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Chief Executive’s emoluments

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung is also the Chief Executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the Chief Executive.

Neither the Chief Executive nor any of the Directors has
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

Employees’ emoluments
For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, all of the
five highest paid employees are Directors.

During both years, no emoluments were received or receivable
by the Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

As disclosed in Note 40, the Group entered into purchase and
sale transactions with its ultimate holding company and its
fellow subsidiaries. The price is to be determined and agreed
between the parties from time to time with reference to the
prevailing market price. Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung
Kwok Keung, Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, Mr. Lam Ka Po and
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho, the executive Directors, are interested
in these transactions to the extent that they have indirect
beneficial interests in the fellow subsidiaries. In addition, Mr.
Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping and Mr. Lam Ka Po have interests in the ultimate
holding company.

Save for the aforementioned transactions, no other significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts to which the
Company or the Group was a party and in which a director
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

12. DIVIDENDS

2

12.

2020
:g— =
HK$’000
FET
Dividends declared BEEIRRE
2020 Interim dividend of HK10.0 cents per ZECTFEzPERE
ordinary share G BA%10.0781L 312,000 -
2020 Special interim dividend of HK190.0 T -TEEZERIFREHRE
cents (2019: nil) per ordinary share A% BA%190.07811L
(ZE—hE &) 5,928,000 -
6,240,000 -
Dividends declared and paid B E Ik RIKER S
2019 Interim dividend of HK10.0 cents T ﬂifZ‘:F‘ HIpE B
FREEAZ10.07810 - 308,100
2019 Final dividend of HK30.0 cents ZE-NFEZRERE
(2018: HK35.0 cents) per ordinary share FREE BA%30.0/81L
(_5? N\ 35.0/8L) 924,300 1,078,350
2019 Special final dividend of HK40.0 cents ZE-NFHRIRERE
(2018: nil) per ordinary share TR BARA0EL
(ZE—N\F : &) 1,232,400 -
2,156,700 1,386,450
Dividends proposed EE*HX B
Proposed 2020 Final dividend of BT EEREARE
HK35.0 cents (2019: HK30.0 cents) per Hx“t@HXSS.O/%ﬂJJ
ordinary share (_ﬁ N+ 30.07811) 1,092,000 924,300
Proposed 2020 special final dividend of EE_Z _Eiﬁﬂlﬁi,ﬁﬁﬂﬁ%
HK15.0 cents (2019: HK40.0 cents) per B EmAR15.07%(0L
ordinary share (ZZ—NF : 40.081L) 468,000 1,232,400
1,560,000 2,156,700

EEgaMBE—_T-_TF+-A
=T BUEFERERARESRE
BAB35.08 (=T — N5 « REIKRE
ijtﬁﬂwo OB ML) B Bl R HAR B

The final dividend of HK35.0 cents per ordinary share amounted to
HK$1,092,000,000 in respect of the year ended 31 December 2020
(2019: final dividend of HK30.0 cents per ordinary share amounted
to HK$924,300,000 in respect of the year ended 31 December

2019) and special final dividend of HK15.0 cents per ordinary share BREER15.08WL(ZE— e %
amounted to HK$468,000,000 in respect of the year ended 31 AR EARR B S A% A% 40.0781L) -
December 2020 (2019: special final dividend of HK40.0 cents per H5 Bl A1,092,000, OOO/‘FSTE(%Z?:_aé

—NE+ZA=Z+—BLLEFE  KRE®
£.924,300,0007% 7T ) K 468,000,0007%

T(EEZZ-NAF+=ZA=1+—81
FE B RIRHEIR B1,232,400,000/%8
T) o MEARFFARD R IR SRR E
FERESHME - HAEE -

ordinary share amounted to HK$1,232,400,000 in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2019) have been proposed by the Directors and
are subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company in the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

—-=

—EEFIR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHmRRMEE
13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BERER
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable RANGIEFEANEEGIRER L EERF
to owners of the Company is based on the following data: BIHEEE
2020 2019
— 7 p— qE —_= _j_Lf'E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&T T4
Earnings for the purpose of calculating HEFRERAREEAT 2
basic and diluted earnings per share s 2,802,885 2,402,247

Number of shares

BAPEE
2020

—v—qu
’000
TR

Weighted average number of ordinary shares &R EARZ | 7 @ A% hnte

for the purpose of basic earnings per share FHE 3,092,792 3,081,000
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares EREESEEEE
arising from share options BEtE s Tmk e 8 38 -

Weighted average number of ordinary shares A% i 8 22 51| 7 & 3@ A% e

for the purpose of diluted earnings per share E e 3,092,830 3,081,000
As at 31 December 2019, the computation of diluted earnings per HE-_Z-NF+=-A=+—80" 8%
share did not assume the exercise of the Company’s share option EERF O EWEBRITRARNE
because the exercise price of these share options was higher than the i AAZEERENTEESN S
average market price for shares for 2019. T NFHHISTHERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

EEHEERERBRLAA

14, BEWYE

HK$°000
FET

FAIR VALUE AEE

At 1 January 2019 R-ZE—hF—A—H 1,387,842
Exchange adjustments TE 5 A (3,046)
Additions //J\\E 11,899
Gain on fair value changes N EZEUZS 5,600
At 31 December 2019 —hFE+—A=+—8 1,402,295
Exchange adjustments Rk 36,510
Loss on fair value changes NEZEETE (742)
At 31 December 2020 W-ZE-ZTF+-A=+—§H 1,438,063

The Group leases out various offices under operating leases with
rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for a fixed period of
1to 17 years (2019: 1 to 17 years).

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the
lease arrangement, as all leases are denominated in the respective
functional currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not
contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase
the property at the end of lease term.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 December
2020 had been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out by
Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited (2019: Ravia Global Appraisal
Advisory Limited), an independent qualified valuer not connected to
the Group. Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors. The valuation was determined
based on direct comparison method by reference to the market
observable transactions of similar properties and adjusted to reflect
conditions and locations of subject properties. There has been no
change from the valuation technique used in prior years.

In determining the fair value of the relevant properties, the
management of the Group determines the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.

The Group engages an independent valuer to perform its valuations.
The management of the Group works closely with the independent
valuer to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
to the model. The persons in charge of financial matters report the
management findings to the Directors every quarter to explain the
cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets and liabilities.

AEBRESLHASHAZEBHRAE
FRWEMES - HE—RENTF1E
1T7TFMEEAB(ZZE—NF 1217
F)e

ZIKE E & B E % B A& &SN NE R

% ARFIBHEANEEEREEEN
maggﬁ%u@ AT B IR ERER
% /A AR R E B EnRE
T o

AEBERENENR_ZT_ZTF+_A
=t RZAFETIREREE L EEE
$Z§%_L é“TNETEEﬁH%%iamHH
AHBERRF(ZF—NF  WERR
A ERARAR]) ETHECERE
B InQIRMGHERBHBRARRER
AEBMBEER - %ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁtﬂﬁi
SERUDEZ IBETISR AN
HEBARRBBEMEZRRA R ERE
E o RBEFEMAZ HERMIL R
o

REEHREMENRTE  SEEERE
RAFEFEETEENHERN RS
ANBUE

AEBZREBI(HEMGE SHRER
BB HEMEZ A - KRHIER
W2 BESERMRBABE - M5S
BEREABFRAESEREEEZE
B MAZENRABEAFERDZA
B o

—EoTasy I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq) 14, BEWHE =)

The Group’s investment properties were classified as Level 3 of the REBREMENR_Z_TFR_FT
fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2020 and 2019. —NFF+ZA=+—BBEAFE=LR
EREES =G

The following table gives information about how the fair values

of these investment properties are determined (in particular, the TRV SR EMENTLENETH
valuation technique and inputs used), as well as the fair value SE(E 2R e B E R M A 8UE)
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised AR A FET =i A BIE R A] #5278
(Level 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value EBATEHENDEZ A EEEERT
measurements is observable. (F—Z2=8) -

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement Fair value Valuation techniques Significant

of financial position hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity
FEEAGEHBMRREER  ATE
RAEZREME =) REXMREIEOABE EATTEEZRARE SR
Industrial properties in Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, using A significant increase in the price
Hong Kong method based on market ~ market direct comparable per square metre used would
observable transactions of  properties and taking into result in a significant increase in
similar properties adjusted  account location and other the fair value measurement of
timing of reference individual factors such asroad  the investment properties, and
transactions and property-  frontage, size of property etc.,  vice versa.
specific adjustments which is ranged from HK$41,273
including nature, location  to HK$43,025 (2019:
and conditions of the HK$40,979 to HK$42,988) per
property. square metre.
REBNIHNE E=R BEXETE RETS RATSERTHENERZRE STOKERKRASEEER

ERNENTEERS @ NEAKEMEARNERE (R BNENLFEFEANBLEA
HBERSGNRMETR HER MEXNNEINEER RZTA -

B OWEEMESTENR  ORER  NTEEHKRM,273%E

2 pEMENME -1 TE43,0258T(ZE—NE

B Rt 40,9798 T E42,98878 ) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (ontinued)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position
AEERGFEHBMRRE
REZREMF

Commercial properties in
Hong Kong

REBNEANE

Commercial properties in
Shanghai

RLEBNERNE

Fair value
hierarchy
AFE
=R

Level 3

Level 3

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

fEERTREEGAZE

Direct comparison
method based on market
observable transactions of
similar properties adjusted
timing of reference
transactions and property-
specific adjustments
including nature, location
and conditions of the

property.

HEREHTE  RETS
BROENTERRS
H2EXHHERETH
B YEHMERENE
¥ ENEOEE [
B QAR

Direct comparison
method based on market
observable transactions of
similar properties adjusted
timing of reference
transactions and property-
specific adjustments
including nature, location
and conditions of the

property.

BEREHTE  RETS
BROENTERRS
H2EXHHERETH
¥ Y{EHMERTENE
¥ GENEOEE [
BRAR

EEHEERERBRLAA

14, BEWE »

Significant
unobservable inputs

EXFUBRHAHE

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as

road frontage, size of property
etc., which is ranged from
HK$204,886 to HK$207,906
(2019: HK$204,351 to
HK$213,072) per square metre.

REAMBEETLENERER
L& AR EoAh 8 Bl =44 (0
HEE  MEXNS)NGTES
KER - NFEFHK204,886
AL E207,906 L (ZE—N

F 1 204,351 702213,072/8

) e

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as

road frontage, size of property
etc., which is ranged from
RMB29,989 to RMB30,024
(2019: RMB28,953 to
RMB32,008) per square metre.

RATMBEETLENERE

BAE U R E M ERRRE (0
BRAER  MEXN)S)NTTE
FREE  NTEEHFRARE
29,9897t E AR30,0247T( =
TN AR¥28953TEA
FR#32,0087T) °

Sensitivity

BRE

A significant increase in the price
per square metre used would
result in a significant increase in
the fair value measurement of
the investment properties, and
vice versa.

ST RBIAR LA EER
ENEHAFEHERRLT
RZith

A significant increase in the price
per square metre used would
result in a significant increase in
the fair value measurement of
the investment properties, and
vice versa.

S RBRAR SR
ENRAD A EAE LT
B2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R IR MIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position
AEERFEHBMRRE
REZREMF

Commercial properties in
Shenzhen

N R lEDEENERES

Commercial Shops in
Qingyuan

AR

2
i3
i

HR R A

I ANNUAL REPORT 2020

Fair value
hierarchy
AFE
£

Level 3

Level 3

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

fEERTREEGAZE

Direct comparison
method based on market
observable transactions of
similar properties adjusted
timing of reference
transactions and property-
specific adjustments
including nature, location
and conditions of the

property.

HEREHTE  RETS
BROMENTERERS
H2EXHHERETH
B Y{EHMERENE
¥ ENEOLE [
B QAR

Direct comparison
method based on market
observable transactions of
similar properties adjusted
timing of reference
transactions and property-
specific adjustments
including nature, location
and conditions of the

property.

HEREHTE  RETS
BROENTERRS
R2EXHHERETH
G (b E S0k
¥ RNEOEE [
BN

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

14, BEWE »

Significant
unobservable inputs

EXFUBRHAHE

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property etc.,
which is RMB14,846 (2019:
ranged from RMB13,750 to
RMB15,800) per square metre.

RAMBEETLENERE
BALE AR E AR RRE (0
BRATER - MEXN)S)NETE
FREE  BEBFRRARE
148467 (ZE—NEF : ARE
13,7507 2 AR #15,8007T) °

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property etc.,
which is RMB9,584 (2019:
ranged from RMB9,171 to
RMB10,909) per square metre.

RAMBEETLENERE
BAE R E AR REE (0
BRAER - MEXN)S)NETTE
FREE  BEBFRRARE
9,584TL( T~ : AR¥
9,171 TE ARH10,9097T) ©

Sensitivity

BRE

A significant increase in the price
per square metre used would
result in a significant increase in
the fair value measurement of
the investment properties, and
vice versa.

ST RBIAR LA EER
ENEHDFEHERRLT
B2

A significant increase in the price
per square metre used would
result in a significant increase in
the fair value measurement of
the investment properties, and
vice versa.

S RBRAR LI HE5R
ENRAD A EAE LT
R



157 BEHEERERERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continuedq) 14, BEWHE =

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement  Fair value Valuation techniques Significant

of financial position hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity
rEERGEHBMRRK  ATE
REZREMF 8 HEXMREIEBABE EATTREGARE BRE
Commercial properties in Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, using A significant increase in the price
London method based on market  market direct comparable per square metre used would
observable transactions of  properties and taking into result in a significant increase in
similar properties adjusted  account location and other the fair value measurement of
timing of reference individual factors such asroad  the investment properties, and
transactions and property-  frontage, size of property etc.,  vice versa.
specific adjustments which is Great British Pound
including nature, location ~ (“GBP”) 8,597 (2019: ranged
and conditions of the from GBP8,510 to GBP9,218)
property. per square metre.
ISEEEEERES E=R BEXEDE RETS RATSEETHENERZ  STHREBRAREFHEEER

BRMENTEER S  BUEBAREMENRER BENFOAFEEAEL
R2EXHNERETH BEBER NENDNET R2FA-

B UEEMERTENE  TIKER  BETIIKE 7R

B AENEOEE - B(CTNF 8510REE

B RN 9,218%4%) °

There was no transfer into or out of Level 3 during the year. FA - WEAE = ARREASNED -

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases REEARRES B RIS E W RIEL
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured EHARBEZMEYEER  HBFA
using the fair value model and are classified and accounted for as NEERKETE - W BERIEREY
investment properties. In estimating the fair value of the properties, ¥ o RAEFIMEZATER  MEZR
the highest and best use of the properties is their current use. There BhEERRAENAL - RBAFE
has been no change from the valuation technique used in prior years. Fr A 2 (R iR 2 B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

15. Y% - BMERRE

Property,
plant and
Furniture, equipment
Leasehold Plant and Licenced fixtures and Motor under
Buildings  improvements machinery assets  equipment vehicles Artwork  construction
e RE  GH 2B YR
B £ BERES EREE Rt hE g% BERRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén Tén TR Tén Tén TEn TR TER
(Note)
(k)
COsT A
At 1 January 2019 REE-NE-A-H 1,686,630 32,254 8,365,711 2,200,968 631,689 68,853 7,800 539,608 13,622,413
Exchange adjustments i3 (42,706) 8,010 (390,086) (48,108) (36,827) (1,808) (642) (9,583) (521,730)
Addftions HE - 142 242,714 1,030 16,668 1,288 12,274 419,201 693,317
Disposals and write off HERME - - (401,855) - (#4.473) 7,33 - (2.491) (456,153)
Reclassified from licenced assets EREFREEENIE 308465 - 1836271 (2153,8%0) - 9,154 - - -
Reclassffcations ENAE 33,20 - 431,304 - 18202 - - ¢87.712) -
At 31 December 2019 REE-NETZR=1-8 1,989,495 40,406 10,074,079 - 585,259 70,153 19432 459,023 13,237 847
Exchange adjustments Ef 5T 59,066 (55) 738,651 - 57,545 2,937 (046) 15,767 872,965
Addftions HE 5,461 30 662,222 - 21,517 1,946 - 435,093 1,126,329
Disposals and write off WE R - - (148,355) - (16,005) (2.613) - (1,569) (168,632)
Reclassfications BHN0E - 25 535,139 - 146,048 - - (681,412) -
At 31 December 2020 RZE=EF+2A=1-R 2,054,022 40606 11,861,736 - 794,334 72423 18,486 26902 15,008,509
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT HERAE
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NE-A-A 325,420 17518 5,863,436 1,997,957 453,293 4,077 - - 8,703,696
Exchange adustments Eiag (10816) 2733 (384,619) [63671) (13969) (1,729) - - (452,065)
Provided for the year KREERE 7308 2,985 500983 12,190 61477 5923 - - 590,886
Fiminated on disposals and wrte o~ \HEREEE T4 - - (335,594) - 41676) (7.263) - - (384,539)
Reclassified from licenced assets ERERRAEENIE 127,7% - 1830701 (1,966,476) - 8,040 - - -
At 31 December 2019 REE-NETZA=1-8 449,667 23231 7,474,907 - 459,131 51,048 - - 8,467,984
Exchange adjustments ErEE 12,99 147 499,788 - 33,853 221 - - 549,051
Provided for the year TFERE 46,206 3248 457442 - 68451 5583 - - 580,950
Eliminated on disposals and write ot~ (HEBF# - - (119,589) - (11,308) (2.490) - - (133,3686)
At 31 December 2020 REZSZFEZA=1-8 508,885 26,626 8,312,649 - 550,127 56,412 - - 9,464,599
CARRYING VALUE S
At 31 December 2020 i e = 1,545,137 13,980 3,549,187 - 244,201 16,011 18,486 226,902 5613910
At 31 December 2019 RF-AFTZA=1-H 1,539,828 7175 269,172 - 126,128 19,106 19432 45903 4779863
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15.

(continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment (other than artwork
and those under construction) are depreciated on a straight-line basis
after taking into account of their residual values at the following rates

per annum:

Buildings* Over the remaining unexpired
terms of the leases ranging
from twenty to fifty years

Leasehold improvements 10-20%

Plant and machinery* 10-20%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10-33"/5%

Motor vehicles* 20%

* Including those grouped under licenced assets in 2019 and reclassified to

appropriate categories in 2019.

EEHEERERBRLAA

W%~ BMERZE®

bz - BB RREEE (B2l Hm
REZBEBINBEBRBEBRILIA
THEELRABGEEFHRITE ¢

g “t+EER+E
TERREE
Gkt
HEMEEE 10 -20%
B K i 2s 10 -20%
R HBREME  10-331/:%
JRE 20%
. BENR-T—-NEHREEEREREE
AR - ZE—NEEHHF ARG
AR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e EmRMEE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - BERRZRE @

(continued)
Note: MEE
Licenced assets comprised of the following: RIEGAEEREATSIE :

Plant and Motor
Buildings machinery vehicles Total
BF B R MR RE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FHERT FTERT FET
COST BRA
At 1 January 2019 W-_Z—hE—HF—H 315,358 1,876,631 8,979 2,200,968
Exchange adjustments & 5 R (6,893) (41,019) (196) (48,108)
Additions RE - 659 371 1,080
Reclassification EFOME (308,465) (1,836,271) (9,154) (2,153,890)
At 31 December 2019 and 2020 RIE-—NER-T-TF
+=A=+— - - - -
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT EMRE
At 1 January 2019 RN-Z—NE—F—H 128,057 1,861,716 8,184 1,997,957
Exchange adjustments I& 5 % (2,799) (40,693) (179) (43,671)
Provided for the year NEERA 2,477 9,678 35 12,190
Reclassification EEibay (127,735) (1,830,701) (8,040) (1,966,476)

At 31 December 2019 and 2020

CARRYING VALUE BREE
At 31 December 2019 and 2020 RZTE—NFR=ZT-FF
+=-—A=1+— - - - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

15.

PR AR MY

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

On 3 August 2011, 30 August 2013 and 28 August 2015, a
subsidiary of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited (“KBCF” or the
“Licensor”) (KBCF is a subsidiary of the Group), entered into a licence
agreement and a letter of extension and amendments with Harvest
Resource Management Limited (the “Licencee”), a third party, to
licence KBCF’s copper foil manufacturing facilities located at Fogang
and Lianzhou to the Licencee for the period from 1 September 2011
to 31 August 2017. On 30 August 2017, the Licensor entered into a
letter of extension and amendments with Licencee and extended the
licence period for a further period of two years to 31 August 2019.
The details of the licence arrangement which remained unchanged,
were as follows:

(i) to use the leasehold properties, comprising factory buildings
in Fogang and Lianzhou;

(ii) to use, consume and dispose of the inventories which shall
include consumables and stocks in trade; and

(iii) to use the machinery, together with all other equipment and
facilities as from time to time located at the properties in
Fogang and Lianzhou.

The licenced property, plant and equipment tabulated above
and the licenced inventories were licenced for licence income of
HK$10,000,000 per month receivable in advance on the first day of
each and every calendar month, as a measure by KBCF to generate
income from the manufacturing facilities, pending the resolution of the
interested party transactions issue, relating to the manufacturing and
trading of copper foil, with the non-controlling shareholder of KBCF
(Note 37(b)) and the approval of the interested party transactions
mandated by the shareholders and/or when KBCF clinched new third
parties customers for the sales of copper foil.

The licence agreement between the Licensor and the Licencee had
been expired on 1 July 2019 and the Licensor had not entered any
letter of extension and amendments with the Licencee to extend
the licenced period. Accordingly, the licensed assets had been
reclassified to respective buildings, plant and machinery and motor
vehicles under property, plant and equipment during the year ended
31 December 2019.

15.

EEEERERERQT

YIZE ~ BB R &R

RZZE—FNA=ZH  ZE—Z=ZFN
A=tBR-_Z—HFENA-F+NB
EEIRESREARAR ([ &EHE %
[ A D) GEEIRE AR SEE B
AEDR B AT HEEERERR
RAEI(BE=TT) ([ EREAN T EE
5 AR R ET L — (0 A RS 7T 1
RNEBER_ZT—FNLA—BE=-ZT
—tFNA=+— B LR
A0 A SR SE A AR ) B N RO 8 SE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. EAEEE
Leasehold Office
land properties Total
WAEYE st
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET

B+
HK$’000
TR

As at 31 December 2020 R-B-ZBHF+=-A=+—H

Carrying amount BREE 565,487 2,267 567,754
As at 31 December 2019 R-E—-AF+=-A=+—H
Carrying amount BRTE(E 571,593 1,418 573,011
For the year ended 31 December HZEZE_-_ZE_Zf+_-_HF=+—H

2020 IEFE
Depreciation for the year AEZHTE 13,316 572 13,888
For the year ended 31 December #HEZE—-ZE—hFE+=HA=+—H

2019 LFE
Depreciation for the year REEHE 11,228 558 11,786

2020 2019

—B-%F —TNF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FH&T

Expense relating to short-term leases 55 AT EARRAM B 2 332 339
Total cash outflow for leases HERS LA 37,297 79,823
Additions to right-of-use assets CREEERE 37,670 87,211

MEFES  ARBEREXKEEHE

For both years, the Group leases various leasehold land and office

properties for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for
fixed term of 1 year to 50 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length
of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of
a contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office
properties. As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the portfolio of short-
term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the
short-term lease expense disclosed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

16 RIGHT'OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$2,324,000 (2019: HK$1,450,000)
are recognised with related right-of-use assets of HK$2,267,000
(2019: HK$1,418,000) as at 31 December 2020. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets
may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

17. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

16.

EEHEERERBRLAA

FERAEEE®

TRE PR I &

o RZZ—hF+=A=+—81 "
ERRNEE A E2,324,0008 (=
Z— NLF 11,450,000 7T ) JHEL{E A
& E2,267,0008 T (T —NF :
1,418,000/ 70 ) B - HEHZE I i
MEARE  EEHEABEHELSEDN
HIRERSBR N - FHEEETBIEE TR
A

BEAFEFABZ &
w=TH

2020 2019
—EEF —E—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
BAFEFABRZSHME
Financial assets measured at FVTPL: 3

Listed securities listed in Hong Kong REE Tz FTHES 865,487 381,534

Analysed for reporting purposes as: BREREMANA
— Current assets —mEEE 776,904 5,442
— Non-current assets —EREEE 88,583 376,092
865,487 381,534

For those financial assets measured at FVTPL of which the HREATEFABEZEREE &

management’s intention is to hold at short-term trading purpose are
classified as current assets. The remaining financial assets measured
at FVTPL which are held for long-term investment purpose are
classified as non-current assets.

At 31 December 2020, the fair values of the listed securities held by
the Group, determined by reference to the quoted market bid prices
available, amounted to HK$865,487,000 (2019: HK$381,534,000).

EERNEHZSRENZEREES
BRRBEE - AR ATEFAERR
ZEREE  UWRHKREBNMIHEE
AIDBRIFRBEE -

RZZE_ZEF+=-ZA=+—H K
SEMBILELTEENAFENE
865,487,000 % 7T ( = & — 1L F
381,534,000 7T) * &R H2RAE
2B ARERET o

—EoTasy I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e EmRMEE

18. DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 18. BRAFEFAREMEE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE ik

INCOME
—E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FBT
Listed bond securities, at fair value: EHESHES - RAFE -
— listed on the Stock Exchange and issued — BB LEWEITABITER
by listed issuers in Hong Kong with fixed BERFT LT - ABF
coupon interests 9.85% per annum and Bo. 85@2.;?3‘% B
maturity date on 26 November 2020 WHRZEZEF+—A
—+7xB3H - 791,630
— listed on the SGX and issued by listed issuers — BB LMEITABITILR
in Hong Kong with fixed coupon interests MRFrLET  BEBFER
ranging from 5.50% to 10.00% M F5.50/F £10.00/F
(2019: 4.75% to 8.875%) per annum and (ZE—NF : 4752
maturity date from 27 September 2021 to 88752 ) 2 EE R
3 March 2025 (2019: from 29 March 2020 to BN E-—FN
27 January 2024) A-+tBE=-Z—-FH
F=H=H E'JE@(:;?
_j-l-rfﬁ — ? —= £ﬁ —
A-thBE=-Z_N
F—HA=-++HHRH) 759,971 3,559,196
759,971 4,350,826
Analysed for reporting purposes as: BREREMANA
— Current assets —REEE 148,740 791,630
- Non-current assets —JERBEE 611,231 3,559,196
759,971 4,350,826
At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the fair values of the listed bond RZEBE_ZER_ZF-HNLE+A
securities are determined by reference to the valuation based on =+—8  EWEFESFNATFELZ
quoted market bid prices at the end of each reporting period. BEREHARNEAREETE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

18. DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 18. BRAFEFAREMEE
#

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Wi 2 EHK T R
|NCOME (continued)

The investments in listed bonds are held by the Group within a HIFmEFOHREYBAEAEENRENAR
business model whose objective is both to collect their contractual WAL BAS RS REERSHNFE
cash flows which are solely payments of principal and interest on MRzaRReREAREEZS SR
the principal amount outstanding and to sell these financial assets. BEMEBEARNAEAE - At - $E
Hence, the investments in listed bonds are classified as at FVTOCI. MEFNREDERLAFEF AR
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 34. 2EE o BEFHEFFIBENHFESS
Included in debt instruments at FVTOCI are the following amounts BAHEAREERRE 2 EBTA
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the BRERTINEEERIEE 2 BN
group entities in which they are held: INEEEEHE 2 R

2020 2019
—E-FF —TNF

HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TET

United States Dollar (US$) EV(E)) 759,971 4,350,826

— T TR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

19. DEFERRED TAXATION 19.

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior
reporting period:

IEFERIH

THRARRERHEBTEREHHENE
WeR2 + BRATBUAR (B LA R
2 B

Fair value
change of
investment Revaluation
properties of properties Others Total
REWPEZ
AR EEE YEEM Hith st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THERT THET FHET
At 1 January 2019 RZZE—NF—HA—H (9,577) (76,436) 4,034 (81,979)
Credit to consolidated FFARAERER
statement of profit or loss - 3,057 909 3,966
At 31 December 2019 R-ZT—hF+=A
=+—H (9,577) (73,379) 4,943 (78,013)
Credit to consolidated SFAGZEEBER
statement of profit or loss - 3,057 51 3,108
At 31 December 2020 N—ZE—ZTE+—F
=+—H (9,577) (70,322) 4,994 (74,905)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial
reporting purposes:

VAT 8051 753 54 75 B i 1 A S 2 R SE A IR
R

2020 2019

—g-®F -—T-AF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHxT FAT

Deferred tax assets FEIER IR E B 3,190 3,076
Deferred tax liabilities EEBIEEE (78,095) (81,089)
(74,905) (78,013)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of approximately HK$23,615,000 (2019: HK$168,131,000) available
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. All tax
losses will be expired gradually within five years to year 2025 (2019:
year 2024).

I ANNUAL REPORT 2020

R EEBEAERER  AEEH#
BIARRZMN 2 AKBATIEEIEA
#923,615,000 % 7t (=T — L F -
168,131,000 7T ) © F A K o0& F 7
EFEA - O R AR E R IE S
E-2RREBEBERNAFANELE
HEZE-ZT-_RF(ZT—NF: =%
ZPO4F) e



167

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

19. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1
January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided
for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary
differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC
subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

20. GOODWILL

19.

20.

BEHEERERERAA

IEFER I8 (1)

REFECEMERE  B-FFT/N\F
—A—BiE - BRET B E QTR
BNE IR RS RMATAINE - ARA
SEAEGBEER TR BE - m
FRTRMEZENT AR ZHRT S5
O - UL R ER A B I R At T B
ME ARz RFDENIPTRIG 2 Rt ZE
HEM BB IBIEL B -

Gk

HK$'000
TET

CARRYING VALUE
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and
31 December 2020

fRME(E

RZF-NF—A—H ZF-NAF+ZA
=t BR=ZZT-_TFF+-_A=+—H 238

21. INVENTORIES

21.

7E

2020 2019

—ECEF —T—NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT THT

Raw materials Bl 1,182,991 915,236
Work in progress TR 353,427 427,948
Finished goods BIRK @ 202,688 475,507
1,739,106 1,818,691

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the net reversal of
allowance of inventories amounting to approximately HK$75,221,000
(2019: write down of HK$96,279,000) had been recognised and
included in cost of sales, as certain slow-moving raw materials were
subsequently utilised for production and inventories were sold at price
higher than cost.

HE-_Z-_ZF+-_A=+—HILF
o BHERWT AEERNAINTFERE
@ BFEE 475,221,000 T (ZZE— N
& JUR96,279,0008 L) RERE
FRE SR RMEHE R T AR EE -
BEEUERKEHERTEES -

—EoTasy I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERRME
22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22 EGRHMEWERARR
AND PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS ENZEREREE
RECEIVABLES
—E-EF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET T
Trade receivables Z 2 MR K 4,491,454 4,222,258
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EEEERE (579,750) (603,257)
Trade receivables, net B S REWER - F5 3,911,704 3,619,001
Advance to suppliers TR FE R 0B 350,161 203,997
Prepaid expenses and deposits TERHAX kiEe 193,758 112,547
Value-added tax (“VAT”) recoverable ] R [BI(ER ([ ER ) 203,561 208,155
Other receivables Hith lE U BRFX 84,730 92,956
4,743,914 4,236,656
Bills receivables FEWER 3,507,802 2,844,205
8,251,716 7,080,861
As at 1 January 2019, the gross amount of trade receivables from R_ZE—hNF—A—H RKEEFAEH
contracts with customers amounted to HK$3,758,054,000 with 8 & 5 FE U5 AR 7% 48 {8 73 3,758,054,000
allowance for credit losses of HK$464,486,000. BT E B BB 75 464,486,000
7T|: °
The Group allows credit periods of up to 120 days (2019: 120 days), rEBGTESEPZEEHRERA
depending on the products sold to its trade customers. The following 1208 (=ZZ—NF : 120R) » 2T
is an aging analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for credit EEMME - RBEHEERAL - &
losses based on invoice date at the end of the reporting period: HREEEERERE  BEHRKERZ

RICENBZEAHOIOT

2020 2019

—E-BF —E-NEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

0-90 days 0£290H 3,298,866 2,664,212
91-180 days 91£180H 572,483 912,064
Over 180 days 180H A E 40,355 42,725
3,911,704 3,619,001
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. B R

AND PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS
RECEIVABLES

continued)

Bills receivables of the Group are all aged within 0-90 days (2019:
0-90 days) since invoice date at the end of the reporting period. All
bills received by the Group are with a maturity period of less than one
year.

As at 31 December 2020, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$709,736,000 (2019: HK$592,478,000) which are past due as
at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances, HK$66,677,000
(2019: HK$71,914,000) which has been past due over 90 days or
more and is not considered as in default based on good repayment
records for those customers. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables and
bills receivables for these year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019
are set out in note 34(b).

Included in trade and other receivables and bills receivables are
the following amounts denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the group entities to which they relate:

Uss$ =TT
HK$ BIT

AEBERREMRES RS LEDHEEE
BZREDRERAHEFOE0R
(2019%F : 0-90H) A » AKBE U FT
ERBEHAR—FREH -

AZEZEF+_A=+—8 £5H
WE S REREFEHBEENREBHE
780 2 HY BR TE 48 {2 709,736,000 7T ( —
T — AL 5 : 592,478,000 7T ) Y FE Ut

AR - BARAE SR E F + 66,677,000/8 7T

_ﬁ FLEE + 71,914,000/ 7T ) 2 ¥ 57
QORI L  ERIBEZERFPRITHE
FEER - MEIERI ARG REY - A%
B ERZ S A B T WIERS -

H=E ZZEFRZTE-NEF+ZA
=t— Eutir; B 5 K H e AR 3K
LA U = R R E RS sHIB SR M 7
34(p) °

B REMBEERREREEBET
JINEEERAR 2SR AN ES
FHEZHEE

2020 2019
—g-®F  -T-nF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
406,350 193,376
363,255 368,695

-

—E-TEFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

23. PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT 23, 5% REY%

Movements of properties held for development are as follows: FEEMEEEBNOT

HK$’'000

FAxT

At 1 January 2019 RZZE—hF—A—H 2,134,666
Exchange adjustments T W % (39,225)
Additions INE 268,509
Transfer to cost of sales R HEM A (696,956)
At 31 December 2019 R-E—NF+-_A=+—H 1,666,994
Exchange adjustments & H FE 85,452
Additions NE 132,107
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 33) HE—RWB AR (MFE33) (186,195)
Transfer to cost of sales EEHERA (271,134)
At 31 December 2020 MN-E-TF+-_A=+—H 1,427,224

Analysis of leasehold lands included in properties held for 5 A 2R ¥ MFAL + b8

development is set out below: DT
As at 31 December 2019 R-FB-hAFE+=A=+—H
Carrying amount BRTEE 840,666
As at 31 December 2020 R-—E2-_FE+-A=+—H
Carrying amount BRME(E 603,042
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

23. PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT 23. Z&EW#* »)

(continued)

Total cash outflow Rentess
Additions NE

2020 2019
—EEH —ZT—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T

- 16,514

- 16,514

Properties held for development are situated in the PRC with medium-
term leases and are stated at cost at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

The carrying amount of leasehold lands is measured at cost less
any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
residual values are determined as the estimated disposal value of the
leasehold land component. No depreciation charge is made on the
leasehold lands taking into account the estimated residual values as
at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, properties held for
development with carrying amount of approximately HK$271,134,000
(2019: HK$696,956,000) were completed and sold to third parties.
The remaining balance as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 was
related to properties that were still under development.

In the opinion of the Directors, the properties held for development
were classified as current assets as the properties were held for sale
upon completion of construction within the Group’s normal operating
cycle.

FERYEMNATHEOFENHE
T YR T ?i& T-hEF
T A=+ —BUEASIER

A £ 3t B9 AR TE B R PR AR AR R EHT
ENEARERETE - SREREO LT
AR Z HEHEEEERE o &5
AZE-_ZHE+_A=+—HM_%
—NF+ZA=+—BE8EHSRE - T
SR T HEHRITE -

HE-_Z-ZH+-A=+—HILF
g - BRE{E#271,134,0008 T (==
— L4 : 696,956,000 7T ) Z R Y
EERIETFE=F  -RZT_TFR
ZE-NAF+ A=+ HZHEHED
FERMESRR -

EERRTERMENBRARDEE
THREREEN TS EERE  $8
ZEMENBENRNTIRRIEHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

24. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) FELLOW 24, BEW(F)BZRKHEB AT

SUBSIDIARIES =18

2020 2019

—E-EfF —ZT—hF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET T

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries FEU R RM B A R RIA

— trade nature —Z51HE 693,081 424,684
The Group allows credit periods normally up to 120 days for sales KEBRBELRTHRREMNB AR ZE
to its fellow subsidiaries. The amounts due are non-interest bearing, BEH—MEREA1208 - ZEEMNFE
unsecured, aged within 90 days and are not past due at the end of AR B MEER  ERRYAREHM
the reporting period. HEREHRMOEZABERNRERER

B 1 AR B HA o

2020 2019

—E-EF —ENF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FEx T

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries FER R RM B A RIRIA

— trade nature —EB54%E 47,582 47,203
The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries have repayment terms of less JENR R A R ZIB 2 B EA 30
than 30 days. The amounts due are non-interest bearing, unsecured H - ZERNFIBREELEEAR - H
and aged within 90 days at the end of the reporting period. BRIRYT AHRE HMARE B-EMNOA Y

A o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHwRRMEE
P
25. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 25. IRITHEBRKRIES
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group. At 31 RITEB LIRS EAEERZE
December 2020, the Group’s bank balances carry interest at the L RZEBE-FTF+-_/A=+—H &K
prevailing market interest rates which range from 0.01% to 0.9% EBPITHEBBERITMSFERNENT
(2019: 0.01% to 0.9%) per annum. 0.01EZE09E(ZZT—NF : 0.01EE
0.9 )&tE °
At 31 December 2020, the Group had bank balances and cash that R-ZE_ETEF+_-_HA=+—H K
were not freely convertible or were subject to exchange controls EBETA AR HBRAS D HINE
in the PRC amounted to approximately HK$2,548,321,000 (2019: EHIFTRREZIETEBR LIRS A
HK$2,251,837,000). 2,5648,321,000 B L (=& — L F
2,251,837,000/87T)
Included in bank balances and cash are the following amounts FITRSRIES I T A EE T2
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the B2 Thae B ASNE ME S HE 2 AR

group entities to which they relate:

2020 2019

33 —ENEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET T

Uss E7T 336,531 228,707
HK$ BT 62,663 407,691
GBP FaE 2,831 13,946
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT

LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables and bills payables

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

26. E5 K H BN ARARR

B REMENRRRENRE

2020 2019

—EB-EfF —E—NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAxT

Trade payables B SRR 1,005,225 1,231,111

Accrued expenses JEIRE A 508,512 510,884
Payables for acquisition of property, plant and BEWE  BEMREZ

equipment FETER K 159,175 142,351

Other tax payables HAFENTLIA 649,342 528,770

VAT payables FEFTIEER 155,328 174,312

LAT payables FERT T IR (ETS 43,238 182,863

Other payables E b FETRR R 256,876 149,991

2,777,696 2,920,282

Bills payables (Note) FERT SRR (P EE) 347,631 272,604

3,125,327 3,192,886

Note: Included in bills payables as at 31 December 2020 was payables for
acquisition of property, plant and equipment of HK$18,420,000 (2019:
HK$1,379,000).

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables based on the
invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

M RELE-Z-ZF+-_A=1+—HHE
Z=EF - £1518,420,0008 T (=%
— N 1,379,000/ L) BEE W
B S st o

B S RNEFREER RN REBRHE
RBRERZREOITT

2020 2019

—g-®5  —T-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHRT FBT

0-90 days 0%90H 855,324 1,172,366
91-180 days 912180H 73,474 20,682
Over 180 days 180H A £ 76,427 38,063
1,005,225 1,231,111
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 26. E5 R EMENIER
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT ENEERENERE
LIABILITIES (continued)

BERHAMENRRARENRE
(&)

BEERNTHEEMRIOA(ZZ
—h%F : 90R) - AEERTHBRER
EEPRBRMERNERNEREHA

£
I%D/ﬁ °

Trade and other payables and bills payables (continued)

The average credit period on purchase of goods is 90 days (2019: 90
days). The Group has financial risk management policies in place to
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit time frame.

Bills payables of the Group are aged within 90 days (2019: 90 days)
at the end of the reporting period.

AEBEMER KRR QREHREE
RIEMWOH(ZF—NF : 90H)ZA °

Included in trade and other payables and bills payables are the
following amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional

B NEMENRALENRBERET
IR EERER MREE R UG

currency of the group entities to which they relate: HEZREE
2020 2019
== —T-hE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T
us$ ET 951,133 437,066
HK$ BT 225,402 18,400
Japanese Yen (“JPY”) HE(TBE]) 60,343 9,209

Contract liabilities

BNEE

2020 2019

—ECERF —T-NF

HK$°000 HK$’'000

FHET FAT

Sales of properties VI HE 404,720 117,452
Sales of glass epoxy laminates, paper laminates HERE WA IR

and upstream materials MBI E AR & LRkt 212,584 71,598

617,304 189,050

As at 1 January 2019, contract liabilities amounted to RZE-—NF—A—H GHEESHE
HK$1,049,071,000. #£1,049,071,0007 7T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 2. EEREMENERR
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT EREERESHNER .
LIABILITIES (continued)

Contract liabilities (continued) BREEWE

Contract liabilities arising from sales of properties as at 31 December R _ZTFELK_ZT—AF+_-A
2020 and 2019 are expected to be realised within one to two years =+—0  HEMENENEBEBNIE
at the end of the reporting period. The entire amount of contract EHIREA —EMERETR - R-T—
liabilities arising from sales of glass epoxy laminates, paper laminates BEN_E-NE+-A=+—8
and upstream materials as at 31 December 2020 and 2019, are ERGWHEAEEIRNER - AEIRNEIR
expected to be realised within one year at the end of the reporting K EBROEA B ERETERE SR
period. HHRBIT—FRER o

The following table sets out the revenue recognised in the current year REER-_ZT—IhF+-A=1+—"8xK
relating to contract liabilities at 31 December 2019 and 31 December —E-)\Ft+_A=t+—HMENERE
2018. R L EERIIWT -

Sales of glass
epoxy laminates,
paper laminates

Sales of and upstream
properties materials
SHEREIWE
HEBEIPEAR
A IFEAR R
YIEHE Eist
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FH&xT
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZE-_T-_ZTH+_-H
=+—HILFE
Revenue recognised that was included in the FAZZE-NAEFE+A
contract liability balance at 31 December 2019  =-+—HA LB EHREN
EHERE R 11,078 71,598
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-_Z—-hE+=A8
=+—BLHFE
Revenue recognised that was included in the HAZZE—NF+_A
contract liability balance at 31 December 2018  =+—HAXBEHERN
EER L 941,797 107,274
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Contract liabilities (continued)
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

Sales of properties

The Group typically receives a 30% to 50% of the contract
value as deposits from customers on entering of a sale
and purchase agreement of properties and will receive the
remaining contracted sum prior to customers obtaining
control of the respective properties. The deposits and
advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities being
recognised throughout the property construction period until
the customer obtains control of the completed property.

In addition, the Group considers the advance payment
schemes contain significant financing component and
accordingly the amount of consideration is adjusted for the
effects of the time value of money taking into consideration
the credit characteristics of the relevant group entities. As
this accrual increases the amount of the contract liability
during the period of construction, it increases the amount of
revenue recognised when control of the completed property is
transferred to the customer.

Sales of glass epoxy laminates, paper laminates and upstream
materials

When the Group receives a deposit before the production
activity commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised when
control of the goods has transferred, being when the goods
have been delivered. The Group typically receives a 30% to
50% deposit on acceptance of manufacturing orders.

26.

EEHEERERBRLAA

BREEWE
HUMNRERECERNENAESE
RN

. MEHE

AEBRITZMEEE AR A
EPWEMEER A HEME30%E
50%MiEE - WtEFESHER
W) ZEROFE BIRE RTUCER B T A #05K
B o B RIAN IR SIEHE
BYEREPEERENEE
HEEFESKRITY) e G
ALk

UEoh - REER A - B RIEER
EHAEARENS - At K
BeREERARSEERENE
ERELSRR RENF EED
FEE o ST IRIE IR L
BHANEREDRE  ERIVE
MR EEEERPRINEME
ERWERBETHE -

. HERABBAEERER - A
E AR K Lokt

AN E G A AR EN R 1A BTUER
e iR E0RBRERE
NEE EREEEWITHIE
(BN EY 2 ) R E %R
BlE o AEBEREREERIER]
B UEIB0% E50%1E % -

—EoEssy I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHmRRMEE
27. LEASE LIABILITIES 27. HEAE
2020 2019
b b 223 —T-NE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
Lease liabilities payable: EAHEERE
Within one year —FR 553 549
Within a period of more than one year —F A BT BB E
but not more than two years 195 4
Within a period of more than two years RF A FBT BB R F
but not more than five years 649 16
Within a period of more than five years BBEAF 927 881
2,324 1,450
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months & : eV B EFR12(8 A R E
shown under current liabilities HEEmE (553) (549)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown JESREN & ETR 1218 A 14 5 H7
under non-current liabilities EEREEE 1,771 901
No extension options are included in any of the lease agreements NS B ET ST B B A T A S A P (] A
entered by the Group. The weighted average incremental borrowing HREg AHESEEREANTY
rates applied by the relevant group entities range from 2.33% to 4.75% IR EEFENT2.33EE4.75E
(2019: 2.56% to 4.75%). These lease liabilities were measured at the (ZZ2—NF : 2562 E4.75[F) - %F
present value of the lease payments that are not yet paid. HEafERm AT NHEENRORER
Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies which are same MEEAAEEHASEEREEER
as the functional currencies of the relevant group entities. RKE’ESIE -

I ANNUAL REPORT 2020



179 EEHEERERBRLAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

28. BANK BORROWINGS 28. $RITEE

2020 2019
SE-EHF —ZT-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FH&T FHET
Unsecured EBIER
Bank loans IRITE K 1,153,846 2,609,423
Trust receipt loans EFUUEE R - 335,841
1,153,846 2,945,264
Carrying amount repayable*: AR T FI B (EE 2 BRE(E™
Within one year —FR 923,077 1,268,918
More than one year, but not more than two years ~ —%E A _H{E T EBBME 230,769 933,077
More than two years but not more than three years LA BT BB =4 - 740,769
More than three years but not more than five years =4 _F{ET BB R E - 2,500
1,153,846 2,945,264
The carrying amounts of bank loans that B 75 ZE A 1 BB (B R RO 155K A0
contain a repayment on demand clause RITEERAEG ARE
(shown under current liabilities) but repayable: BE)EERATHMES
Within one year —F R - 10,000
More than one year, but not more than two years ~ —%E A _HBT BB E = 10,000
More than two years but not more than three years LA _F{E T BB =4 - 10,000
More than three years but not more than five years =% BT BB T E - 2,500
- 32,500
Carrying amount repayable within one year A4 B B E SR BB AT i
without repayment on demand clause BN —FREMNREREE 923,077 1,258,918
Amounts due within one year shown R—FREE 2 50 -
under current liabilities YAREEE 923,077 1,291,418
Add: Amounts shown under non-current B AEEREAE L IE
liabilities 230,769 1,653,846
1,153,846 2,045,264
* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in * RER SR AN R E R R ENNTEE
the respective loan agreements, except certain amount of bank term loan BB EISIIR - M A232,500,0007 7T
amounting to HK$32,500,000 originally scheduled to settle in March 2022, REER-Z-_F=-AEENETIR
was early repaid in 2019. TEHERMRIN - NLFEER
ﬁq|\ °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R IR MIEE

28. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the bank borrowing is a variable-rate
borrowing which carries interest of “HIBOR” + 1.02% (2019: ranging
from HIBOR + 1.02% to HIBOR + 1.5%) per annum.

The range of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s bank borrowings is 1.25%
(2019: 2.02% to 4.17%) per annum.

29. SHARE CAPITAL

29.

28.

BITEE

RZZ-ZF+=-A=+—8 - 878
BAEZEEE  FEXABBHBRITRAE
FWEIM.2EB(ZZE—NF : THREE
RITRIZEREINI.02EEFBRITRE
eI 5ERS) -

REBMRITEEZBERFE(BERD
STHNEKR)BEB125E(ZE—NE
202BFEAATE) -

e

Number of
Number of Issued and
Authorised fully paid
shares Amount shares Amount
EETR
SERE E8R
RHEEE x| I3 EE x|
‘000 HK$°000 ‘000 HK$’000
T8 FTHET T FHET
Ordinary shares of BREEA0BILZER
HK$0.10 each: %
At 1 January 2019, RZZE—NF—A—H- =
31 December 2019, =— j‘L¢+ A E-I— |
and 1 January 2020 E—ZFE-TF—H— 20,000,000 2,000,000 3,081,000 308,100
Exercise of share T g AR (M97E31)
options (note 31) - - 39,000 3,900
At 31 December 2020 RZZE_ZF+_A
=+—H 20,000,000 2,000,000 3,120,000 312,000

All shares issued rank pari passu with the then existing shares in issue

in all respects.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

30. SPECIAL RESERVE

Special reserve of the Group represents (i) the difference between the
net asset value of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of
the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the
group reorganisation in 2006; and (i) the reduction in the registered

capital of a wholly-owned subsidiary established in the PRC.

31. SHARE OPTIONS

The share option scheme of Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited
(“KLHL") (2017 KLHL Scheme”) was approved by the shareholders
of KLHL and the shareholders of KHL on 29 May 2017, and the
2017 KLHL Scheme took effect upon obtaining approval from the
Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange on 2 November 2017.
The purpose of the 2017 KLHL Scheme is to provide incentive or
reward to the eligible participants of the 2017 KLHL Scheme (as listed
below) for their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the

interests of the Group.

The 2017 KLHL Scheme is valid for a period of ten years, which is
expiring in 2027 and with a remaining life of approximately 6 years.
The Board may, at its discretion, grant options to subscribe for
shares in the Company to (i) eligible participants who contribute to
the long-term growth and profitability of the Company and include
any employee or proposed employee (whether full-time or part-
time and including any executive director), consultants or advisers
of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any entity (“Invested
Entity”) in which the Group holds an equity interest; (ii) any non-
executive directors (including independent non-executive directors)
of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; (i) any
supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (iv) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;
(v) any person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group or any Invested Entity; and (vi) any

shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity.

30.

31.

EEHEERERBRLF

155l

REE 2 FRIFEE AR ENE AR
ZEEFEENR _TTNFHITEEE
ErRF AUIEM BT AR BN EER
HEZBERNEE i) —BERFRERZH
2EMB AT EMEDR -

Bk

BEEERIERERAB([ZEEE
R MBS ( — T~ F@EE
EBiRsAEDER=_TE—+FHRA=TAH
HEEEEERER R E S ERR I
o M B FEEEE R8N E
BB EMZEGHAERN -_F—t
Fr—AZRER - —T—LFEEE
BRI EIH0RRIL B N BR) S EE R —
T-LFRERERTENAERSH
(TR iR AR B R F s A
BRIRISES N -

Rt FEEEERGE B AR
SR AR TF BN Tt F
fE@m BTEHANF BB
M)A BR2EER T AIRBARBK
Dz ERE  ABERZBEATAEAR
AREERNMAFIEERMZAL - 81
ARE] - EEMK B AR S E A AREE
HEREER TR ENRERE
B(TwmaBm B eETMuiiT
EE) FREMSNBER (VEAAR
A] ~ AR EMEAT B B A B Sk R IR
BEEIEYPTES(BEBLIENTE
%) (i) ERmAEEERKE ATk
FREEEERREHE RRES 2 HRE
(V)N ESE RIS E RS
BE (WERAREESRERFEEEE
BRIRLIASE - MR HMBEMZEZA
TR ERE  R(vi)AREBIMKE QR
FRWIEEERE 2 FRARE -

—Z-THE4R I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

31. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

The exercise price of the Company’s share in respect of any option
granted under the 2017 KLHL Scheme was determined with
reference to the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option, which must be a business dayj; (i)
the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (iii)
the nominal value of the shares of the Company. For details, please

refer to the announcement of the Company dated 3 April 2019.

The option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days from
the date of the offer for the grant of the option upon the payment of
a consideration of HK$1. An option may be exercised at any time
during a period to be determined and notified by the Directors to each
grantee, and in the absence of such determination, from the date
upon which the offer for the grant of the option is accepted but shall
end in any event not later than ten years from the date of grant of
the option subject to the provisions for early termination thereof. The
Directors may, at their absolute discretion, fix any minimum period
for which an option must be held, any performance targets that must
be achieved and any other conditions that must be fulfilled before the
options can be exercised upon the grant of an option to a participant.

The total number of shares of the Company which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 2017 KLHL
Scheme (excluding, for this purpose, options lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the 2017 KLHL Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company) must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the total number of shares of the Company in issue as at the date
of approval of the 2017 KLHL Scheme by the Shareholders and
the Shareholders of KHL (i.e. 308,100,000 shares of the Company,
representing 10.0% of the total issued share capital of the Company as
at the date these consolidated financial statements are authorised for

issue).

The maximum number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2017 KLHL Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company must not exceed 30% of the issued share

capital of the Company from time to time.
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BE-_F-tFREREERAEIR L2
AABMERBREZ RNDITEREIZE
AT &BER : ()ARBRNDRIEBERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

31. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

31. BRE

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted (including both exercised and
outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month period must
not exceed 1% of the share capital of the Company then in issue
unless approved by the Shareholders and shareholders of KHL in
general meetings.

A summary of the movements of the number of share options under
the scheme for the year is as follows:

REE+ Z{E R B mE 28 A TR
ZERE(BRECITRRERITE 2BK
B)ETEMEH#TEETEITZAR
AR AE - TEBEAARERDH
TR Z1% » BRIFEA R R RIEEE
B 2 BRI BER RS L/ RIVER ©

AEESHSITE TRESE RS E
o -

Balance at Granted  Balanceat  Balance at Granted Exercised  Balance at
1 January during 31 December 1 January during during 31 December  Exercise price
Date of grant 2019 the year 2019 2020 the year the year 2020 pershare  Exercisable period
RZB-1& RZB-%f%
RZ-1E t=H RZB-%% 128
-A-A =t-8  -A-A =t-g
2 REREY A3 268 REREL  RERGE 265 BROEE
(Note i)
(i)
Granted to the Directors
RTEZ
3 April 2019 - 26200000 26,200,000 26,200,000 - (26,200,000) - HK$8.39 3 April 2019 to
“E3-NERAZA 839ETL 2 Apr 2029 (Note)
“E-NENAZAZ
“E-NERAZ A
Granted to employees
RTES
3 April 2019 - 12800000 12,800,000 12,800,000 - (12,800,000) - HK$8.39 3 Apri 2019 to
“E-NFRA=A 839ET 2 Apr 2029 (Note)
“Z-NFMAZRZE
ZEZNERAZA )
- 39000000 39,000,000 39,000,000 - (39,000,000) -
Notes: BT

During the year ended 31 December 2019, 39,000,000 options were granted by
the KLHL on 3 April 2019 under the 2017 KLHL scheme of the KLHL, of which
26,200,000 options were granted to directors of KLHL and 12,800,000 were granted
to employees of KLHL. The closing price of the KLHL'’s shares on 2 April 2019 (namely
the date immediately before the aforesaid grant date) is HK$8.49. The estimated fair
value of the aforesaid options was HK$96,609,000, of which HK$64,901,000 was
attributable to the options granted to directors of KLHL while HK$31,708,000 was
attributable to the options granted to employees of KLHL. The fair value of each of
the abovementioned options was identical, namely HK$2.48.

HE-_Z-hE+-A=+—HILFE  &HEE
BRA-_ZE-NENA=ARE_T 25
T B IR M A R #19% H139,000,00017 B A AE - E
#126,200,00017 fE fx X TREETEBIRE S -
12,800,000/ FEBREREES - EREER
BHR—ZE—NENA B HEIEE L
i H B HEIAT— B) B840 T o Lt iRk AE 2
fEEt A E £96,609,000/8 7 © EH R TEEE
[BiRE BB EE(564,901,000/8 7T - BT
SETEERIE B MR ARIEFE(5 31,708,000/ 7T © L
MEMHERENATEER - /2.48%87T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 31. BREs

Notes: (continued)

0] All share options were vested immediately on the date of grant, 3 April
2019.

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2020, all 39,000,000 options in the
Company at an exercise price of HK$8.39 per share were exercised. The
weighted average closing price of the Company’s share granted on the
Stock Exchange on the five trading days immediately before the exercise
date was HK$10.71. The amount of approximately HK$96,609,000 was
reclassified from share-based payments reserve to share premium.

(iii) At 31 December 2019, 39,000,000 (2020: nil) share options were
exercisable.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, options were granted on 3
April 2019. The estimated fair values of the options granted on those
dates are HK$96,609,000. The Group recognised the total expense
of HK$96,609,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019 in relation
to share options granted by the Company.

These fair values were calculated using the Binomial model. The
inputs into the model were as follows:

fsE - ()

0] FrEBRIERRHBSE - NLFHA
= RENEERE -

(ii) BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—HI1LF
& AR A2 #539,000,0008% A 17
FARATEES. 30 TR B AR T T(E -
AR BB A P B R TIE B EART AR
S BERBOBRMOIMEFEKRMES
10.717% 7T ° #996,609,000/8 TTH & 58
REREEEEETSEERDEE -

(i) RZZTE-—NAF+ZA=+—8 "
39,000,00017 (ZZ T4 : &) FARE
AIATHE

HE-_ZT-—NAF+_A=+—HItF
EOBRER-_Z-NENMA=HE
e RZBEREABREZ HTATF
B 596,609,000 - HEZZT— N
F+ZA=Z+—HLFE  A£EH
ARmELNEBRERRAZ B
96,609,000/ 7T °

DTERA R B M - B
AR -

Share price at grant date B A HARRE
Exercise price TEE
Expected volatility TEEAS 8
Expected life TEEAB A
Risk-free rate £ 2 P i R
Expected dividend vield TEHAR B &
Early exercise multiple TRATTTIF B X

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of
the Company’s share price over the previous 10 years. The expected
life used in the model had been adjusted, based on management’s
best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise
restrictions and behavioural considerations.
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2019

—E-NF
Directors Employees
5= 1=
HK$8.39 HK$8.39
8.39/ 7T 8.397 7T
HK$8.39 HK$8.39
8.397 7T 8.397 7T
42.40% 42.40%
10 years 10 years
10%F 10%F
1.67% 1.67%
6.26% 6.26%
2.8x 2.2x
2.8(5 2.21%

FAHRE IR EAABRENBETF
ZESLRIEET HFEREESEME
T BAP 2 EHERFHC ARER
B2 TAEENE  TERAIRTRES
BRRZEMBRAE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

31. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

The Binomial model had been used to estimate the fair value of the
options. The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair
value of the share options were based on the directors’ best estimate.
The value of an option varies with different variables of certain

subjective assumptions.

32. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank borrowings
and lease liabilities, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital, other reserves and retained profits as disclosed in the

consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis.
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. In the opinion of the
Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as

well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

33. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 1 September 2020, the Group disposed of its entire equity interest
in a subsidiary, JIREEE AR AF, a subsidiary holding the
properties held for development in the PRC, to an independent third
party for a cash consideration of RMB199,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$223,870,000). The net assets of the subsidiary at

the date of disposal are as follow:

Consideration received:

31.

32.

33.

EEHEERERBRLAA

B

_Iﬁﬁ‘taﬁﬁ SeHEBREREATE - &
HRERATEZERRBRRIDENE
FZREE - BRIEEERRLTIE
RR 2 BHTRMEL -

EXEREE

REBEEEREERURKREBELES
HERAGEFAEERAAFRESE
o BAKEETEREASELE -
RS BERE AT FEMER -

BIGRE DB BRTIRE - AEEZ
BERGEBERERTEEREERE (D
BREMRESEEY) RARFEFHAA
FEhER(BRE TR - M
NMARBER]) o

ﬁ%i*ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁzﬁ B ERER—

CEEREREARKA 0 RERHE
E'Jﬁzliﬁféﬁz}—tﬁ“ cEBERA - AKHE
BB R BEITHR  BER
)~ BITHEREBEQRBEIE - AT
BREBEANERE

HE—BRE QT

N-ZE-_TFENA—HB  AEBUES
KB A R #199,000,000 7T (1% 7 4
223,870,000 7T) HEHF —HFEH
EAERMENNBARIREEEE X
BRAGINEHRETELIE =T ° &
MBARRLEE A ZEEFHENT

SWRE :

HK$’000
FET

Total cash consideration received

SUIR SR ERR

223,870
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R IR MIEE

33. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued) 33. HE—REMHME AT w

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:

BAEEHENEEREBENDN

01.09.2020

HK$’°000

FHxT

Properties held for development FREME 186,195
Other receivables HAb EUER K 11,828
Shareholder’s loan =& (166,431)
Other payables HALER R (1,795)
Net assets disposed of HEZEEFHE 29,797
Assignment of shareholder’s loan fRREFER 166,431
196,228

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary:

& — IR A Bz W

Cash consideration received BRESRE 223,870

Assets disposed of FriiE&E (196,228)

Gain on disposal U a 27,642
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEELEZHSRAFEH

Cash consideration

2020
—g-%f

HK$°000
FTHET

BHaeRE 223,870
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e I IRARMIEE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@

Categories of financial instruments

34. €@ I H

SWMITAER

@

BEHEERERERAA

THE GROUP
EE

2020

—g-%r
HK$’000
FBT

2019
—ZT—hF
HK$'000
FHBT

Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost REEN AT ENERMEE 13,107,282 9,888,963
Equity instruments at FVTPL BATENABRERTA 865,487 381,534
BAFE AR 2 AR
Equity instruments at FVTOCI HwTHR = 6,918
BAFES AR MEARENE
Debt instruments at FVTOCI IR 759,971 4,350,826
14,732,740 14,628,241
Financial liabilities A==k
Amortised cost BRI
— trade and other payables — 85 REMERRR 1,421,276 1,528,453
— bills payables — B ERE 347,631 272,604
— dividend payable —FERTARE 6,240,000 -
— amounts due to fellow subsidiaries B IEE N EINGIE e 47,582 47,208
— bank borrowings —RITEE 1,153,846 2,945,264
9,210,335 4,788,524

—EoTasy I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

Details of the Group’s financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate
risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
sales and purchases, which exposes the Group to foreign
currency risk. Approximately 9% (2019: 8%) of the Group’s
sales are denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the relevant group entities making the sale, whilst
almost 22% (2019: 11%) of purchases are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant
group entities.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end of
the reporting period are disclosed in respective notes. The
management continuously monitors the foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging foreign currency risk
should the need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation against foreign
currencies of US$, JPY, HK$ and GBP. The following table
details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2019: 5%) increase
and decrease in functional currency of respective group
entities against the relevant foreign currencies, excluding the
exposures on balances denominated in US$ of respective
group entities of which functional currencies are HK$, since
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that such
exposures are not significant as HK$ is pegged to USS$. 5%
(2019: 5%) represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at
the end of reporting period for a 5% (2019: 5%) change in
foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes trade
and other receivables, bills receivables, bank balances, trade
and other payables, bills payables and bank borrowings.
A positive (negative) number below indicates an increase
(a decrease) in post-tax profit for the year where functional
currency of each Group entity strengthen 5% (2019: 5%)
against the relevant currency. For a 5% (2019: 5%) weakening
of functional currency of each Group entity against the
relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the post-tax profit for the year.

EEHEERERBRLAA

4. €RTH )

b)) BBHEREEEERBEXR
(%)
TS ER(E)
B g (AE)
BRIE DT
AEEXEmMHEET - HE - B
TEREERINE B R o &
S ANEES R EBTERE
B SRR INE TR % (—F— R,
F o 5%)NERE - TEIEEE
EEABETHNEEEATEUET
SHEMESHER - mRE TS
EHME ARBIEERAE
BEBLTEX - 5%(ZF—AN
F 1 5%) Ty EIR G Y HNERE R T]
BEHIR 2 AR BB TE - B
EDHTE BIE 14 K B ER A SN 5]
BENEBIEE - SREHEAR
A2 HMNEMERE% (- E—H4F
5%) EBEH BAE - WBED
MEEESREMERER - &
WE - RITEHKEIEE  BH
N HAbRERBR SR - FEN 28 AR
IEE - TEIEREmMBEERNY
BE B BRI INE FHES % (= F
—NEF  5%)8 - NEERTE
SEABIIEN - ESEEEEN
e & SRR INE B ES% (=
Z—F : 5%)FF + AJBEEIAE
EBRBEEZENERSHERNET

25 o

2020

B

HK$’000

FHxT
Uss$ x7T 8,239 590
JPY HE 2,387 363
HK$ BT (7,932) (29,891)
GBP e (112) (650)

In the opinion of the Directors, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of inherent foreign exchange risk as the year
ended exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.

EERA ARFEARITRBRER
[\ - EREURE AT S B B HO SN E L
= WK -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to listed bond securities with fixed coupon interest and fixed-
rate lease liabilities (see Note 18 for details of these listed
bond securities and Note 27 for details of lease liabilities). The
Group manages its interest rate exposures by assessing the
potential impact arising from any interest rate movements
based on interest rate level and outlook.

The Group’s bank balances and variable-rate bank
borrowings have exposure to cash flow interest rate risk due
to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities
are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this
note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly related
to the fluctuation of HIBOR arising from the Group’s bank
borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for bank borrowings and
debt instruments at FVTOCI at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis is prepared assuming the financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period
were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2019:
50 basis points) increase or 50 basis points (2019: 50 basis
points) decrease are used and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates. Bank balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis
as the directors of the Company consider that the exposure
of cash flow interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank
balances is insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2019: 50 basis
points) higher and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s:

° post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2020
would decrease by approximately HK$4,817,000
(2019: HK$12,296,000) as a result of the Group’s
exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate
borrowings; and

° the investment revaluation reserve as at 31 December
2020 would decrease by approximately HK$4,815,000
(2019: HK$42,755,000) mainly as a result of the
changes in the fair value of debt instruments at
FVTOCI with fixed coupon interest.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2019: 50 basis
points) lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s:

° post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2020
would increase by approximately HK$4,817,000
(2019: HK$12,296,000) as result of the Group’s
exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate
borrowings; and

° the investment revaluation reserve as at 31 December
2020 would increase by approximately HK$4,815,000
(2019: HK$42,755,000) mainly as a result of the
changes in the fair value of debt instruments at
FVTOCI with fixed coupon interests.

In the opinion of the Directors, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of inherent interest rate risk as the year
ended exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.

EEHEERERBRLF

34. QEQIE-\ &)

il

(b) HBEBEEAFRRIEX

(%)

mis k()
VEIAC Y
SRE T ()

1l

THEOEEE (—ZE— N

F : 50MEER) - MAAEME

i 1

P REEHE

HRAEEAZEEE
ZHRERRE  HE-Z
—EF+ZR=+—H
IEFEZ2BRBRE R
B > # 4,817,000 7% JT
(ZZE—hF : B2y
12,296,000/ 7T) ©

R—ZZE-_ZEF+_-A
=t+—RZEEEGHE
& #5 8 > %9 4,815,000
BLT(ZE—NF
42,755,000%87C) * £2
EhEMEEEESFZ
BAFEFAEMEZE
WEHMEKIEQATE

#eh
=

BEOEER (=T — R

F : B0fEER) - MATAEME

CREE

AR AEFRTEEE
ZHERR  BHEZZT
—EF+=-RA=+—H
IEFE 2 R8s A3
h1#94,817,0007 7T ( =
T — L& 1 12,296,000
BIT) e

RZFE-_FTF+_A
=+ —BZREEHF
& & 1% hn 49 4,815,000
BT(ZE—hF
42,755,000 7C) * £
EHEMRFTETEHFZ
EAFEFAEMEZE
WHNEFETEATE

EXZR R ARFERRIE TR
BRENER - BEREDHTEE
BHH R @R = L EARE

—Z-THE4R I



192

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk and debt price
risk through its investments in equity instruments at FVTPL
and FVTOCI and debt instruments at FVTOCI. For equity
securities measured at FVTPL quoted in the Stock Exchange,
the management manages this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risks. In addition, the
Group also invested in certain unquoted equity securities for
investees operating in property industry sector for long term
strategic purposes. The Group has appointed a special team
to monitor the price risk and will consider hedging the risk
exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on the
exposure to equity and debt price risk at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had been
10% (2019: 10%) higher/lower, the post-tax profit for the
year ended 31 December 2020 would increase/decrease by
HK$72,268,000 (2019: increase/decrease by HK$31,858,000)
as a result of the changes in fair value of equity instruments at
FVTPL.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, if the prices of the
respective equity instruments had been 10% higher/lower, the
investment revaluation reserve would increase/decrease by
HK$692,000 as a result of the changes in fair value of equity
instruments at FVTOCI.

If the prices of the respective debt instruments had been 10%
(2019: 10%) higher/lower, the investment revaluation reserve
for the year ended 31 December 2020 would increase/
decrease by HK$75,997,000 (2019: increase/decrease by
HK$435,083,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
debt instruments at FVTOCI.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations at
the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of
recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Directors has delegated
the management to be responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other for monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this
regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk on
trade and other receivables with exposure spread over a
number of counterparties and customers. However, the Group
is exposed to the concentration on geographic segment in
PRC. At 31 December 2020, approximately 84% (2019: 87%)
of the Group’s trade and other receivables are arising from
PRC.

Except for credit-impaired trade receivables which are
assessed for impairment individually, the remaining trade
receivables are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to the Group’s internal credit
ratings. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out
below in this note.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Collective assessments

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
applies internal credit rating for its customers. The following
table provides information about the exposure to credit risk
for trade receivables which are assessed based on collective
assessments as at 31 December 2020 within lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired). Credit-impaired debtors with gross carrying
amounts of HK$297,240,000 (2019: HK$304,694,000)
were assessed individually. Credit-impaired debtors are fully
provided for ECL.

For the year ended 31 December 2020:

(b)

34. €@ T H

BERABREEREEREEK
(%)

EERRREETEE)
BRI
AEEHEFERRNBEEF
T ERAEEEERRER
W—ED o TRIZEBRE=Z
—EE+-A=+—HER2Y
BHEEEBET G 2 RE TS
HEE ZEKEREERBER
(\EEERAE) - HRAERES
297,240,000 L( =T — N4 :
304,694,000/ 7T ) My 12 B R (E
BB ANET T ERIFHE - EER
BEREKERBHEESEER
A -

HE—_Z-_ZF+-_HA=+—H
IHFE

Gross trade Range of Trade

Internal credit rating receivables loss rates ECL receivables
BHEW FEH B3

A S B TR IRFAARE EEELGE FEER FE W ERR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000

THET FTHET THET

Low risk K= 2,089,525 1% - 2.5% 41,790 2,047,735
Watch list ERRE 2,080,287 5% - 15% 232,382 1,847,905
Doubtful RER 24,402 30% - 35% 8,338 16,064
4,194,214 282,510 3,911,704

For the year ended 31 December 2019:

HE-F-NFT-A=t—A
I

Gross trade Range of Trade

Internal credit rating receivables loss rates ECL receivables
BEZEW A 25

AEEEFTR BRFAAE ERREE FEEE FEWERFR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHET FHET FTHET

Low risk KR 1,974,138 1% -2.5% 37,092 1,937,046
Watch list BERRE 1,843,696 5% - 15% 230,222 1,613,474
Doubtful FKER 99,730 30% — 35% 31,249 68,481
3,917,564 298,563 3,619,001
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued) 34. €RLT B s
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) HEXEREEBEERKE
policies (continued) (58)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) FEERREBESG(E)
Collective assessments (continued) eI (E)
The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises FEERBEERRT R GE
the following categories: EAT S8
Internal Other financial assets/
credit rating Description Trade receivables other item
AEREE TR g ) G HitemEE HitbER
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default  Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
— not credit-impaired
[ME /= | HFEFERORRE 2 HFEEE R SR 1218 A e B B E1E
—EEERE
Watch list Doubtful debtors frequently repay after Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
due dates but usually settle — not credit-impaired
in full
[BERAE BEENFERHEGALENIBRZE 2HEREEBE 1218 A e B E B EE
BRIE - BEREA2E0EE —EEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
in credit risk since initial recognition — not credit-impaired — not credit-impaired

through information developed internally
or external resources

[ R BANTERSINIERERNERET 2HRBEEER 2HBEMERER
SE R B VAR A REE £ —BEERE —BEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
asset is credit-impaired — credit-impaired — credit-impaired
[ &8 BEBBRNEELRERRE EHEMEEER 2HBEMERER
—EERIE —fEERIE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off Amount is written off

debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic prospect of

recovery
[85 ) BEBBETEBABARENR - BASE &MY S FEEM
iR {0 S EIR ey
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical iRt 518 3 T B FE UK BR X FE
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors FHNELBRMSEOXRMG
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is it WEHEB MBS K ARS
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is 71 BN AT 45 &) A & 1 & BHE H
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant B ZEETHEHNSSE MU
information about specific debtors is updated. TR AR E FEU AR KA AE R &
RS ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GAMBRANE
34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 34. ﬁ@lﬂ(%)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b)) BXEREEEHERBER

policies (continued) (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) FERBREBENG(E)
Collective assessments (continued) eI (E)
The following table sets out the movement in lifetime ECL that TEREFIRIEGCEERSE S
has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified FEYBRR 2 EFE I E BB 2
approach. #E) o

Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)

2HEH 2HEH
FEER FEER

(BIEERME) (EERE) et
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
FET FET FET
As at 1 January 2019 R-Z—hF—A—H 261,754 202,732 464,486
Changes relating to trade RZZT—hF—HA—H
receivables recognised as at Eﬁiﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁ FEUBR R
1 January 2019 BRANE
- Transfer to credit-impaired —Eﬁéih ERE (7,644) 7,644 -
— Net impairment losses reversal —— — Bl (E & 18 %58 (62,948) (21,192) (84,140)
New financial assets originated KEEEANNESREE
during the year 236,278 - 236,278
Transfer to credit-impaired AEEEREEERE
during the year (121,622) 121,622 -
Exchange adjustments bE 5% (7,255) 6,112) (13,367)
As at 31 December 2019 RZZE—NF+=A
=+—H 298,563 304,694 603,257
Changes relating to trade R-ZE-_TF—H—H
receivables recognised as at EEMERE SRR
1 January 2020 BRAREE)
— Transfer to credit-impaired — B EERE (9,472) 9,472 -
— Net impairment losses reversal  — # BRI E G 1EF 58 (252,155) (70,475) (322,630)
New financial assets originated AEEELENHTEREE
during the year 263,799 - 263,799
Transfer to credit-impaired AEEEREZERE
during the year (34,912 34,912 -
Exchange adjustments [ H, =& 16,687 18,637 35,324
As at 31 December 2020 RZZ_ZTF+_A
=+—H 282,510 297,240 579,750
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IRARMIEE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Bills receivables

In determining the ECL for bills receivables, the Directors have
considered the bills received by the Group with a maturity
period of less than one year are assessed on 12m ECL by
reference to the external credit rating of relevant banks,
and concluded that the credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding bills receivables is insignificant as at 31 December
2020 and 2019.

Other receivables

In determining the ECL for other receivables, the Directors
have made periodic collective assessment as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of other receivables, based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and
also forward-looking information, as appropriate. For the
year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group has
considered the consistently low historical default rate of other
receivables in connection with payments, and concluded
the ECL of the Group’s outstanding other receivables is
insignificant.

Debt instruments at FVTOCI/

The Group only invests in debt securities with low credit risk.
The Group’s debt instruments at FVTOCI mainly comprise
listed bonds that are graded “investment grade” as per
globally understood definitions and are considered by
management to be low credit risk investments. During the
year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the expected credit
losses on debt instruments at FVTOCI is insignificant.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries

For amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, in order to minimise
the credit risk, Directors continuously monitor the settlement
status and the level of exposure to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In the opinion of
the Directors, the probability of default is negligible as these
fellow subsidiaries either have the financial capacity to meet
its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term or is
financially supported by the ultimate holding company, and
concluded that the credit risk is insignificant. Accordingly,
the expected credit losses on amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries is insignificant.

Bank balances

The Directors considers the bank balances that are deposited
with the financial institutions with good credit rating to be low
credit risk financial assets. The management of the Group
considers the bank balances are short-term in nature and
the probability of default is negligible on the basis of high-
credit-rating issuers, and accordingly, loss allowance was
considered as insignificant.

Financial guarantee contracts

For financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount that
the Group has guaranteed under the respective contracts was
approximately HK$153,374,000 (2019: HK$127,150,000)
as at 31 December 2020. At the end of the reporting period,
the directors of the Company have performed impairment
assessment, and concluded that there has been no significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial
guarantee contracts. Accordingly, the loss allowance
for financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group is
measured at an amount equal to 12m ECL. The management
of the Group considers the probability of default is low and
accordingly, loss allowance was considered as insignificant.
Details of the financial guarantee contracts are set out in Note
37.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The Directors monitor the utilisation of bank borrowings
and ensures compliance with loan covenants during the year.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant
source of liquidity. At 31 December 2020, the Group has
available unutilised bank borrowing facilities of approximately
HK$7,738,049,000 (2019: HK$3,854,659,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank loans
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of the banks
choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R RMEE
34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 34. ﬁﬁilﬂ(%)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) HEERBREEBEEREXE

policies (continued) ()
Liquidity risk (continued) RBESRER(E)
The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. FRBENERASELRE
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the WA BT AZE - JERIR &R
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at the MEHMARE B 2 FIRdhigE
end of the reporting period. E °
Liquidiity and interest risk tables T E & RFIFE R F

Over Over Over
Weighted 3 months 1 year ATE
average  Ondemand  but but not but not but not Total
effective orlessthan  morethan  morethan  more than Over undiscounted  Carrying

interestrate 3 months 1 year 2years 5years 5Syears  cash flows amount
METH  REXE ZEANLE -ENEE  mEMLE RERRS

ERA=  ORER  TEB-F THRERE THERRF DML REAE Rk

% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAR TAR Thn Thn TAR TR Thn

At 31 December 2020 R-B-BE+-f=1-A
Non-derivative financial liabilities 3£+ 4RE(RE
Trade and other payables AREMERER - 1,421,276 - - - - 141216 1421216
Bills payables EfZE - 347,631 - - - - 347,631 347,631
Dividend payable EfiRs - 6,240,000 - - - - 6240000 6,240,000
Amounts due to felow subsidiares  ERRZNBATHE - 47,582 = = = = 47,582 47,582
Bank borrowings i

- Variable rate -8 1.25 231,491 698,797 236,575 - - 1166863 1,153,846
Lease libltes HERE 437 138 430 212 m 1,198 2,750 2,34

8,208,118 699,227 236,787 112 1198 9226102 9,212,659

Financial quarante contracts BHERAND - 153,374 - - - - 153,374 153,374
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)

Weighted
average
effective

interest rate

»

On demand
or less than

SR
HK§1000
T

Qver

3 months
but but not
more than

-
HKS/000
TR

BEHEERERERAA

34. €@ I H )

(b)

QOver

1year

but not

more than

2 years
-

N

more than

HK$ 000

MEABEEBEREE
(&)

REBESRME(E)

RBE T RFFE R ()

(0
2years
but not Total
undiscounted

cash flows

Qver
5years

Camying
5years amount
i3
HK§'000

ThT

KR

TR

At 31 December 2019 R-B-7E+-R=1-A
Non-derivative financial liabilities 3£+ 4RE(RE
Trade and other payables L ARABERER - 152845 - - - - 15245 1523453
Bills payables EfZE - 212,604 - - - - 272,604 212,604
Amounts due to felow subsidaries ~ EREZNEBLFE - 47203 - - - - 41203 47,203
Bank borrowings i

- Variable rate -8 330 604,062 686,386 995,676 819,399 - 3105513 2,946,004
L ease libilties &8k 437 324 236 5 19 1,139 1723 1,450

2,447,636 686,622 995,681 819,418 1,139 4950496 4789974

Financial quaranteg contracts HRERAD - 10 - - - - 10 127150

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or less than 3 months” time band
in the above maturity analysis. At 31 December 2019, the
aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of these bank
borrowings amounted to HK$32,500,000. Taking into account
the Group’s financial position, the Directors did not believe
that it was probable that the banks would exercise their
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The
Directors believed that such bank borrowings would be fully
repaid after the end of the reporting period in accordance with
the scheduled repayment dates within four years as set out
in the loan agreements. At that time, the aggregate principal
and interest cash outflows would amount to HK$33,676,000.
At 31 December 2020, there are no bank borrowings with a
repayment on demand clause.

R EMEIEAS TR - [HRERE
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R EEMNEROIRITEE -
R—ZT—hE+=-A=+—8"
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
Fair value of the group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following table
gives information about how the fair values of these financial
assets are determined (in particular, the valuation techniques
and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy
into which the fair value measurements are categorised (Levels
1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements is observable.

Financial assets

LREE Rt=A=+—-HB2ZAYHE
2020
b et 343
HK$°000
TER
(i) Listed equity securities classified as equity 865,487
instruments at FVTPL
() PEREATES N BRNERTAZ Fk
(i) Listed bond securities classified as debt 759,971
instruments at FVTOCI
(i) PEREATESAEMEERENELTIA
2 EESES

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of other
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost approximate to their fair values.
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AVE
E2 0]

HERTREIEGABE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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35. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS  35. &K HiAE

2020 2019
—v—qu :%E_jlf'z

HK$000 HK$’000
TR TAT

Capital expenditure contracted for but not 2 5] #)1E KRR A BTG RRVEL

provided in the consolidated financial B2 ERFRS
statements for:
— acquisition of property, plant and —EBEYE - BER&E
equipment 53,359 14,637
Other expenditure contracted for but not B 5T 4B RN4RE B TSIR&KED
provided in the consolidated financial B 2 s -
statements for:
- acquisition and other expenditures —BRASEEMEWER
relating to properties held for HibFx
development 345,868 289,826
399,227 304,463
36. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS . REHEZRH
2020 2019
— 7 —= qE :%E—jlf'i
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FBT
The Group as lessor/licensor: AEBELAHBEABEA
Rental income credited to the consolidated WMERFT AsEE&EBzEEXZHES KA
statement of profit or loss during the year 65,789 65,845
Licence fee income credited to the RERFFAGEEBRRZBEERE
consolidated statement of profit or loss WA
during the year - 60,000
65,789 125,845
The Group’s investment properties are rented to third parties for AEBECREMEDRBREE TR
periods up to 17 years at fixed predetermined amounts. MeMTFE=5  HHSRATEF -
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36. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS

(continued)

Lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

SR B

ne =

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

SHEZH

BREEENEEEENZTINT

2020 2019

—E-BF —E-NEF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FTHET FAT

Within one year —FR 48,542 41,666
In the second year RE—F 42,088 36,766
In the third year RE=F 40,123 35,188
In the fourth year REME 39,541 34,530
In the fifth year RERF 14,205 32,486
After five years hFE 2,400 819
186,899 181,455

37. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES/
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

@)

The Group provided guarantees with maximum exposure
amounting to approximately HK$153,374,000 (2019:
HK$127,150,000) as at 31 December 2020 in respect of
bank mortgage loans granted to purchasers of the Group’s
properties. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values
of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group are
insignificant at initial recognition and the Directors consider
that the possibility of default of the parties involved is remote,
accordingly, no value has been recognised at the inception of
the guarantee contracts and at the end of the reporting period
as at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

Guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured
by the purchasers of the Group’s properties. Such guarantees
will be released by banks upon delivery of the properties
to the purchasers and completion of the registration of the
relevant mortgaged properties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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37. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES/
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continueq)

(b)

On 3 August 2011, Annuity & Re Life Ltd (the “Petitioner”),
the non-controlling shareholder of KBCF, presented a petition
in the Supreme Court of Bermuda (the “Petition”) in respect
of KBCF against its controlling shareholders based on a
complaint that the affairs of KBCF had been and/or were
being conducted in a manner which was oppressive or unfairly
prejudicial to the Petitioner.

The controlling shareholders of KBCF were eventually
successful in defending the case following a favourable
judgment by the Bermuda Court of Appeal dated 24 March
2017. Subsequently, the Petitioner filed an appeal with the
Privy Council. Such appeal was withdrawn by the Petitioner
following a settlement agreement reached by the Petitioner
and the respondents in the Petition.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the controlling
shareholders of KBCF had purchased all of the remaining
issued and outstanding ordinary shares in the capital of KBCF
and KBCF has become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group.

On 1 November 2018, the Petitioner commenced an action in
the Supreme Court of Bermuda under Civil Jurisdiction 2018:
No.359 against the respondents in the Petition based on
purported breach of the settlement agreement (the “Settlement
Action”).

On 22 October 2020, the Group filed in an application for
striking out part of the Petitioner’s claim under the Settlement
Action (the “Strike-Out Application”). The Strike Out
Application is currently listed to be heard on 28 April 2021.

Based on the advice of the Company’s Bermuda Counsel to
date, the board is of the opinion that the Settlement Action
appears to be intrinsically defective and that the Company
should have a more than reasonable chance to succeed.
Accordingly, no provision for liability has been made in
connection with this claim.

(b)
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ma

38.

PR AR M

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme
which was registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme
Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme which was established under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Ordinance in December 2000 (the “MPF Scheme”). The assets
of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group and
are invested in funds under the control of independent trustees.
Employees who were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to the
establishment of the MPF Scheme are members of both the ORSO
Scheme and the MPF Scheme, whereas all new employees joining
the Group on or after December 2000 are required to join the MPF
Scheme. The ORSO Scheme was funded by monthly contributions
from both employees and the Group at 10% of an employee’s
salary. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000 (2019: HK$30,000).

Employees of subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-
sponsored pension schemes operated by the PRC government.
The subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payrolls to the pension schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the pension schemes is to
make the required contributions.

Payments to the ORSO Scheme, the MPF Scheme and the state-
sponsored pension schemes of approximately HK$28,728,000
(2019: HK$25,177,000) had been charged to profit or loss. As
at 31 December 2020, contributions of HK$2,611,000 (2019:
HK$2,746,000) due in respect of the reporting period had not been
paid over to the plans. The amounts were paid subsequently to the
end of the reporting period. There is no forfeited contributions that
may be used to reduce the existing level of contributions under the
Company’s MPF Scheme and state-sponsored pension schemes.
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39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

3. MERHELAZREL
iR

TR AEERETDEL 2 AER
8 SRASMFRSEE -  BRERD
EEZABEERERECH » FORKHR
EREBFNAKENGEARERERD
BRRELBMERSRENAE -

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.
Lease Interest Dividend
liabilities Borrowings payable payable Total
HESE EEN ERFIE ERE @t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TET THET TET
At 1 January 2019 R-B-NEF—A—H 1635 5,842,500 - - 5844135
Financing cash flows mEReNE (587)  (2,897,236) (145,519)  (1,386,450)  (4,429,792)
New leases entered MEHE 365 - - - 365
Interest expense recognised RERABRRIERR
in the consolidated statement MERL
of profit or loss 62 - 131,885 - 131,947
Interest expense capitalised BRI BRY - - 16,280 - 16,280
Dividend declared BEERKE - - - 1,386,450 1,386,450
Exchange adjustments M 5,28 (25) - - - (25)
At 31 December 2019 NZZE-h&E+=A
=+—H 1,450 2,945,264 2,646 - 2,949,360
Financing cash flows BERSRE (606) (1,791,418) (87,457)  (2,156,700)  (4,036,181)
New leases entered HEIHE 1,311 - - - 1,311
Interest expense capitalised BERMEFIERY - - 8,232 - 8,232
Interest expense recognised REREEREERS
in the consolidated statement FERST
of profit or loss 55 - 76,579 - 76,634
Dividend declared BEEIRKE = = - 8,396,700 8,396,700
Exchange adjustments B 5 A% 114 - - - 114
At 31 December 2020 RZZZZF+R
=+—H 2,324 1,153,846 - 6,240,000 7,396,170
ZE-THFF3R I
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS BAEALTRS
7t SR B TS R 4R PO T 2 AR 5
T

40.

The Group entered into the following significant transactions with
related parties during the year:

2020
—s=%F

2019
—E—NF
HK$’'000
FHET

HK$000
TR

() Sales of goods and driling services () MRARMBARHEEERR

provided to fellow subsidiaries TR AL FLARTS 2,703,185 2,223,204
(i) Purchases of goods from fellow (i) MR REMBARREER

subsidiaries 647,199 601,178
(i) Sales of laminates and copper to a (i) MEERLITERATEEKXR

shareholder with significant influence FENNIERIHE

over the ultimate holding company E iR & iR 315,451 495,127
(iv) Purchases of drill bits and machineries  (iv) A& IER AT AEKX

from a shareholder with significant FE N MR

influence over the ultimate holding $ENE K i Es

company 213,809 311,581

RIE EWRRNE14ATE - EZHHEK
RARHFHERER D ©

The transactions above constituted continuing connected transactions
of the Company under chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Compensation of key management personnel FEEEAEME
The remuneration of the Directors and other members of key FRN - EBERAMETEERAEZHS
management during the year is as follows: U

2020 2019

—E-EHF —ZT-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHET FAT

Short-term employee benefits EEEE R 94,072 92,178
Post-employment benefits RIKEEF 903 901
Share-based payments LARE 2 2 AT R = 64,901
94,975 157,980

The remuneration of the Directors and key executives is determined
with reference to the performance of individuals and market trends.
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41.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

M.

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2020

and 2019 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WEAREE

Excel First Investments Limited

EAREARAR

KBCF
REEIE

Hong Kong Copper Foil Limited
FREEARAA

Kingboard (Fogang) Insulated
Material Company Limited

BE(HR) RS HERAR

Kingboard (Fogang) Laminates
Co. Limited
BE(BR)BEERERAR

Kingboard (Fogang) Paper
Laminates Co. Ltd.
BB BEARERAR

Kingboard Electronic Raw Material
(Jiang Yin) Co., Ltd.
REETHROTR)ARAT

Jiangmen Kingboard Laminates
Co., Ltd.
IPRERBRAERAF

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operation

BRREE R

British Virgin Islands*
RERUHS

Bermuda#
BE#

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong
RERABS/Bh

PRC
R

PRC
R

PRC
R

PRC
R

PRC
R

EIELENT

fully paid

share capital/
registered capital
BERTRAR
B/ ERER

US$1
Y

US$72,250,000
72,250,000% 70

US$47,057,290
47,057,290 7T

RMB61,019,000
AE#61,019,0007C

US$29,466,000
29,466,000 7T

US$17,936,546
17,936,546% 7T

US$30,000,000
30,000,000 7T

HK$242,800,000
242,800,000 ¢

BEHEERERERAA

RZEZZEFR_TE—NF+=A
=+—8  ARREEHBAR ZFHE

L
Proportion of
the ownership
interest held
by the Group
AEBFRE
BERERLA
2020 2019
—%-%%F —3-hE
% %
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100

Principal activities

FRER

Investment holding

Investment holding

Investment holding and
trading of copper
REZRKHZES

Manufacture and
distribution of bleached
kraft paper

SUER A HEARER

Manufacture and
distribution of laminates

HELD HERER

Manufacture and
distribution of laminates

HELD HEWER

Manufacture and
distribution of laminates

SUER D HEINAER
Manufacture and

distribution of laminates

HELD HEWER

—EoTasy I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R IR MIEE

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid
registration share capital/
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital

ML ERTRAR
WEARER BoREE B/ EREE

m.$31 FERB AR Z

=310

Proportion of
the ownership
interest held

Kingboard (Jiangsu) Chemical PRC! US$32,000,000
Co., Ltd. R 32,000,000% 7T

BHEOIH)(LIERAF

Kingboard Laminates (Kunshan) PRC US$32,010,000
Co., Ltd R 32,010,000% 7T

BERER(BIL)ERAR

Kingboard (Lianzhou) Fibre Glass PRC US$13,700,000
Co. Limited FE 13,700,000% 7T

BEGEMN)BRLEBRAR

Kingboard (Guangzhou) High New ~ PRC! RMB250,000,000
Material Company Limited RE AR 250,000,000

BEEM BHHER AR

# These are investment holding companies which have no specific principal
place of operations.

1 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of wholly
foreign-owned enterprises. The English names of these companies are for
identification purpose only.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of
the year.

I ANNUAL REPORT 2020

by the Group Principal activities
AEBFARHE
EEEERLA TEER
2020 2019
_ 7 —= $ :E—nﬁ
% %
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of chemicals
BUERDHIYIER
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of laminates
BUER D HEIER
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of glass fabric
BER D HREEER
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of chemicals
BUERDHIYIER
# hEAREERAR  WESTEZEE
R B o

! SRR ARG EAGEDETLA A
HEKIL

ERFAIIREERAIBFEAKEE
BREEZARFMBRR - EERA
FIHEMH B AR ZFHFEBNILE

B A BN AR B R BT I ER
B

fnﬁﬁ UYF
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41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

General information of principal subsidiaries

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other principal
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A majority of these
subsidiaries operate in the PRC. The principal activities of these
subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

Principal place
Principal activities of business

M.

BEHEERERERAA

ARAREENE X AF

15 )

FEMBLAN—KRER
RBERERE - ARARBEHAEE
METEEANEMBEIEMBAR - %
SWMBRARKRBMHNRPREE - ZEH
BRRz EBEBHANT

Number of subsidiaries

MELRBE

2020 2019

—EB-BF —TNF

Manufacture and sale of BUERSHEBIRMEmIR PRC s 28 28
laminates Thailand Z=E 1 1
Macau JEPY 1 2

30 31

Properties LZ/ES Hong Kong BB 2 2
PRC Fh 8 9

United Kingdom & 1 1

11 12

Others EHh Hong Kong HE 37 37
PRC A 6 6

43 43

—EoTasy I
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42.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2020
—

HK$’000
FET

42. AR Rz B8R R
B

Non-current assets SEREBEE
Equity instruments at FVTPL BAFEFAEENERTA 33,216 71,149
Investment in a subsidiary KRB AR ZE 5,711,740 5,711,740
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEURHTE A B F A 320,296 306,742
6,065,252 6,089,631
Current assets MENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU B B A BlkTE 20,220,600 16,102,534
Equity instruments at FVTPL BAFEFABENER TR 113,330 1,614
Other receivables and prepayments HAbfEURBR R X FE 5B 15,664 27,408
Bank balances and cash RITEBRERS 761,596 198,678
21,111,190 16,330,234
Current liabilities mEAE
Other payables HAbFERTBRTR 123,564 85,925
Dividend payable FERTAR B, 6,240,000 -
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTI B A RIFIE 10,202,022 10,867,191
Bank borrowings
— amount due within one year FITERE - —FRIE 2 FIE 923,077 923,077
17,488,663 11,876,193
Net current assets mEVEEFE 3,622,527 4,454,041
Total assets less current liabilities BEREBERRDARE 9,687,779 10,543,672
Non-current liabilities SEmEBAE
Bank borrowings
— amount due after one year RITBE - —FRIZE 230,769 1,653,846
Amounts due to subsidiaries RLIEINGIE e 891,676 954,646
1,122,445 2,608,492
Net assets BEFE 8,565,334 7,935,180
Capital and reserves BAR R HE
Share capital [N 312,000 308,100
Reserves (Note) fik s (3D 8,253,334 7,627,080
Total equity ER4EER 8,565,334 7,935,180

I ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Note:

Share
premium

B

HK$’OOO
FET

42. &

Rt

YN
CEE

BEHEERERERAA

Bt 85 AR O3 D A

S R

Share-
based
payments
reserve

Special Retained
reserve profits

15
HK$'000
FAT

R BIHR
HK$'000

REET]
HK$'000
TET

At 1 January 2019 RZZ—NF—HA—H 1,711,849 = 5,427,130 1,206,118 8,345,097
Profit for the year and total AFEERAKAFERA
comprehensive income for the year Nt - - - 571,824 571,824
Recognition of equity-settled BRAEREE R AR
share-based payments - 96,609 - - 96,609
Final dividend paid for the year BENEE=Z—NF+=A
ended 31 December 2019 =t+—HIEFEZ
KREARR B - - - (1,078,350) (1,078,350)
Interim dividend paid for the year BNEEZZ-ZF+=A
ended 31 December 2020 ST —HIEFEZHBRE
- - - (308,100) (308,100)
- 96,609 - (1,386,450) (1,289,841)
At 31 December 2019 R_Z—NE+=-A=+—H 1,711,849 96,609 5,427,130 391,492 7,627,080
Profit for the year and total REERFEAFERE
comprehensive income for the year LNE: - - - 8,699,644 8,699,644
Issue of new shares from exercise of RIT{E BB M 31T
share options D 419,919 (96,609) - - 323,310
Final dividend paid for the year BREZE=ZT-NF+=A
ended 31 December 2019 =+—HIEFEZRERE
- - - (924,300) (924,300)
Special final dividend paid for the year BRNEZE-ZT—hFE+-A
ended 31 December 2019 =+—ALtFE
ZFRIREIR B - - - (1,232,400) (1,232,400)
Interim dividend payable for the year ENBEE-Z-TF+ -4
ended 31 December 2020 T —HIEFEZHBRE
- - - (312,000) (312,000)
Special interim dividend payable for the  fE#EZE -—ZE=ZF+ -7
year ended 31 December 2020 =t—HIEFEZ
Rl RS - - - (5,928,000) (5,928,000)
419,919 (96,609) - (8,396,700) (8,073,390)
At 31 December 2020 RZZE-ZF+-A=1+—H
2,131,768 - 5,427,130 694,436 8,253,334

Note a: Special reserve of the Company represent the differences between the

net asset value of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the Group’s

reorganisation in 2006.

fffta : ARFRZERIREERKEHBARZ
AEFEER _TTNFETEEEE
K RKEMETZARRARDEERE
PALEE: =

— T TR
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INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES
KEY=EHR

The following table sets out the Group's material properties held for REETEFEREMEIINTE

investment:
Gross floor Group's interest
area (m?) rEEFARER
Location Existing use Tenure HREER 2020 2019
1 26 BGA% R (EAK) —B-BF —TNF
% %
88 to 93 Fenchurch Street, 5 and Commercial Freehold 8,000 100% 100%
7 Carlisle Avenue and Part of [HES KAERE

Saracens Head Yard, London,
EC3M 4ST, United Kingdom

Building 14, Kingboard Yueking Garden, Commercial Medium term lease 13,000 100% 100%
Kunshan Development District, Kunshan, EES R HEATA AR
Jiangsu Province, the PRC*

FEIHERILMAEREBRRE14552

No. 130 Lingang Xinchengpu Road, Commercial Medium term lease 11,000 100% 100%
No. 220 Lingang Xinchengjin Road, [SES HEAT EA
Shops of Jiangyin Kingboard Garden Phase |
at No. 225 Lingang Xincheng Zhujiang Road,
Jiangyin, Jinagsu Province, the PRC*
BT AR TR T e B BT B8 13057 -
ERABFTM & BK220%% » BRI R IRL k22555 -
LRRERTEE — AW

Unit Nos.2301-23083, 26F, 27F, and Car Commercial Medium term lease 1,800 100% 100%
Parking Space No. 9, 10 on 2nd Floor, [EES AR HA
Overseas Trust Bank Building,
No. 160 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong
FBELTITE1605
BIMEEERITRE2301-2303 %
2612 ~ 2712 k2B 91 05R E L
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INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES

The following table sets out the Group's material properties held for REETEFREWEINTER :
development:

Approximate

percentage

of completion

as at the date Year of

of this report expected Gross floor Group's interest

BEZER{E completion area (m? LS SLESEEL b
Location Existing use A= R @it WIS 2020 2019
i R AR BOEAL =TEE (k) —B-BF T OF
Huagiao Kingboard Garden Phase V, Residential 88% 2021 180,000 100% 100%

Guixi Road, Huagiao District, FE T

Kunshan, Jiangsu Province, the PRC*
REIT#E B ILTER R R MBI R

WiEE L
*  Denotes English translation of Chinese addresses in the PRC for identification purposes * REYE BRI R MR AR -
only

—EoTas I
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B ME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 E—Z —ZF+-_A=+—HILtFE

RESULTS ¥E

Year ended 31 December
BE+=-—A=t—HIFE
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
ZENF ZE—tF =2 N\F Z-hF —B-EF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THET THETT THETT THETT THET
(Restated) (RES EIET))
(e &) (s E=t)

Revenue ) 15,576,069 18,337,952 20,645,776 18,383,952 17,301,186
Profit before taxation MR LR A 4,902,670 4,642,579 4,475,835 3,317,220 3,662,665
Income tax expense s i~ (650,762) (870,328)  (1,217,844) (908,490) (854,685)
Profit for the year F Nz F) 4,351,908 3,772,251 3,257,991 2,408,730 2,807,980
Attributable to: AN AL EE
Owners of the Company RARFE A 4,346,561 3,764,540 3,250,381 2,402,247 2,802,885
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR B 5,347 7,711 7,610 6,483 5,095

4,351,908 3,772,251 3,257,991 2,408,730 2,807,980

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE

At 31 December
R+=—A=t+-—8H
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

T—RF ZT—+tF ET—)N\F T-NF ZBEHF
HK$ (010]0) HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT FAT FAT FAT FET
Total assets BEET 25,664,205 28,651,223 28,721,741 25,803,171 26,375,915
Total liabilities B &8s (10,317,073) (10,564,289) (10,878,739) (7,054,092) (11,987,904)
Net assets BESE 15,347,132 17,986,934 17,843,002 18,749,079 14,388,011
Equity attributable to EN/NCIEST SN
owners of the Company FE(GREZS 14,407,373 17,469,959 17,499,572 18,701,422 14,333,065
Non-controlling interests ElRiierFa 939,759 516,975 343,430 47,657 54,946
Total equity BB 15,347,132 17,986,934 17,843,002 18,749,079 14,388,011
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

23/F, Delta House, 3 On Yiu Street, Shek Mun, Shatin, N.T., Hong Kong
EERFASAAMRBH=REERE=T=1

Tel &3 * (852) 2605 6493 Fax {5 : (852) 2691 5245

E-mail EE : enquiry@kingboard.com Web site #8311t : http://www.kblaminates.com
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